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The growth potential of China is unparalleled in the world, as displayed by the rapid
capital inflow. Companies and individuals on the mainland, with their booming
wealth, are keen to seek investment opportunities in Hong Kong and worldwide.

Everbright, as a leading asset manager with good understanding of China and a
global financial platform, helps clients grow their wealth by acting as a link between
China and Hong Kong, tapping the potentials in the capital flow between the two
markets.

Our businesses maintained pleasant growth in 2009:

« Shareholders’ equity totaled HK$21 billion, a historical high
and an increase of 59% from the same period last year.

« After-tax profit reached HK$4.76 billion, an increase of 388%
from the same period last year.

* Number of investment funds under management is now 10.
Total assets under management are around HK$7 billion.
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3 + 2 Macro Asset Management Strategy 3 + 2 XS EETEHKE

Everbright persistently pursues “3+2 Macro Asset Y RIERR RIS [B+2KEEEIE | BiRE -
Management”strategy, focusing on direct investment, asset E)FEREZEKE BEESEMEZER
management and asset investment, whilst developing fee- &7 WKL ERIT(DERE)

based businesses including investment banking (corporate  MELEB(FEEE) S W B EBK K
financing) and brokerage services (wealth management). A RAIER -

Direct Investment

BEERE

Through the private equity funds and venture capital funds managed by us, we provide
investors with opportunities to benefit from the fast growing economy of China by
investing directly in unlisted companies which have their principal businesses and/or
operations in Mainland China.
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Asset Management
3 fas

EEERE

We provide portfolio management services on the secondary market for

institutional and individual clients, such as "China Everbright Dragon Fund"”.
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Asset Investment

EXRE

We explore mid to long term asset investment
opportunities in the Mainland, develop asset
investment funds in the Mainland targeting real
estate, infrastructure, aerospace and resources
businesses.
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Business Structure
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Chma Everbright Group FRE X XK H
China's first licensed financial holding group

- Total assets of more than RMB 1.3 trillion as of the end of 2009
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EVERBRIGHT

Associated Venture
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Everbright China

Securities Everbright Bank

S RAES FR B Y K ERTT Wholly/majority owned

Hong Kong/PRC operations
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About Everbright
B JEARTEAR

China Everbright Limited (“Everbright”, stock code: 165), with China
Everbright Group as its parent company, is a diversified financial
conglomerate operating in both Hong Kong and Mainland China.

Established in 1997, Everbright dedicatedly pursues “34+2 Macro Asset
Management” strategy, focusing on direct investment, asset management
and asset investment, whilst developing fee-based businesses including
investment banking (corporate financing) and brokerage services (wealth
management). Over the past years Everbright has developed solid market
bases in various sectors and provided diversified services for its clients.
The company has set up securities brokerage and wealth management
branches in North Point and Hung Hom in Hong Kong, and subsidiaries
in many provinces and cities of China. Everbright is the second largest
shareholder of the Mainland-based Everbright Securities Co., Ltd. and the
third largest shareholder of China Everbright Bank.

By leveraging the substantial financial strength of the company itself,
and the position and influence of its parent company and affiliated
companies in the financial industry in China, Everbright has weaved huge
social and business networks in Hong Kong and the Mainland. Following
the company's service philosophy, Everbright endeavours to provide
convenient, professional and practical solutions in the spirit of being
“customer-friendly”, “agile” and “pragmatic’, to help clients create wealth
and value with ease.

Service Philosophy
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Acting on the three service philosophies of “customers-friendly
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, “pragmatic”, and “agile”, we provide our clients with convenient,

professional and practical customized solutions, helping them to create wealth and value with ease.
FRBERMAE] - [BEIRIEFIE=ERBES  BABNATFREME X  BERREFFHENRRT R - ERAE
EmEE -




Contents

H &%

2009 Milestone
2009 [E] 8

Performance Highlights
FramE

Chairman’s Statement
TRWmE

Chief Executive Officer's Report
TR RS

Corporate Governance Report
PEERRE

Directors and Senior Management

EENREEEAR

Directors’ Report
EFEWSE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B BRI E

Consolidated Income Statement
meEEaE

Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income
e EkEE

Consolidated Balance Sheets
mEBEERBER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BAEREDE

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
MEBERER

Notes to the Financial Statements

M TS ERR M E

Financial Summary
MBERE

Particulars of Major Properties

TE2MEER

Corporate Information
NEIEF

11

25

41

46

59

61

62

63

65

66

68

159

160

162

Annual Report 2009 ﬂ —ETAFR



China Everbright Limited ! FEXAERERAT

2009 Milestone
2009 [2]EA
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Served as sponsor for the public offer
of Strong Petrochemical and QinFa on
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange
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QINFA GROUP

Established a China-
focused real estate
investment fund and
two venture capital
funds.
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Set up Infrastructure Investment Funds focused on Greater
China with Macquarie
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Named on “Outstanding Investment
Corporation”in “CAPITAL China
Outstanding Enterprise Awards”

for two consecutive years
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Launched on-line futures and

bullion tradi t d MLy S
pullon wading setern o0 w=PHE 145
Golden Sunshine 165" a Hong :

Kong stock trading platform for

Mainland clients
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Awarded "Certificate of Excellence"
in the IR Magazine Hong Kong and
Taiwan Awards 2009
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(Certificate of Excellence)
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Performance Highlights
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

2009 has been an extraordinary year. Governments around the world took
economic stimulus measures that restored confidence, stabilised the market
and prevented the economy from further downturn. In China, the target
GDP growth of 8% was attained. Economic stimulus policies and measures
were adopted by the Central Government in response to the significant
decrease in exports as overseas demand dropped. Driven by the resumption
of economic growth in the Mainland, Hong Kong reported improved
unemployment rates as well as gains in the stock and property markets on
the back of a massive inflow of funds.

Against such a complex economic and financial environment, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) have not only successfully
mitigated the negative impact and maintained stable business growth, but
have in fact ended the year with record-high shareholders’ equity, in a telling
testimony to our strong risk management capability and robust growth
potential. To meet the fast-growing investment needs of Mainland customers,
investment funds with considerably greater variety were set up in adherence
to our “34+2 Macro Asset Management” strategy, and the size of our assets
under management ("AUM") increased significantly. The year under review
also saw the establishment of the Everbright ALAM China Real Estate Fund,
the conclusion of an agreement to jointly set up a China Infrastructure Fund
with Macquarie, and the setting up of several RMB venture capital funds in
association with Wuxi City and Jiangyin City of Jiangsu Province as part of our
initiatives to expand our RMB fund management business. Meanwhile, we
also managed to sustain stable revenue growth for our fee-based businesses
in Hong Kong, such as investment banking and brokerage, despite significant
volatility in the market. The Group maintained a relatively low gearing
ratio and exercised effective control over operating costs in adherence
to a prudent financial policy. Everbright Securities Co., Ltd, an associate
in which the Company holds a 33.33% interest, continued to enjoy rapid
business development during the year with significantly enhanced capital
strengths, as it completed its A-share listing as the first securities house in
China to launch an IPO over the past five years, while firmly positioning itself
among the top ten securities houses in terms of major business indicators.
China Everbright Bank, another associate in which the Company holds a
5.26% interest, reported assets in excess of RMB1,200 billion for the first
time in 2009, as its asset quality continued to improve in line with growing
profitability. The bank’s capital strengths were significantly enhanced with
the issuance of subordinate bonds and new shares, evidenced by a capital
adequacy ratio of above 10%. In connection with its application for A-share
listing, supplementary information and updates were submitted to the

China Securities Regulatory Commission during the year. With the benefit
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China Everbright Limited

Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

of value growth in investment projects and solid performance of associate
companies, the Group reported a 369% growth in profit attributable to
shareholders, which amounted to HK$4.76 billion. Shareholders’ equity
reached a record-high of HK$21 billion, a 59% growth compared to the same
period last year. The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKS$0.20 per share (2008: HKS0.12).

Looking to 2010, we expect a perspective of considerable uncertainty in the
international financial markets, as major economies fall short of significant
growth momentum after initial recovery amid a generally stabilised
international marketplace, while employment figures do not hold much
optimism either. As such, the full recovery of the global economy is set
to come in a “Ww-shaped” evolving process, underpinned by recurrent
volatility and driven by multiple forces. At home, China’s economic growth
remains largely investment-driven. External demand is inadequate, while the
structure of consumption is biased with excessive over-valuation of assets. It
would not be an easy task for the government as it seeks to assure balanced
and healthy economic development and manages expectations for inflation
through macro-economic regulation, while enterprises will also find business

development immensely challenging under such circumstances.

BERBEQNTNRIEFRE  AEB ST NF
EEBRBRREIGERMNEB476/ET  LLZTTN
FAREEF369% : BRERERESE210ET © I
LFERBEFAS9% - BIELHE  EFFEHIKR
BARHREGRABE20ML(ZEZTNF : B2
file) -

RE-ZT—ZTF  HABRKESBILLEEH
BE - BEBEEEENKEBEERIDRZRD 5
KRBT REE - BReRmSHFHEE RN
THEEM « ERE T HALBENEREHFHESR
—EZ 1B - AABI/NEE W EREOR U
il - KERNE  REERIEERENS
SNBIDAT R - HEBEBTAE - EEBR LR
B o I ERLENTE - RESR - TR
BEWRTAE - GBS ZEEEE N T HE
WP EMRFBERSIR T PE -




Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

As China Everbright Group’s sole financial arm in the overseas market, the
Group will work closely with fellow-subsidiaries of China Everbright Group
under the current complex market conditions. We will continue to expand
our investment fund and fund management businesses with enhanced
product designs and risk management under the framework of “3+2 Macro
Asset Management” on the basis of sound economic and industry forecasts.
We intend to leverage our market position and capital strengths to swiftly
expand the size of AUM, aiming to strengthen our market position and
influence in private equity funds, asset investment funds and hedge funds,
while expediting integration between our Investment Banking and Brokerage
Divisions on the one hand and Everbright Securities on the other to assure
growth on all fronts.

Last year, the Group grew steadily and attained creditable results. May |
take this opportunity to express sincere gratitude to shareholders, clients,
members of the public, Board members, the management and employees
for their support and dedication throughout the year.

Tang Shuangning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2010
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Tapping the huge potential of mainland and
Hong Kong financial markets with the

uniquely competitive
“3+2 Macro Asset
Management” Platform
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Chief Executive Officer's Report
TSRS

China Everbright Limited was engaged in swift expansion of its investment
funds and fund management operations in 2009, as it continued to advance
strategic realignments with prudence and pragmatism under the leadership
of the Board, against the backdrop of a rapidly changing financial market. As
the year concludes, we are glad to report that the general business profile
of the Company has come into shape, backed by extremely sound financial
conditions.

Operating Results

The global financial markets underwent dramatic turns in 2009. Steep
declines continued in the first quarter of 2009 in the aftermath of the
financial tsunami triggered by the U.S. sub-prime crisis, before the market
quickly stabilised under an unprecedented joint bailout initiative by
governments. The PRC economy was among the first to bottom out and
resume growth, followed by gradual economic recovery in other parts of the
world. Such developments combined to create a favourable environment
for the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the "Group”), who took
advantage of the market recovery to expedite the development of its “3+2
Macro Asset Management” business. Leveraging our business platform in
Hong Kong and operating network in the Mainland, a number of investment
funds were set up during the year, lining up domestic as well as overseas
investors to tap potential industries and sectors in the Mainland, laying solid
groundwork for a business model that promises a strong, recurrent source
of income. Meanwhile, Everbright Securities Company Limited (“Everbright
Securities”), the Group's associate company, reaped the benefits of a thriving
domestic securities market to report record-high results in its operations, and
completed its IPO with a public listing on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in
August 2009, in connection with which the Company booked a substantial
non-operating income.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group's profit attributable to
shareholders amounted to HK$4,757 million, a leap of 369% compared to
the same period last year, while earnings per share soared 368% to HK$2.99.
Net assets per share also improved significantly to HK$13.2, a 59% growth

compared to the same period last year.
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Chief Executive Officer's Report
TEABR RS

Hong Kong Operations

The Group continued to focus on investment funds in 2009, as it further
refined its “3+2 Macro Asset Management” business structure to establish a
complementary business model comprising investment ventures and fee-
based businesses. As the capital market recovered, the portfolio values of the
Group's investment funds gradually restored, while the Company’s value was
significantly boosted by the successful A-share listing of Everbright Securities.
The Group reported record-high shareholders’ equity as at the end of 2009
complemented by a remarkably low gearing ratio, creating very favourable
conditions for business expansion. No divestment was made during the
period as we held a bullish outlook for the market. While the full-year profit of
the Hong Kong operations has declined, improvements are expected when
fund management income and investment gains start to increase under the
full operation of the “3+2 Macro Asset Management” business structure.

For 2009, the total turnover of the Group's Hong Kong operations amounted
to HK$3.825 billion, representing a decrease of 8% compared with the
same period last year. The profit before tax of our Hong Kong operations
was HKS$319 million, representing a decrease of 55%. Total outgoings
decreased by 12% to HK$330 million, attributable mainly to the reduction in
performance-based staff incentive bonuses. Total cost-to-income ratio was
49.3%, which was 21.2% higher compared with 28.1% for the same period
last year. Developments of our principal operations are reported as follows:

The Direct Investment Division reported HKS11 million of pre-
tax profit for the year, representing a 96% decrease compared with
the same period last year. The apparently negative turn in 2009 was
purely the result of a down marking in valuation of one particular
investment which is actually still above the historical investment
cost and the lack of any divestment as made in 2008. The Division
has established a sophisticated model of operation comprising three
management teams and six investment funds. Seabright China Special
Opportunities (1) Limited (“SOF 1") reported significant value growth in
its investment portfolio in 2009 as it entered the exit stage, although
such investments had yet to be disposed of given the management’s
bullish outlook for further growth. China Special Opportunities Fund, L.P.
("CSOF") and the “parallel investment fund” remained in the investment
stage. After successfully averting the risk of overvalued projects in
2008, the management team grasped opportunities arising from the
government policy of stimulating domestic demands and invested in
four projects in the retail sector at reasonable prices after conducting

research on some 90 potential projects.
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Chief Executive Officer's Report
TSRS

Hong Kong Operations (continued)
. (continued)

The venture capital fund formed between the Group and Beijing
Zhongguancun continued to identify and track hi-tech projects
with good potential, and expedited the IPO processes of invested
projects. In addition, our RMB fund business in Mainland China was
further expanded. We entered into agreements with the municipal
governments and local enterprises of Jiangyin City and Wuxi City in
Jiangsu Province and formed two venture capital funds each with a
capital of RMB500 million, focusing on investments in hi-tech industrial
projects in the Yangtze River Delta region.

The Asset Investment Division reported HKS4 million of pre-tax
profit for the year, representing a turnaround from last year's loss. The
Division focuses on industries that would potentially benefit from
China’s economic growth under the current national development
strategies. It conducts its investments in the form of funds with
standardised structure. During the year, the Group stepped up with
the establishment of investment funds linked to the real estate,
infrastructure and energy sectors in the Mainland. Tranche one
subscription for Everbright ALAM China Real Estate Fund was officially
completed in October 2009, receiving capital commitments in excess
of US$100 million. Investment projects in the Mainland with good
potentials have been identified and investments have been made. In
connection with infrastructure construction, the Group announced the
establishment of the China Infrastructure Fund, a joint venture entered
into with Macquarie in August 2009, with a capital contribution of
US$50 million each from the partners. Offering for subscription had
begun with a target fund size of US$1.5 billion. As we expect the
demand for and investment in infrastructure in the Mainland to remain
robust in the foreseeable future given the nation’s rapid economic
growth, the Group intends to develop the fund into an important
participant of the Mainland'’s infrastructure sector leveraging the
Group's network and ability to identify projects in the Mainland as
well as Macquarie’s management capabilities in infrastructure projects
worldwide. Meanwhile, we have also achieved a major breakthrough in
energy and resources with the establishment of a RMB3 billion energy
fund in a joint venture with several local enterprises in Jiangyin City

of Jiangsu Province in February 2010. The first tranche amounting to
RMB1 billion has been fully subscribed.
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Chief Executive Officer's Report
TEABR RS

China Everbright Limited ! FEXAERERAT

The Asset Management Division which focuses on the
development of investment funds in the secondary market and related
fund management, reported pre-tax profit of HK$52 million for the
year (versus a loss of HK$292 million for the same period last year).
The Dragon Fund, a Greater-China hedging fund managed by the
Division, adopted a relatively conservative approach in 2009, holding
a substantial portion of its investment portfolio in cash and resorting
to a variety of hedging operations. Its performance for the year was
barely satisfactory, with an overall loss rate of 0.1% for 2009 comparing
unfavourably against the 50% growth of the Hang Seng Index over the
same period.

The Brokerage Division which focuses on retail clients as its major
source of business, reported HK$85 million of pre-tax profit for the year,
representing a 14% growth compared with the same period last year.
Trading in the Hong Kong stock market was lacklustre during the first
quarter of 2009 after the outbreak of the financial tsunami. The trading
volume from our clients gradually picked up as market sentiments
subsequently improved, and our brokerage business gained further
ground in revenue derived from interest income relating to IPOs
and margin financing in a low-interest environment. The “EB Golden
Sunshine 165" Hong Kong stock trading platform, tailored for Mainland
investors with web pages and functions similar to those featuring in
mainstream online trading systems in the Mainland, was launched
during the year. Promotional activities have been organised to increase
brand recognition. Coupled with the launch of online trading systems
for futures and bullion during the year, the Group is providing its clients
with a platform that enables a diverse range of online trading activities.

The Investment Banking Division reported a 758% growth of
pre-tax profit to HK$22 million, compared with the same period last
year. The overall business profile of the Investment Banking Division,
primarily focused on Mainland SMEs, was growing into a stage of
maturity. The Division has stocked up projects for several years when
the market sentiments were pessimistic. It sponsored the main-board
listings of Strong Petrochemical and Qinfa Group in Hong Kong in 2009
and took part in the underwriting and placing of 21 corporate exercises,
while also acting as the financial advisor in 13 projects. During the
period, the Group also restructured its institutional sales team and

expedited the development of its sales network for institutional clients.
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Hong Kong Operations (continued)

As the scale and scope of the Group's business continues to expand, a more
sophisticated management model is also required. Over the years, the Group
has formed a governance regime comprising fundamentally the Board of
Directors and its specialised committees and a day-to-day management
regime comprising the Management Committee. The relationship between
the two regimes has been effectively set out in the “Mandates of the Board
and the Management Committee”, which are updated on an annual basis.
The system continued to operate smoothly in 2009. Further clarifications
in certain aspects of the respective functions and scopes of authority of
the Board and the Management Committee have been made, while the
establishment of an Executive Committee under the Board has also enhanced
our operational efficiency. In other areas, the system of risk management
under the leadership of the Chief Risk Officer was operating well, additional
members were appointed to the Management Committee and the sub-
management structure was amended pursuant to the requirements of
our business development. In terms of internal management, the Group
continues to expand its team by recruiting high-calibre people with various
expertise. Employees are encouraged to create economic value and improve
the work rate in the overall interest of the Group, with the understanding
that they are prepared to share the risk and profit of the Group when they
create value for the Group.

As a listed company, the Company regards investor relations and
communication as a priority task. In 2009, the Group participated in major
investors’ conferences organised by leading financial institutions and
engaged in group or one-on-one meetings with over 400 institutional
investors and analysts, as it sought to further develop its investor relations.
Market understanding of the Group’s development strategies and business
progress has been effectively enhanced as the Group received coverage in
some 25 analyst reports issued by well-known financial institutions during
the year. We were also short-listed for the “Excellent Investor Relations
Award” hosted by the IR magazine. All in all, China Everbright has made
significant progress in brand name awareness and recognition in 2009.

Everbright Securities

Driven by ample liquidity amid a stabilised domestic economy, the Mainland
stock markets performed strongly in 2009 with record high trading amounts,
while the launch of the Shenzhen GEM Market also presented domestic
securities firm with additional opportunities. With the resumption of IPOs
in the Mainland, the conditions were ripe for the listing of Everbright
Securities. On 18 August, Everbright Securities was listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange with the issuance of 520 million new shares raising RMB10.7
billion. Following the IPO, the percentage of the Group'’s shareholdings in
Everbright Securities was diluted from 39.31% to 33.33%, and approximately
HK$3.18 billion was recognised as “gain on deemed disposal of interests in an
associated company.”
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Everbright Securities (continued)

Total income of Everbright Securities in 2009 amounted to RMB7.28 billion.
Profit after tax in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards amounted to RMB3.26 billion, an 80% growth over the same
period last year. Commission income from the brokerage business,
proprietary securities trading, issuance and underwriting of shares, asset
management and other income accounted for 63.4%, 15.2%, 3.3%, 8.3%
and 9.8%, of the total income respectively. During the period, Everbright
Securities’ brokerage business ranked 10th in the Mainland with a 2.77%
market share. With the successful launches of “Everbright Sunshine 2 (Phase
2)", "Everbright Sunshine 5" and “Everbright Sunshine 6" collective asset
management products, Everbright Securities is now a leader in collective asset
management products among brokerage houses.

As at 31 December 2009, Everbright Securities had 93 sales offices and 4
securities services offices nationwide.

On 22 March 2010, Everbright Securities’ board of directors has proposed a
final dividend of RMBO0.50 per share for the year ended 31 December 20009. If
the proposed final dividend is approved by its shareholders, the Group will
be entitled to a dividend of approximately RMB570 million.

Everbright Bank

Everbright Bank, in which the Group owns a 526% stake, reported positive
momentum in all of its business segments and ongoing improvements in its
asset quality in 2009. Based on the unaudited accounts prepared under the
PRC accounting standards (same hereinafter), Everbright Bank's total assets
and loan balance as at 31 December 2009 amounted to RMB1,197.7 billion
and RMB649 billion respectively, representing respective growth of 40.6%
and 38.5% compared with the beginning of the year. Pre-tax profit for the
year amounted to RMB10.49 billion, growing by 32.4% over same period last
year. The balance of non-performing loans declined to RMB8.12 billion with
the non-performing loan ratio standing at 1.25%, which was 0.75% lower
compared with the beginning of the year. The credit provisioning coverage
ratio was 194.1%, representing an increase of 43.9% compared with the
beginning of the year.

In August, Everbright Bank issued 5,217.9 million new shares to eight
domestic enterprises, raising RMB11.43 billion to strengthen its capital. The
Group's shareholding in Everbright Bank was diluted from 6.23% to 5.26%.
Moreover, Everbright Bank has submitted an application for A-share listing,
pending approval of relevant Mainland regulatory authorities.

As at 31 December 2009, Everbright Bank had 31 branches and 483 sub-
branches nationwide.
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Financial Position

As at 31 December 2009, the Group's total assets amounted to approximately
HK$24.31 billion, with cash on hand of approximately HK$2.09 billion. Apart
from current liabilities in the ordinary course of business and those related to
investment in derivative financial instruments, the Group's major liability is
bank loans of approximately HK$397 million. Those termed bank loans are for
the Group's investment projects in the Mainland.

The actual borrowing depends on the Group’s business and investment
needs. As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s committed borrowing facilities
amounted to approximately HK$567 million. The Group’s gearing ratio,
calculated as interest-bearing liabilities divided by shareholders’ equity was
1.9% as at 31 December 2009 (2008: nil).

The Group had no material exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations other
than assets and bank loans denominated in Renminbi and United States
Dollar.

Except for those disclosed in the notes to financial statements, the Group
did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 20009.
The Group had given guarantees in respect of banking facilities available to
subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$567 million. As at 31 December
2009, the Company had also provided guarantees in favour of financial
institutions in respect of trading limits of subsidiaries engaged in leverage
forex trading and derivatives trading. The amount of such guaranteed
liabilities varies according to the value of transactions.

Risk Management

Risk management is of fundamental importance to the business operation of
the Group. The major types of risk inherent in the Group's business are credit
risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and investment risk.
The Group's risk management objective is to maximise shareholders’ value
and to reduce volatility in earnings while maintaining risk exposures within
acceptable limits.

The Group's work in the area of risk management is led by the Chief Risk
Officer and the Risk Management Group and execution is carried out by the
Risk Management and Compliance Department. This functional structure
can assess, identify and document the Group's risk profile and to ensure that
the business units focus, control and systematically avoid potential risks in
various areas of business. On 1 January 2009, the Group set up a new position
of Chief Risk Officer to oversee risk management and internal controls of
the Group. The following is a brief description of the Group's approach in
managing these risks.
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Risk Management (continued) [ELfeE IR ()
(a) Creditrisk (a) FERMK

FPEERERERARE

(o}

China Everbright Limited

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to advances to
customers, trade and other receivables, debt investments and unlisted
derivative financial instruments. In general for advances to customers,
the Group requires collateral from customers before advances are
granted. The amount of advance permitted depends on the quality
and value of collateral provided by the customer. Any subsequent
change in value, as well as quality, of collateral is closely monitored in
order to determine whether any corrective action is required.

Trade and other receivables mainly arise from the Group's brokerage
business and investment activities. Receivables from securities
brokerage customers and brokers are normally due two days after
trade date while deposits with brokers are repayable on demand.

The Group has established procedures in the selection of brokers
with sound credit ratings and/or reputation. Investments in debt
instruments and unlisted derivative financial instruments are also
governed by whether the issuers and the trade counterparties
respectively have sound credit ratings.

The Group has well defined policies in place on the setting and
approval of trading, credit and investment position limits in order to
manage its credit risk exposure and concentration. As at the balance
sheet date, the Group does not have a significant concentration of
credit risk other than the provision of advances of RMB600 million (2008:
RMB200 million) to a customer which are secured by residential use
leasehold lands in the Mainland.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account
of any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset, including derivative financial instruments, on the
balance sheet date deducting any impairment allowance. Except
for the corporate guarantees mentioned earlier, the Group does not
provide any other guarantees which would expose the Group to
greater credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect
of the corporate guarantee at the balance sheet date amounted
to HK$567 million (31 December 2008: HK$170 million). Further
quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk
arising from advances to customers are set out in note 21 of the Notes

to Financial Statements.
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Risk Management (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly assess current and expected liquidity
requirements and to ensure that it maintains reserves of cash,
readily realisable marketable securities and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

Interest rate risk

The Group monitors its interest rate exposure regularly to ensure that
the underlying risk is monitored within an acceptable range. Most of
the Group's interest bearing assets and liabilities are on a floating rate
basis with maturity of one year to three years. The Group's interest rate
risk arises from advances to customers, bank balances and bank loans.

Foreign currency risk

The Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk primarily stems from
holdings of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies, leveraged foreign exchange trading and net investment in
foreign subsidiaries and associates. As most of the Group’s monetary
assets and liabilities and net investment in foreign subsidiaries and
associates are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
dollars or Renminbi, the management does not consider there to be
any significant currency risk. The Group has a policy not to maintain a
significant net position on leveraged foreign exchange trading and the
underlying exposure is monitored on a continuing basis.

Overall, the management monitors the Group's foreign currency
exposure closely and would consider hedging significant currency
exposure should the need arise.

Investment risk

The Group's investment mainly comprises two parts: listed securities
and unlisted securities. Substantial investment requires approval
by the Management Committee or the Executive Committee. Each
investment department makes appropriate investment accordingly
to its investment philosophy and established investment operation
and risk management guidelines. Risk Management and Compliance
Department carries out day-to-day monitoring on listed securities.
Even though asset prices experienced significant volatility in 2009,
the Group's investments in listed securities have not been exposed to
significant market risk.
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Employees

The Group places high value on human resources management. We
emphasize on exploration of employee potential and employee training. We
endeavor to build up high quality team to cope with the Group's long-term
business development.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had 223 employees in Hong Kong
and Mainland China. Total staff costs for the year under review amounted
to approximately HK$149 million as noted in the consolidated income
statement. Remuneration for employees is based upon their qualification,
experience, job nature, performance and market condition.

The Group may also pay discretionary year end bonuses to employees based
on individual performance. Other benefits to employees include medical
insurance, retirement schemes and training programs. Directors and qualified
employees of the Company may be granted share options to subscribe for
shares in the Company in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
share option scheme approved by the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 24 May 2002. During the year under review, no share option
is granted to employees (include Directors).

Outlook

While the Chinese economy is on the course of recovery, growth in 2009 has
been driven mainly by government investments and fiscal support, which
means that the fundamentals remain weak. The PRC government is expected
to maintain a loosened monetary policy and a moderate fiscal policy in 2010,
pending stronger signals of economic recovery in Europe and the U.S. It will
continue its drive for economic restructuring, aiming to mitigate the impact
of redundant capacities and price bubbles in certain industries and sectors
while increasing the weight of individual retail spending in economic growth.
Meanwhile, volatility is expected for the capital markets of the Mainland and
Hong Kong as global liquidity flow is going to be affected by the fluctuating
U.S. Dollar.

The Group's stable overall business growth amid enormous volatility of the
global financial market has proved, among other things, the effectiveness
of its "3+2 Macro Asset Management” business model. Abounding
opportunities are coming our way given the enormous potential of the
Chinese market, as more and more domestic institutions and individuals are
increasing their investments in foreign markets.
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Outlook (continued)

While continuing to reinforce its investment funds and fund management
businesses in 2010, the Group will also seek to provide fund management
services of international standards to overseas investors who wish to invest
in unlisted high-growth enterprises in the Mainland, whom we will identify
through our existing clientele as well as the global network of our business
partners. This would help enhancing the efficiency of the investees, while
assuring sound returns for fund investors. Meanwhile, we will move to
facilitate integration between our Mainland operations and Hong Kong
operations. Through cooperation with Everbright Securities, Everbright Bank
and other fellow subsidiaries of China Everbright Group, the Group will look
to strengthen its secondary market fund, investment banking and brokerage
businesses in Hong Kong, striving for larger market shares as it prepares itself
for the increasing outflow of domestic funds into international investments.
The Group is well-positioned for such expansion given its strong risk
management capability and healthy balance sheet.

In 2010, the Group will speed up the formation of teams responsible for
secondary market funds such as hedge funds and SME funds, while focusing
on the growth and maturity of private equity funds, venture funds and asset
investment funds in the primary market, with a view to increasing the overall
size of AUM by bringing in capital from external sources.

The SOF | managed by our Direct Investment Division has generated sound
rewards for its investors. Invested projects are developing well with good
prospects for IPO listing. For fully-grown projects we will seek to exit and lock
in profit at the right timing. Meanwhile, CSOF and its “parallel investment
fund” will continue to leverage the industry expertise to identify sound
investment opportunities and set up a new tranche as and when appropriate.
For the three venture funds established in respective joint ventures with
Beijing Zhongguancun, Wuxi City and Jiangyin City of Jiangsu Province,
which are in the investment stage, the Group will continue to identify
projects with strong potential for growth and drive for their eventual IPOs,
leveraging its excellent local networks and proven experience in investment

management.
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Chief Executive Officer's Report
TEABR RS

Outlook (continued)

For the Asset Investment Division, Everbright ALAM China Real Estate Fund
will make prudent investments in second-tier cities in joint venture with
domestic partners, while pursuing the second tranche of its fund raising
activities. We will strive for early completion of the global offering of the
first tranche subscription of China Infrastructure Fund, our joint venture
with Macquarie, and look to stock up domestic infrastructure projects with
promising stable returns. The first tranche subscription amounts of RMB1
billion received by the new energy fund, set up in joint venture with local
enterprises of Jiangyin City, will be investing in high-growth enterprises in
the energy and natural resources sector in support of the government's
policy to develop low-carbon industries.

As an integral part of our “3+2 Macro Asset Management” business platform,
the secondary-market investment fund of our Asset Management Division
effectively meets the diversified needs of institutional clients, improves the
efficiency of resource allocation and complements the Direct Investment
business and Asset Investment business, which are currently focused
on the investment of non-listed companies. Plans are in the pipeline to
restructure this business segment and step up with the reorganisation of its
management team. We will strive to launch new investment products during
the year and expand the size of AUM and enhance returns.

At the Investment Banking Division, our IPO sponsorship and underwriting
businesses are expected to have better performance in 2010, on the back
of solid strengths fostered over the years. In connection with our Brokerage
business, we will continue to increase our marketing efforts. With enhanced
ability in the provision of comprehensive products and services, will move for
closer cooperation with Everbright Securities, the Brokerage Division and the
Investment Banking Division with a view to accomplishing stronger resources
sharing and management integration.

In addition, the Group together with sister companies of China Everbright
Group will continue to identify suitable targets in the Mainland market for
acquisition. Provided that the price is reasonable, we may try to acquire a
trust company in order to expand our RMB asset management business and
to complement our Hong Kong business. Such synergy is beneficial to all

parties.
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Outlook (continued)

As an important partner of the Group for participation in the domestic
securities market, Everbright Securities’ overall strengths have been
significantly improved following its IPO listing. With the availability of
strong capital resources, Everbright Securities will reinforce its position in
the traditional securities business through the expansion of its network of
business outlets. With proven capabilities in risk management and product
development, it will also strive to be a frontier in innovative businesses
such as collective asset management, stock indices and futures and margin
financing. The successful listing of Everbright Securities has also paved the
way for more substantial and in-depth cooperation with the Group. The
two parties join forces to forge a cross-border brand name with formidable
strengths, and to offer a full range of financial products and services.

With bolstered capital adequacy following the introduction of new strategic
investors, Everbright Bank is well-positioned to drive for growth in traditional
banking businesses, while further extending its leading edge in the area of
asset management. Substantive progress is also anticipated for its plan of
A-share listing. The bank’s stable dividend payout will provide the Group with
a recurrent source of cash profit, while its extensive branch network in the
Mainland will help to facilitate the Group's RMB asset management business.

In 2010, the stability of the gradual growth of the global financial markets
will be struggling with the exit plans of the stimulus packages. The ability
to capture market opportunities with effective risk management will be a
key indicator of the strength of a company. While short-term volatility is
inevitable, it will not fundamentally alter China’s economic development in
the long run. With our integrated business platform with strong competitive
edge, the Group is well-positioned to tap the potential of the cross-border
financial markets by providing efficient, convenient and practical solutions
to institutional as well as individual investors and helping our customers
execute their wealth management plans with ease. These efforts will translate
into greater rewards for our shareholders. We are confident of success.

By order of the Board
Chen Shuang
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 March 2010
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Governance Principles and Structure

The Company always aims to comply with established corporate governance
best practices, and the core value of the Company is to protect the interests
of its shareholders, clients, staff and other stakeholders. It is committed to
strictly abide by the laws and regulations of Hong Kong and observe the
rules and guidelines issued by the relevant regulatory authorities such as the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”). The Company also constantly
reviews its corporate governance practices, with a view to measuring up to
international and local best practices. One of the core values of the Company
is that the highest standard of integrity is essential to business development.

The Board would like to announce that the Company has complied with
all code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“the
Code”") as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2009.

Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate governance framework,
and there is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and the
Management. The Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management. Generally, the Board is:

to approve the Group's long term strategy and monitor the
implementation thereof;

to review and approve the annual business plan and financial budget;
to approve the annual and interim reports;

to review and monitor risk management and internal control;

to ensure good corporate governance and compliance; and

to monitor performance of the Management.
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Board (continued)

The Board authorises the Management to carry out approved strategies.
The Management is responsible for the day-to-day operation of the Group
and is required to report to the Board regularly. The Board has formulated
the Mandate of the Board and the Mandate of the Management Committee
respectively, which set out the circumstances under which the Management
should report to and obtain prior approval from the Board before making
decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Group. The
Board regularly reviews the Mandates, and will update and amend them
when appropriate.

To comply with the Code, the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer are held by Mr. Tang Shuangning and Mr. Chen Shuang separately.
Their roles are distinct and are clearly established and stipulated in the Board
Mandate. In short, the Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board
properly discharges its responsibilities and conforms to good corporate
governance practices and procedures. As the Chairman of the Board, he is
also responsible for making sure that all directors are properly informed of
important issues which the Company is focusing on and that all directors
receive accurate, timely and clear information. He is also responsible for
organising the business of the Board, setting its agenda and ensuring its
effectiveness. The Chairman facilitates the effective contribution of the
directors and the effective communication with the shareholders. Mr. Zang
Qiutao as the Deputy Chairman of the Board assists the Chairman to oversee
and gives guidance to the Management in order to enhance the functions
of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for leading the
Management and implementing the important policies and development
strategies approved by the Board. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible
for the day-to-day operation of the Group and regularly reports to the Board.

Taken into account market practices and international best practices in
corporate governance, the Board has established 5 Board Committees to
carry out its responsibilities. They are the Executive Committee, Audit and
Risk Management Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Strategy Committee. In addition, the Board will, if necessary,
authorise an independent board committee comprising all independent
non-executive directors to review, approve and monitor the connected
transactions (including continuing connected transactions) to comply with

the requirements of relevant laws and regulations.
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Board Mandate

The Mandate of the Board contains the terms of reference of the Board
Committees. The Board Committees make recommendations to the Board
on relevant matters within their terms of reference, or make decisions
under appropriate circumstances within the power delegated by the Board.
Designated secretaries are assigned to all Board Committees to ensure that
they have adequate resources to discharge their responsibilities properly
and effectively. According to their mandates, the Board and the Board
Committees will review and evaluate their respective work processes and
effectiveness on an annual basis. The terms of reference of the Board as well as
the Board Committees are set out in the Board Mandate and can be accessed
via the Company's website.

Currently the Board has 8 members, comprising 4 executive directors,
namely, Mr. Tang Shuangning, Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Chen Shuang and Mr.
Tang Chi Chun, Richard; 1
and 3 independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Ng Ming Wah,
Charles, Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, and Dr. Lin Zhijun. Mr. Richard Tang,
Mr. Charles Ng and Dr. Lin Zhijun are directors with financial management

non-executive director, namely, Mr. Wang Weimin,

expertise. Over one-third of the members of the Board are independent non-
executive directors. The composition of the Board ensures the independence
and objectivity of the Board’s decision-making process as well as the
thoroughness and impartiality of the Board's supervision of the Management.
The Board acts honestly and in good faith. Its decisions are made objectively
and in the best interests of the Company, with a view to maximising long-
term shareholders’ value and fulfilling its corporate responsibility to other
stakeholders of the Company.

All the existing non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company have been appointed for a fixed term,
with formal letters of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions
of their appointment. Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company,
all directors, including the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, shall retire
by rotation at least once every three years at annual general meetings and be
eligible for re-election. All new directors appointed by the Board are subject

to re-election by shareholders at the next general meeting.
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Board Mandate (continued)

Save as disclosed below, there is no relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)) among the Board
members. Mr. Tang Shuangning, Mr. Zang Qiutao and Mr. Chen Shuang are
also directors of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, the controlling
shareholder of the Company. If a substantial shareholder or director has a
potential conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board and
general meeting, the relevant directors shall abstain from voting and a Board
meeting attended by independent non-executive directors who have no
material interest in the matter shall be held to discuss and vote on the same.

The Company has in place an appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance policy to indemnify the directors for liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The coverage and the sum insured under the policy are
reviewed on an annual basis.

To ensure that newly appointed directors have adequate understanding of
the Company’s business and operation, the Board has set up an induction
system for new directors.

A total of 5 Board meetings were held during the year. The meeting schedule
is prepared and approved by the Board at the end of the previous year.
Formal notices are sent to all directors at least 14 days before the meeting. In
general, the Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched to all Board
members for review at least 3 working days before the meetings. The agenda
are approved by the Chairman and commented by other Board members
and the Management. The Board minutes are detailed records of all the
issues considered by the directors and the minutes approved by all the Board
members are properly kept by the Company Secretary. Individual attendance
records of the relevant directors in 2009 are set out in the table at the last

part of this report.
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Board Committees

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee, as delegated by the Board Mandate, assists the
Board to oversee the Company’s major affairs. Members will communicate
from time to time on major issues affecting the Company’s operations,
business and management, including reviewing and approving the Group’s
corporate goals, business plans and major business projects submitted.
Effective from 1 January 2009, Mr. Zang Qiutao replaced Mr. Tang Shuangning
as the Chairman of Executive Committee. The Executive Committee currently
comprises 3 members: the Deputy Chairman of the Board, the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer. The Executive Committee
passed certain important resolutions via written resolutions in 2009.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee mainly assists the Board
in fulfilling its responsibilities relating to the supervision of the financial
statements, internal control, internal audit and external audit of the Group.
The Committee’s written terms of reference were prepared with reference
to "A Guide for Effective Audit Committees” published by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and updated with reference to the
Code, and has been approved and properly authorized by the Board. The
Committee’s terms of reference are available from the Company's website. In
short, the Committee mainly assists the Board in performing its role over the
Group in, amongst others, the following areas:

to assure that the financial reports are accurate and comply with the
appropriate accounting standards and that the reporting procedures
of the Company’s financial reports are carried out;

to assure that the scope and guidance of the internal and external
audits are sufficient;

to consider the qualifications and independence of external auditors;

to assure that appropriate internal control measures are in place and
followed;

to review and deal with the Company’s internal audit functions, the
effectiveness of the Company’s corporate governance structure and
implementation;

to urge the Company to abide by any applicable laws and to comply
with regulations of the relevant regulators and to maintain business
ethics;
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit and Risk Management Committee (continued)
to make suggestions to the Board where necessary, and to carry out
duties within the delegated authority of the Board; and

to meet the auditors, at least annually, in the absence of the
Management, to discuss matters relating to any issues arising from the
audit and any other matters the auditors may wish to raise.

The work performed by the Audit and Risk Management Committee in 2009
included the review and, where applicable, approval of:

the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2008 and the annual results announcement thereof, which were
recommended to the Board for approval;

the Group's interim financial statements for the six months ended 30
June 2009 and the interim results announcement thereof, which were
recommended to the Board for approval;

the audit report and management letter for the year ended 31
December 2008 submitted by the external auditors;

the quarterly risk assessment report submitted by the Chief Risk Officer;

the re-appointment of external auditors, the audit fees payable to
external auditors for the annual audit and interim review; and

the Group's internal audit plan and key areas of focus for the year 2009.

In addition, pursuant to paragraphs C.2 and C.3.3 of the Code, the Audit
and Risk Management Committee conducted an annual review of the
effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group with the assistance
of the Internal Audit Department. The internal control review of the Group
covered all material aspects, including financial, operational and compliance
controls as well as risk management. Upon completion of the review, the
Audit and Risk Management Committee considered that the key areas of the
Group's internal control systems were reasonably implemented and were
able to prevent material misstatements or losses, safeguard the Group's assets,
maintain appropriate accounting records, ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and generally fulfil the internal control requirements of
the Code. For detailed information on this topic, please refer to the Internal
Control section.

s=EgR TNEEg@W

%ﬁ&ﬂlﬁ‘*ﬂia (40
EHEERERSEREN
EREENRE Rk

CRBITEEE

SEEL - REERBTESOEATE
SEBE AR T ARG EE
REHER BRI HE -

*?&ng,\gfié’;%@ —= 7H¢WE}JIKI
TERIEERM ML (ER) -

AEEEEZE-_TT\F+_A=1t—HLt
¢Fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ¥&i§&1¢%%/&% Wi
E=g8

AEBRBE_ZTTAFRA=THIEANE
ﬂﬁ’]ﬂfﬂﬂﬂﬁﬂx#&%fﬂqﬂﬂﬂ%%”i Wi
E?ﬁi%a

AN BB R R E — SR N\F = A
=+ BLFENEH RS RREREY
ERBAL

T3 E i E AR B HR  H AL B 12 AT
A .

I

FREINEDZ MBI R - T T AP
AR FE R BB REMPHHRRL
B K

AEE_TENFRNTELTERTIER

ZEb D ©

AN - RIBCFRDFEC2ERECIGZ AR
i CBRERREEZ BT ERNEBNHY

CHARENAREERREEERETTF
F*ﬁﬂ‘ REE RN EREE E’T/ﬁ‘ﬁ% THET PR
BEEMERNEE  BREME - 2& ek
R EIEIRE - BIBHRERE - %V&J—L e R
ZEEARAEENANNEZERSESIEMEE
FHEA M ETREE - B IEEREHRRER
MELE  REAEEEENLE  FHLBNE
REEMERHEE - BE EEARTA(TADF
HNEEZERGNENR - GRS B AR
R A2 R AR -



ate Governance Report

>
ME
mf ©
a8
%%_

ft

Board Committees (continued)

Audit and Risk Management Committee (continued)

The Audit and Risk Management Committee comprises 3 members, all
including the chairman are independent non-executive directors. The
committee is chaired by Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles who has extensive
experience in the financial and financial services industry. The other 2
members, Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John has wide experience in financial
business and Dr. Lin Zhijun has appropriate professional qualification and
experience in financial matters. A total of 5 Audit and Risk Management
Committee meetings were held during the year with an attendance rate of
100%. Individual attendance records of the relevant members in 2009 are set
out in the table at the last part of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in
nominating the right candidates for directorship and senior management
positions as well as evaluating the competence of the candidates to ensure
that they are in line with the Group's overall development strategies. The
committee assists the Board in fulfilling its supervisory role over the Group in,
amongst others, the following areas:

selection and nomination of directors, Board Committee members and
senior management members;

periodical review of the structure, size and composition (including
skills, experience and knowledge) of directors and Board Committee
members, and to make recommendations to the Board in respect of
any proposed changes;

evaluation of the independency of the independent non-executive
directors; and

making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession

planning for directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Based on the successful experience in the recruitment of directors and
senior management, the Committee will first take into account the existing
skills, knowledge and experience of the Board and Board Committees, and
the business requirements of the Group in order to determine the key
requirements for the new director and objective criteria for selection. Such
criteria will include relevant expertise, integrity, industry experience and
independence.

The Nomination Committee currently has 3 members comprising Mr. Zang
Qiutao, Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John and Dr. Lin Zhijun. The independent non-
executive directors represent over half of the committee members. As the
composition of the Board, Board Committees and senior management
remained unchanged, no Nomination Committee meeting was held in the
year of 2009.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in
overseeing the Group's human resources and remuneration policies. The
committee assists the Board in fulfilling its supervisory role over the Group in,
amongst others, the following areas:

setting of the overall human resources strategies, basic criteria and
objective of the remuneration scheme of the Group;

approving remuneration, bonuses and other benefits in kind of
directors, Board Committee members and senior management;

making recommendations to the Board on the Group's policy and
structure for all remuneration packages of the directors and senior

management;

making recommendations to the Board on the specific remuneration

packages of all executive directors and senior management;
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Board Committees (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
performance-based remuneration of the Group with reference to
corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to
time;

reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
compensation payable to executive directors and senior management
in connection with any loss or termination of their office or
appointment to ensure that such compensation is determined
in accordance with relevant contractual terms and that such
compensation is otherwise fair and not excessive;

approving the aggregate amount of the year-end bonus payable to
the staff of the Group, provided such amount is the same as or below
that approved by the Board, or to make recommendations to the Board
thereon; and

ensuring that no director or any of his associates is involved in deciding
his own remuneration.

The work performed by the committee in 2009 included the review and,
where applicable, approval of:

performance appraisal of the executive directors and senior
management for year 2008;

the proposal on staff bonus (including the senior management) for
year 2008 and salary adjustment for year 2009 for the Group;

the incentive scheme of the Group; and

the policies on performance appraisal of staff (including senior
management), annual bonus and annual salary adjustment.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

To ensure that the directors receive remuneration which is commensurate
with the time and effort they dedicate to the Group, the committee, in
proposing the remuneration of directors, makes reference to companies
of comparable business type or scale, and the nature and quantity of work
at both Board and Board Committees (including frequency of meetings
and nature of agenda items). The proposed remuneration will be put to
shareholders for final approval at general meetings. The Remuneration
Committee also determines the specific remuneration package of executive
directors and senior management, including share options and benefits in
kind. Currently the principal components of the Company’s remuneration
package for executive directors and senior management include basic salary,
discretionary bonus and other benefits in kind. A significant portion of the
executive directors’ or senior management’s discretionary bonus is based on
the Group and the individual performance during the year. The committee
reviews and approves the annual and long-term performance targets for
senior management by reference to corporate goals and objectives approved
by the Board from time to time. The committee also reviews the performance
of the senior management against the targets set on an ongoing basis,
and reviews and approves the specific performance-based remuneration
of the senior management. The committee will seek professional advice in
appropriate circumstances.

The Remuneration Committee currently has 4 members comprising Mr.
Zang Qiutao, Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John and Dr. Lin
Zhijun. The independent non-executive directors represent over two-third
of the committee members. A total of 3 Remuneration Committee meetings
were held during the year with an average attendance rate of 100%.
Individual attendance records of the relevant directors in 2009 are set out in
the table at the last part of this report. The committee’s terms of reference
are available from the Company’s website.

Strategy Committee

The Strategy Committee is responsible for reviewing the mid to long
term strategy and the business architecture of the Group and for making
suggestions to the Board. The Strategy Committee is chaired by Mr. Seto Gin
Chung, John and currently has 6 members: Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, Mr.
Zang Qiutao, Mr. Chen Shuang, Mr. Wang Weimin, Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles
and Dr. Lin Zhijin. One Strategy Committee meeting was held during the year
of 2009. The focus of the agenda was to review the strategic positioning of

the Group.
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Board Evaluation

Each of the Board and Board Committees will conduct a self-assessment
review of their own effectiveness when they deem fit and review and amend
as appropriate their terms of reference and working rules according to the
outcome of these self-assessments upon request.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has devised special rules governing securities dealing of
directors in the “Employee Dealing Manual” which is no less exacting than
the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the said manual
and the Model Code throughout the year of 2009.

External Auditors

Pursuant to the responsibility delegated by the Board, the Audit and Risk
Management Committee reviewed and monitored the effectiveness,
independence and objectivity of KPMG, the Group's external auditors, on
their audit procedures, and the results thereof were satisfactory. Upon
the recommendation of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, the
Board will propose that KPMG be re-appointed as auditors of the Group at
the Company’s 2010 annual general meeting. Subject to authorisation by
the shareholders, the Board will authorise the Audit and Risk Management
Committee to determine the remuneration of KPMG.

For 2009, the total fee charged by KPMG was HKS$5,180,000 including non-
audit service fee of HK$902,000 for the review of interim financial statements
and other services. For 2008, the aggregate fee charged by KPMG for audit
and non-audit services was HK$5,642,000.
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Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to ensure that the Group maintains sound and
effective internal controls to safeguard the Group’s assets. The internal control
system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely eliminate the
risks of system failure; and to assist in achieving the Group's objectives. In addition
to safeguarding the Group's assets, it also ensures the maintenance of proper
accounting records and compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

The Internal Audit Department reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control system in accordance with the annual internal audit plan approved by
the Audit and Risk Management Committee. The scopes of these reviews cover
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls and
the risk management system governing various business units and operation
departments. The risks and controls are identified primarily through reviews of the
statutory books, the minutes and policies and procedure manuals and interviews
with the Management. Based on the results of the risk and control identifications,
the internal audit strategies are formulated and performed by the Group's Internal
Audit Department. The results of the reviews for 2009 were reported to the Audit

and Risk Management Committee and the Board on a quarterly basis.

The Board acknowledges its ultimate responsibilities to ensure there are sound
and effective financial controls and accounting functions, which are vital to the
Group. The Board entrusts the Audit and Risk Management Committee, assisted
by the Group’s Chief Financial Officer and Internal Audit Department, with
the responsibilities of reviewing the adequacy of resources of accounting and
financial reporting functions. The scopes of the review cover the organizational
structures of finance and accounting department, staffing and back-up resources,
their relevant working experience and recognized accounting professional
qualifications, the adequacy of budget for relevant training programmes
attended by all finance and accounting staff. The results of the review were
reported to Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Board at the year
end.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Board consider that the key
areas of the Group's internal control systems are reasonably implemented, are
able to prevent material misstatements or losses, safeguard the Group's assets,
maintain appropriate accounting records and comply with applicable laws and
regulations, and have fulfilled the requirements of the Code regarding internal

control systems in general.
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Internal Control (continued)

In addition, the Group has established and implemented the following internal

control system:

The Management established an organisation structure with different
hierarchy of duties, authorities and responsibilities of personnels;
formulated written policies and procedures to check and balance the
authorities of different departments; reasonably safeguarded the assets and
implemented the internal control measures of the Group; and operated
lawfully, in compliance with laws and regulations and under effective risk
control.

The Management set up and continuously monitored the implementation
of the Group’s strategies, business plans and financial budgets. The
accounting and management systems in place provided the basis for
evaluating the financial and operational performance.

The Group set up various risk management and human resources
management policies. Specific units and personnels were responsible
for identifying, assessing and managing all the major risks. These include
reputation, strategic, legal, compliance, credit, market, operation, liquidity
and interest rate risks.

The Chief Risk Officer and the Risk Management Group (‘RMG") under
the Management Committee are responsible for discharging the core
responsibility of the risk control monitoring function of the Group.
Members of the RMG are heads of departments and the risk management
and compliance department. The RMG is to support and assist the
management in defining and assessing the key risk exposures of the
Group's core business and conducting the co-ordination thereon and to
define, assess and record the risk structure of the Group and make sure
the relevant business units are aware of such issues. The RMG reports to
the Management Committee regularly. The RMG also submits quarterly
risk assessment report of the Group to the Audit and Risk Management

Committee for their review.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee reviews the management
letter submitted by the external auditors in connection with the annual
audit. The Internal Audit Department is responsible for ensuring that
the recommendations are promptly followed, and will also periodically
report the status of the implementation thereof to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and keep the Management informed of the

Same.
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Communication with Shareholders and Shareholders’
Rights

The Board attaches a high degree of importance to continuous
communication with shareholders, especially the direct dialogue with them
at the Company’s annual general meetings. Shareholders are therefore
encouraged to actively participate in such meetings.

The Chairman of the Board, Deputy Chairman of the Board (as the Chairman
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees), the Chairman of the
Audit and Risk Management Committee, the Chief Executive Officer, the
Chief Financial Officer and representatives of KPMG were present at the
Company’s 2009 annual general meeting held on 13 May 2009 at the Island
Shangri-la to respond to questions and comments raised by shareholders.

The Company has also provided further information of the 2009 annual
general meeting in a circular to shareholders. That includes background
information to the proposed resolutions and information on the retirement
and re-election of directors in order to enable all shareholders to understand
their rights at the annual general meeting and to vote with sufficient and
necessary information.

Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of Financial
Statements

The following statement should be read in conjunction with the auditor's
statement of their responsibilities as set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report contained in the 2009 Annual Report of the Company. The statement
is made to set out for the shareholders the respective responsibilities of the
directors and of the auditors in relation to the financial statements.

The directors are required by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance to
prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company. The financial statements should be prepared on a
going concern basis unless it is not appropriate to do so. The directors have
the responsibility to ensure that the Company keeps accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of
the Company and which enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The directors also have general responsibilities for taking such steps as
are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to

prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of Financial
Statements (continued)

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements in its 2009
Annual Report, the Company has adopted appropriate accounting policies
which have been consistently applied with the support of reasonable and
prudent judgements and estimates, and that all accounting standards which
they consider to be applicable have been followed.

Roles of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board believes that the independent non-executive directors play
an important role in corporate governance. They provide the necessary
checks and balances to ensure that the Group operates in a safe and sound
manner and that its interests are protected. The independent non-executive
directors also bring in external experience and make judgment objectively.
They are particularly important in performing a monitoring role. The Board
considers all its independent non-executive directors to be independent in
character and judgment. The Board has received written confirmation from
the independent non-executive directors of their independence pursuant
to the requirement of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

The Board sets out a standard policy to determine the independence
of independent non-executive directors. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for evaluating the independence of the existing independent
non-executive directors as well as the candidates for independent non-
executive directors and making suggestions to the Board accordingly. For
independent non-executive directors who have served more than 9 years,
the Board will review the appointment and his/her independence every
year. Having confirmed his/her independence, the Board will pass a formal
resolution. The relevant independent non-executive director will be subject
to rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company
and the Listing Rules.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the Board on all corporate
governance matters. The directors have access to his services. He has the
relevant professional qualifications as stipulated by the Listing Rules. The
Company’s Articles of Association state that the appointment and removal of

the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board.
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Attendance
The attendance of the directors at board meetings and various committee
meetings is set out below:

BREFHFEEZGREZEENERM T

Audit & Risk

Management
Committee Remuneration Strategy
Board Meeting Committee Committee
Meeting EZKkERE Meeting Meeting
Directors/members BEEg EEZES FHEES BREES
Ex '£8 23 = =f Lk
Tang Shuangning JE# % 4/5 n/a n/a n/a
Zang Qiutao JEFAE 5/5 n/a 3/3 11
Chen Shuang [ 3& 5/5 n/a n/a 1/1
Tang Chi Chun, Richard B3F1{& 5/5 n/a n/a n/a
Wang Weimin F&E 4/5 n/a n/a 1/1
Ng Ming Wah, Charles 2 BHZE 5/5 5/5 3/3 1/1
Seto Gin Chung, John BI{ERH 5/5 5/5 3/3 1/1
Lin Zhijun MEE 5/5 5/5 3/3 1/1
Attendance rate H 5 &: 95% 100% 100% 100%




Directors and Senior Management
EENSEEEAR

Directors

Mr. Tang Shuangning

Chairman

Mr. Tang Shuangning, aged 55, is a member of the 11th National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, the Chairman
of the Board. Mr. Tang is also the Chairman of China Everbright Group
Limited, China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, China Everbright
Bank Company Limited and Everbright Securities Company Limited (Stock
Code: SH 601788). He is also the Director of Sun Life Everbright Insurance
Company Limited and the Chairman of China Everbright International
Limited (Stock Code: HK 257). He serves as the Vice Chairman of the China
Society for Finance and Banking and the Consultant of the China Society for
Investment. Prior to joining China Everbright Group, Mr. Tang was the Vice
Chairman of the China Banking Regulatory Commission, the Director-General
of the Banking Supervision Department |, the Director-General of Currency,
Gold and Silver Bureau and the Director-General of the Credit Management
Division of the People’s Bank of China. He holds a Master’s Degree in
Economics from China North-east University of Finance & Economics. Mr.
Tang has extensive knowledge and experience in banking and finance
management. He joined the Board in July 2007.

Mr. Zang Qiutao

Deputy Chairman

Mr. Zang Qiutao, aged 57, is the Deputy Chairman of the Board, the Chairman
of the Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee as well as a member of Strategy Committee. Mr. Zang is the Vice
Chairman of China Everbright Group Limited and China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited. He is also the Chairman of China Everbright Industry
Group Limited, China Everbright Investment Management Corporation and
the Vice Chairman of China Everbright International Limited (Stock Code: HK
257). Mr. Zang graduated from the Graduate School of the Chinese Academy
of Social Sciences. He was formerly Division Chief of the State Economic

Commission and Deputy Division Director of the State Planning Commission.
He joined the Board in August 2007.

55
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Directors and Senior Management
EENSEEEAR

Directors (continued)

Mr. Chen Shuang

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chen Shuang, aged 42, is a member of the Executive Committee and
Strategy Committee, and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr. Chen
has overall responsibility for the operation of the Group. He is also a director
and the General Manager of the Legal Department of China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited. Mr. Chen holds a Master of Laws Degree
from East China University of Political Science and Law and a Diploma in
Legal Studies from The University of Hong Kong School of Professional
and Continuing Education. He is a qualified lawyer in the PRC and a senior
economist. Prior to joining China Everbright Group, Mr. Chen was the Chief
of the Legal Department of Bank of Communications. He has over 17 years
extensive experience in commercial banking and investment banking. He
joined the Board in August 2004.

Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard

Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard, aged 48, is a member of the Executive
Committee, and the Chief Financial Officer of the Group. He has overall
responsibility for supervising the financial resources planning, allocation
and control of the Group. Mr. Tang is a Certified Public Accountant and is a
graduate of the Accountancy Department, the Hong Kong Polytechnic. He
is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has over 19 years
of experience in audit, investment, accounting and finance. Since 1990, Mr.
Tang had been engaged as department head of the financial and business

operations of various international financial institutions. He joined the Group
in September 2005 and joined the Board in July 2007.
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Directors and Senior Management
EENSEEEAR

Directors (continued)

Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, aged 60, was first appointed to the Board as an
independent non-executive director in November 1993 and has acted as the
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Company
since August 1999. He is also a member of Remuneration Committee and
Strategy Committee. Mr. Ng graduated from Loughborough University in
England in 1972 with a B.Sc. degree in Electronic and Electrical Engineering
and from London Graduate School of Business Studies in England in 1974
with a M.Sc. degree in Business Studies. He is a director of Somerley Limited,
the principal business of which is the provision of corporate financial advisory
services. Mr. Ng has over 30 years of experience in corporate finance and
investment banking. Mr. Ng is also a non-executive director of Goldlion
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: HK 533) and an independent non-executive
director of each of Dalian Ports (PDA) Company Limited (Stock Code: HK
2880) and China Molybdenum Co., Limited (Stock Code: HK 3993). He was an
independent non-executive director of Stone Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: HK 409) from September 2004 to November 2009 and Zhaojin Industry
Company Limited (stock code: HK 1818) from October 2004 to April 2007. In
addition, Mr. Ng is a member of the Board of Governors of Hong Kong Arts
Centre.

Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, aged 61, is an independent non-executive
director and the Chairman of Strategy Committee of the Company. He is
also a member of Audit and Risk Management Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Seto is a director of Pacific
Eagle Asset Management Limited. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Kowloon Development Company Limited (Stock Code: HK
34) and Hop Hing Group Holding Limited (Stock Code: HK 47). He was an
independent director of Everbright Securities Company Limited, a company
incorporated in PRC, from 2005 to 2007. He was the Chief Executive Officer
of HSBC Broking Services (Asia) Limited from 1982 to 2001. He was a non-
executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, (Stock
Code: HK 388) from 2000 to 2003, a council member of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong from 1994 to 2000, and was the first vice chairman of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong from 1997 to 2000. He holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from New York University, USA and has over 32 years
of experience in the securities and futures industry. Mr. Seto joined the Board
in April 2003.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Directors (continued)

Dr. Lin Zhijun

Independent Non-executive Director

Dr. Lin Zhijun, aged 55, is an independent non-executive director of
the Company and member of Audit and Risk Management Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Strategy Committee.
Dr. Lin is a Professor and Head of the Department of Accountancy and Law in
Hong Kong Baptist University. He is also an independent director of Sinotruk
(Hong Kong) Limited (Stock Code: HK 3808), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Lin holds a Master's degree in Science
in Accounting from University of Saskatchewan in Canada and a Doctorate’s
degree in Economics (Accounting) from Xiamen University. Dr. Lin worked
as a Visiting Professor in The University of Hong Kong and Tenured Professor
in the Faculty of Management of Lethbridge University in Canada. Dr. Lin
worked at the Toronto office of an international accounting firm (now known
as "Deloitte”) in 1982-1983 and he had also been a professional consultant
to an international law firm. Dr. Lin is also a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Australian Institute of Certified Management
Accountants. He is a member of various educational accounting associations
including the American Accounting Association, the International Association
for Accounting Education and Research and the Hong Kong Association for
Accounting Education. Dr. Lin is also an author of a series of professional
articles and books. Dr. Lin joined the Board in September 2005.

Mr. Wang Weimin

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Weimin, aged 50, is a non-executive director of the Company and
a member of the Strategy Committee. Mr. Wang is also the Vice President
of Everbright Securities Company Limited (Stock Code: SH 601788). He was
the Vice Section Chief of Stock Trading Section of Chengdu branch of Bank
of Communications, the Manager of Stock Trading Section of Chengdu
branch of Hai Tong Securities, the Manager of Human Resources Section of
Hai Tong Securities and the General Manager of the Stock Trading Section
of the headquarter of Hai Tong Securities. Mr. Wang holds a Master's Degree
in Business Administration for Senior Managers from Shanghai Jiaotong
University. Mr. Wang has extensive knowledge and rich experience in

securities, financial and corporate management. He joined the Board in June
2008.
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Directors and Senior Management
EENSEEEAR

Senior Management

Mr. Tsang Sui Cheong, Frederick

Mr. Tsang Sui Cheong, Frederick, aged 50, is the Chief Risk Officer of the
Group. Mr. Tsang is a Chartered Financial Analyst and has been a director of
The Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts Limited since 2001. In March
2009, Mr. Tsang was appointed as a panel member of the Securities and
Futures Appeals Tribunal by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government for 3 years. He is a holder of Bachelor’s degree in Arts from
Wilfrid Laurier University and Master's degree in Arts from University of
Alberta. Before joining the Group in February 2000, Mr. Tsang had over 16
years of experience in the financial industry.

Mr. Chan Kam Hop

Mr. Chan Kam Hop, aged 60, is an Assistant General Manager of the Group.
He joined the Group in May 2001 and was appointed as the Managing
Director of China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited and China Everbright
Forex & Futures (HK) Limited which are engaged in securities brokerage,
futures brokerage and leveraged foreign exchange trading respectively. Mr.
Chan has over 35 years experience in the financial and brokerage business
and has extensive experience in operation, sales and management. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chan had worked in another reputable local brokerage
firm for over 26 years.

Madam Gan Fang

Ms. Gan Fang, aged 42, is an Assistant General Manager of the Group,
responsible for the investment banking business and venture capital
investments business of the Group. She holds a Master’s degree in
Economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law and a PhD
degree in Economics from Graduate School The Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences. She has over 10 years experience in investment banking and
direct investment. Prior to joining our Group, she worked in two well-known
financial institutions.

Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Ming Kin

Mr. Chan Ming Kin, aged 40, is the Legal Counsel and Company Secretary,
Head of Legal and Company Secretarial Department of the Group. Mr. Chan
holds a Bachelor of Law degree and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws of the
University of Hong Kong. He also holds a Master of Corporate Governance
degree of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. As a qualified solicitor in
Hong Kong, Mr. Chan has more than 14 years experience in private practice
and as an in-house counsel. Mr. Chan is also an Associate of the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries.
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The Directors hereby present the Annual Report together with the audited
financial statements of China Everbright Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2009.

Principal Activities

The Group is principally engaged in investment holding and the provision of
financial services. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note
15 to the financial statements.

Turnover and Contribution to Group Results
The turnover and contribution to operating results of the Group by activity
and geographical location are set out in note 40 to the financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 are set out on
page 61 of this Annual Report.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HKS$0.2 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: HK$0.12).

Major Customers and Suppliers

The Group's turnover represents the aggregate of revenue from the sale
of trading securities, interest income, dividend income, rental income,
brokerage commission and service income. Accordingly, it is not practical
to state the percentage of the sales attributable to the Group's largest
customers and percentage of the purchases attributable to the Group'’s
largest suppliers.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder holding more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital has an interest in the share capital
of any of the five largest suppliers.

Financial Summary
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past

five financial years is set out on page 159 of this Annual Report.
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Fixed Assets

Movements in fixed assets are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Properties
Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at 31 December 2009 are
set out on pages 160 to 161 of this Annual Report.

Subsidiaries and Associates

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and associates as at 31
December 2009 are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the financial statements
respectively.

Share Capital

During the year, the issued share capital of the Company had been increased
from 1,591,011,712 shares to 1,592,264,212 shares. The Company issued
1,252,500 shares on the exercise of share options granted to senior executives
of the Group.

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

Share Premium and Reserves
Movements in share premium and reserves during the year are set out on
pages 65 and 125 of this Annual Report.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2009 as calculated
under Section 798 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance amounted to
approximately HK$791,265,000 (2008: HK$327,239,000).

Borrowings and Interest Capitalised

Bank loans and overdrafts repayable within one year or on demand are
classified as current liabilities in the financial statements. Bank loans
repayable over one year are classified as non-current liabilities. No interest

was capitalised by the Group during the year.
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Continuing Connected Transaction

Set out below is information in relation to a continuing connected
transaction entered into by the Group and required under the Listing Rules
to be disclosed in the Annual Report of the Company:

On 29 December 2008, CEL Management Services Limited (“CELMS”"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, renewed a tenancy agreement
with Lane Bright Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited ("CE Holdings", the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company), in respect of leasing office premises situated
on 36th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
for a term of 2 years from 31 December 2008 to 30 December 2010 at a
monthly rental of HK$450,000, exclusive of rates and management fees and
other charges. The aforesaid tenancy agreement constituted a continuing
connected transaction of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.

In 2009, the total rental expenses incurred by CELMS under the aforesaid
tenancy agreement amounted to approximately HK$5,400,000. (Please also
refer to note 34(a)(i) of the Financial Statements.)

In the opinion of the directors, the transaction was conducted on normal
commercial terms. The independent non-executive directors have conducted
the annual review of the connected transaction and confirmed that such
transaction was entered into on normal commercial terms in the ordinary
course of business of the Group and in accordance with the agreement
governing the transaction. The transaction was entered into on terms no less
favourable than the terms available to independent third parties, and the
aggregate value of such transaction did not exceed the limits set out in Rule
14A.34 of the Listing Rules.

The directors have requested the auditors of the Company to perform certain
agreed audit procedures on the continuing connected transaction and
have received a letter from the auditors as required under Rule 14A.38 of the

Listing Rules.
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Directors
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
Report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Shuangning, Chairman

Mr. Zang Qiutao, Deputy Chairman

Mr. Chen Shuang, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard, Chief Financial Officer

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Wang Weimin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles

Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John

Dr. Lin Zhijun

Articles 120 and 121 of the Company’s Articles of Association provide that
one-third of the directors or the nearest number to but not exceeding one-
third of the directors shall retire from office and be eligible for re-election.
Accordingly, Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard and Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles
being the longest serving directors, shall retire by rotation. They will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Generally, the term of office for each independent non-executive director
is for a period of 3 years, and all are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

Directors” and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
As at 31 December 2009, the interests and short positions of the directors and
chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares of equity
derivatives and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(as defined by Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") as
recorded in the register of directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions required to be maintained under section 352 of the SFO are as
follows:

1a. Long position in shares of the Company: Nil
1b. Long position in shares of China Everbight

International Limited, an associated corporation of the
Company: Nil
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
(continued)

2. Long position in underlying shares of equity 2.

REQABDHEBERS - RETETA

China Everbright Limited ! FEXAERERAT

derivatives of the Company ZRE
Number of
equity Number of

Nature of Dateof derivatives held underlying Total
Name of director interest Grant BERE shares Total Percentage
EEng BEME RnE#M  fTEIAHRA HEROHE By BEAM
Chen Shuang Personal &I A 03.05.05 1,280,000 1,280,000 1,280,000 0.08%
[
Seto Gin Chung, John Personal fEA 05.05.05 320,000 320,000 320,000 0.02%
AR
Tang Chi Chun, Richard Personal fELA 27.09.05 400,000 400,000
Brig Personal fE.A 10.04.06 319,000 319,000 719,000 0.05%

All the above shares and underlying shares of equity derivatives were
beneficially owned by the directors concerned. The percentage shown
was calculated based on the number of issued shares of the Company as
at 31 December 2009.

Details of the share options held by the directors and chief executives
of the Company are shown in the following section under the heading
“Information on Share Options”.

As at 31 December 2009, save as disclosed herein, none of the directors
and chief executives of the Company were interested in short positions
in the shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of
the Company or any associated corporation defined under the SFO as
recorded in the register of directors’ and chief executives’ interests and

short positions.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short %$)§2$z@cﬁﬁﬁl/\§ﬁ—rﬁ2h@ .

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures  #8E8% 701

(continued)
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3. Long position in underlying shares of equity 3. REBMEATRHEHBRG - BREXITE
derivatives of associated corporations TAZRR
As at 31 December 2009, the following director had personal interests RZZEZNF+ZA=1T—H UTES
in options to subscribe for shares in China Everbright International EAEE R REARA R BB AT RE K
Limited (“CEIL"), an associated corporation of the Company. The shares RERER QR ([HRAREE ) 2 R
of CEIL are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. HR R E BRI L o
Number of
underlying
Exercise shares of CEIL
price (ordinary shares)
Nature of (HKS) KRB 2 Total
Name of director interest TEE Date of Grant Exercise period HERHE B Percentage
BEns BnME (BL) R A e (BER) BEH
Zang Qiutao Personal 0.85 03.08.06 03.08.07-25.05.13 2,000,000 0.055%
IS [EPN 0.85 03.08.06 03.08.08-25.05.13 2,000,000 0.055%
Information on Share Options DA EE R

Information in relation to share options of the Company disclosed in  1B4% FHiRBIFFIREABRRENER T

accordance with the Listing Rules was as follows:

1. Outstanding share options as at 1 January 2009: 1. R=BBENF-—A—BERTHEN
IR

Date of Exercise price

Number Grant (HKS)

of options R Vesting period Exercise period T8

BIREHE BB BREH TEH (B7T)

Chen Shuang 1,280,000 03.05.05 04.05.05-03.11.07 04.05.06-03.05.10 2.850

BRI

Seto Gin Chung, John 320,000 05.05.05 06.05.05-05.11.07 06.05.06-05.05.10 3.000
AlfERR

Tang Chi Chun, Richard 400,000 27.09.05 28.09.05-27.03.08 28.09.06-27.09.10 3.100

BF& 319,000 10.04.06 11.04.06-10.10.08 11.04.07-10.04.11 4.800

Total employees 132,500 03.05.05 04.05.05-03.11.07 04.05.06-03.05.10 2.850

EEMER 160,000 04.07.05 05.07.05-04.01.08 05.07.06-04.07.10 3135

1,522,500 10.04.06 11.04.06-10.10.08 11.04.07-10.04.11 4.800
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Information on Share Options (continued)

RIREE R )

2. Outstanding share options as at 31 December 2009: 2. R-FEFEAF+ZA=Z+—HBEX
ITREMNRIRE
Date of Exercise price
Number Grant (HKS)
of options R E Vesting period Exercise period TEE
RIREHE BB BHH 1TEH (B7)
Chen Shuang 1,280,000 03.05.05 04.05.05-03.11.07 04.05.06-03.05.10 2.850
S
Seto Gin Chung, John 320,000 05.05.05 06.05.05-05.11.07 06.05.06-05.05.10 3000
AlfERRA
Tang Chi Chun, Richard 400,000 27.09.05 28.09.05-27.03.08 28.09.06-27.09.10 3.100
e 319,000 10.04.06 11.04.06-10.10.08 11.04.07-10.04.11 4.800
Total employees 562,500 10.04.06 11.04.06-10.10.08 11.04.07-10.04.11 4.800
EEMAE
3. No share options were granted during the yearended 3. HZ=-ZEEhF+=ZA=+-—H1
31 December 2009. FEVEFHIAKRE -
4. Number of share options exercised during theyear 4. BEZE-EZTHAF+=-H=+—HL
ended 31 December 2009: FERITENIZREHE :
WA Closing
Exercise price**
price (HKS)
(HKS) T
Date of Grant No. of Shares TEE W g+
BB R E (Br) (#7T)
Total employees EEREE 03.05.05 132,500 2850 9.867
04.07.05 160,000 3.135 17.520
10.04.06 960,000 4.800 15.168

= AREBRMEZEABREETEARZA
HINRE I U AE o

** The weighted average ("WA”") closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised.

BE-_ZERAFt+-A=1+—-HL
FERILETHARE -

5. Noshare options were cancelled during the year ended 5.
31 December 2009.




Directors’ Report

EFEETWE

Information on Share Options (continued)
6. No share options lapsed during the year ended 31
December 2009.

7. Valuation of share options
The fair value of share options granted is measured using a Binomial
Option Pricing Model based on the volatility of the Company’s share
price immediately preceding the date of grant, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the share options were granted.

The Group amortises the fair value of share options granted to
employees as an expense in the income statement in accordance with
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payments”. Details of the underlying accounting
policy are set out in note 2(q)(ii) to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2009, none of the directors,
the chief executives or their respective associates had any interest in the
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations or in any
arrangements to which the Company is a party to purchase shares of the
Company or any other corporate body.

Information on Share Option Scheme

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 24 May 2002,
an ordinary resolution was passed to adopt a Share Option Scheme (“the
Scheme”).

A summary of the Scheme disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules is as
follows:

1. Purpose of the Scheme:
To provide an incentive or reward to eligible persons for their
contribution and continuing efforts in promoting the interests of the
Group.

2. Participants of the Scheme:
Any employee(s) including any director(s) of the Company or any
subsidiary or associated company.

3. Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme and percentage of issued share capital as at 31
December 2009:

99,836,421 (6.27%)

RIIEE R (#)
6. BE-TZAF+-A=+—-HIL
FERIE KRB RE

%&Eﬁﬁ
IR N EEEFRA —B(ZIBHEE
E*%EE%T;‘E » WA R BN BRI Al
ZREREIERER - TRE R N4 TR
P 53K o

N
I

RBCEABMBmEERA)DE 2R RRMDE
1] AEBEERREN AT EERIEZ
RNEHEER AT - *Hﬁﬂﬁ'} TR RE
BB HIE R B 75 7R 2R M 52 2(0)i

B EXFTHEEIN  RZEENF+_A=+—
H BEWES FETHRABNKESE 2B
EABBARRSH AL AR 2B HFER
A E AR QA SR AMEABERD 2%
e

R R S A R
AATR-TE-FRA - HWABRTZRES
BIA® L3 BB R AR R — R B
(Tszst1)) -

RELMRABKENEREZEINHERIT:

1. ZEFEMBER:
BASEEHRER R EAAEEN @S
DA & EMATIRESB SR -

2. ZRrEINZEE
AR BB E QB SHEE AR 2
MEENMKEZES -

3. EEEIRUFRITARABERHE
R-ZZEZERFE+ZA=+—HBHHKE
BIOIBRANESL -

99,836,421 (6.27%)
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Information on Share Option Scheme (continued)

4.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Scheme:

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued) in respect
of which options may be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company (whether exercised, cancelled
or outstanding) to any participants in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of issued shares from time to time
unless such grant has been duly approved by ordinary resolution of the
shareholders in general meeting.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option:
The exercise period of options ranges from 1 to 4 years.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

The vesting periods ranges from 1 to 2.5 years from the date of the
granting.

(a) The amount payable on application or acceptance
of the option:
HK$1.00
(b) The period within which payments or calls must or
may be made:
Within 30 days after the date of offer

(c) The period within which loans for such purposes
must be repaid:
N/A

The basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price is determined by the directors which shall be at least
the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares; (i) the closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant; and (iii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant.

The remaining life of the Scheme:
The Scheme will expire on 24 May 2012.

RAEET S E o)

4.

7.

ZitBlh s HEETERER L
PR :

WA 8 R AR B E (R 5T 2
MRMES 1218 A EARS A 2 B & % H R
B (ERHDITE  EHIERTEE)
IR D RRENIREA S LA T ER
BRIAME  TRAEEBRZBENSESH
B(BEDBEITRETRIRNEE )BT
AR X BB B B TR D 48R 2 1% o

ARERREREROVHAR
REEITEHRE —FEMFLE -

RRETEZAZERENRES
R

RIRIEZ B AT B B —FE
AT o

(a) FESESIRARERASZ2
b
FBEE1.007T

(b) AARIBH KR :
B A EIR30KA

() EERFIREERNHR
AN

THEENETEE .

REEZITEESHESESE T T2
BEAETI =R r&aE  (RHEE : ()
PEEREEE B - RO KRBTSR ®
BRRZHE  RiNBEERERRES
BRAERSH  BRORBRATEHRE
REITRZ FHRHE -

st El E ERE A R
RN T —FRA-_THBKL -
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

No contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding company,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, existed at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director offering for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not terminable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation other than the normal statutory compensation.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2009 the following persons had an interest or short
position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which must be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or who were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the group:

EFERERGHNZER
RELARAFERN - ARR - LBRAT - B
BAT - SARHEA TS AR AE
FREEEENMEE ARSI EEAN -

EEZRBEHN

PR BTz RIBFAR L REErE
% R RAD AR AE @B AT IER
AE—FRTHAL - HREHETHEINEAS
(HEMITHE 82 RISAH -

EERBRO AT ZEF

B EXATREESN - EAFEEARBER - AR
- AEANBAT - R A AR R ZH
BARGET AR EEFTABERLD
AR AT A B 2 PR o (5 T M

TERR

RZZEZNF+-_A=1t—R8 "  TIALEERR
Al R AR RRR 0 o R B AR B RE 75 R HR & R 1D
EXVEPE2MFEID BAEARNRA] R IAR
B RS A M AR E A ER T EAE
B{EMEMKE AR ZBRRAS EREZ EARR
PIRRANEI{ES % A EHERR ¢

Long Position RBpZRE
% of total
No. of shares issued shares
Name of shareholder beneficially held e 1T
RRER EXEEROEE RAEBDEE
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited (Note) 867,119,207 54.46%
RE Y KEEABR AR (ME)
Datten Investments Limited (Note) (Fff3) 867,119,207 54.46%
Honorich Holdings Limited 867,119,207 54.46%
Note:  Honorich Holdings Limited (“Honorich”) is wholly-owned by Datten Investments B5E © Honorich Holdings Limited ([ Honorich J) J3 i Datten

Limited (“Datten”) which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited (“Holdings"). Accordingly, Datten and Holdings are
deemed to have the same interests in the shares of the Company as Honorich.

Investments Limited ([ Datten |) 2 & # A& * M
Datten JHEIX REBAR AR AER]) 2
2EMBAR - FittDatten X KEBRA QT
& A #5048 A ElHonorich A8 [/ 2 # % ©
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Substantial Shareholders (continued)

Save as disclosed above as at 31 December 2009, the directors are not aware
of any other persons who had an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any other member of the group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Securities

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the
Company's securities during the year.

Corporate Governance

The Company believes that upholding good corporate governance measures
is important to ensure effective internal control and to protect the long
term interest of the shareholders, customers, staff and the Company. The
Company complies strictly with the applicable laws and regulations and
codes and guidelines of the regulatory authorities, and strives to follow the
best international and local corporate governance practice and to develop
and improve the corporate governance practices of the Company.

For further details, please refer to the section “Corporate Governance Report”
of this report.

Auditors

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG who retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

During the year, the Audit and Risk Management Committee comprised
Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, and Dr. Lin Zhijun.
The Committee is chaired by Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles. All members of the
Committee are independent non-executive directors.

FERE )

B EXFTRBEN  R_EBAEF=A=+—
B BELTARGEAEBATREATRS
RABRBRR Y b B B AR 8 B TR H 85 (56451 25 X VB
FIREIDBAGADAZEARAR - HEE
SR A AR - AT AR TEAEE
AR E AT REAS RS2 LAFERIRA
EES% A RS o

BE  HEIBELARRZES

ADFARERL WEEAS 2 IR0 - ARFRH
FEATIE 2 R R E o AR A 2 4T
% -

TEER

RRABRIE - REFRFEEE RS - HRERA
RAEVEREABEESE - RERR - &P - BTN
RARBHREMNGERAEER - [l - AAFH
BB T ERRAR AR LEE BN S IRRTE
Migs|  WEBRESBEMEREREEEE AR
EEPIN BB BN TE AR EREGH
i o

FERLHARREDEEARE 1#D

%6

MEHBREAEFTHETMEHAEL - EHE
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Audit and Risk Management Committee (continued)

The Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Management have
reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2009. The terms of reference of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee and a summary of the duties discharged in
2009 have been set out in the section “Corporate Governance Report” of this
Report.

Retirement schemes

The Company provides retirement benefits to all local eligible employees
under an approved defined contribution provident fund (“the ORSO
Scheme”). The ORSO Scheme is administered by trustees, the majority of
which are independent, with its assets held separately from those of the
Company. The ORSO Scheme is funded by contributions from employees and
employers at 5% each based on the monthly salaries of employees. Forfeited
contributions may be used to reduce the existing level of contribution by the
Company.

Since 1 December 2000, the Group also operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously
covered by the ORSO Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a monthly relevant income cap of HK$20,000.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China are
members of the retirement schemes operated by the local authorities. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
to these schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to these schemes is the required contributions under the schemes.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to the
consolidated income statement during the year ended 31 December 2009

amounted to approximately HKS$1.66 million.

EZNEREELZEE ()
BEEkEREELZESCHERE —RRERSE
EATERA 2 SR RIER - WaTwmERT - AP
EmLEMSHRRET  AREEHNAEBR QM2
HE_STAF+_A=1t—HIEEILEZ
BiSHRE - BRMNAREEEES TIFHE M
Hﬁ_wwhilﬁm LB SR ARREEE
SRR 125

RINETE

AARERAAEAM S BEREERTER A TR
Aot (TBFRGT ENRPIFT &) - BRERK
AHEIRDIET B BEFEA (KB ABLETRAE
® ﬁﬁéﬁ$ﬁﬂ2ﬁé“ﬁﬁﬁ BE&IE
FHAGRE SRR BIRPIFT B - D5 RE
B A#H 5% o /xﬂﬁfﬁ*”—l)ﬂ{’ﬁ}fﬁfﬁ$ EBEA
EIEZ K -

B-ETEF+ - A —Hit - AEENREES
ARHIM ARG A E B ERKIEER
RERBIEEB RN ENEDIFEIA 2 EE IR
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REARANBEMNBARZEREHZ2EE
ZEWNBRARAREIHEZ
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Competing interest

Insofar as the directors are aware, Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, an independent
non-executive director of the Company, is a director of Somerley Limited, a
specialist financial services company principally engaged in advising listed
companies in Hong Kong on mergers and acquisitions, equity capital raising
and regulatory compliance matters, which may be considered to compete
or likely to compete with some of the investment banking businesses of
the Group. However, the directors consider that the likelihood of a conflict
of interest occurring is minimal since most of the Group's relevant business
decisions are handled at the subsidiary level. If and when an occasion arises
which may lead to actual or potential competition, it is intended that Mr.
Ng will make a full declaration of his interests (if any) and abstain from the
discussion and decision making process(es) relating thereto.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of
this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.

By order of the Board
Tang Shuangning

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2010

IR

BREEMMA  ARPELIFRTEZTRAES
ERSFENERARES  ZARRERB L
MHRRREHRE RS ENFEERRSE - BRWER
Bt - ROOBE © BEARBEARE - ZEFRBA
R SEARENE TIRERTESBKIE
BEBKET - @BENL - EFMRREREAE
B AR HEEBHC AN B AR EHKERE
P AR B TE M 2SBS0 B0 A RENEAR N - B
EHMRBEREURELAERIEENNEE
" RAEEKENMERRMOAEME (B
& E AR F AR R SORFBIE o

RANRRFHIE
RBEAARAFREZ AR ARBFAAESR
R AERTIREE - ADREE EHIRA
FIRE 2 ARFHRE -

EEEEm
Y=
ESi

&8 —2—ZF=-A=+HhH




Independent Auditor’s Report
AR A GlIEE e

cnac

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF CHINA EVERBRIGHT LIMITED

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Everbright
Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 61 to 158, which comprise
the consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December 2009,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

B 2B RS
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December
2009 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2010
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Consolidated Income Statement

Z,i_, |:| \/
N /:EE

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #HZE —

TENF+ZRA=+—HIFE

2009 2008
—EENF —ETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
FfaE BT T BT T
Turnover ] 4 3,825,422 4,143,448
Operating income S 4 584,694 343,354
Other net income H A 4 85,801 997,571
Staff costs BTER 5 (148,682) (210,745)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses e REHER 14 (12,222) (10,376)
Impairment loss on available-for sale securities B EE R ARERK (21,186) (260,091)
Other operating expenses Hh 482 2 (152,593) (149,413)
Profit from operations 4 B | 6 335,812 710,300
Finance costs MISER 7 (17,200) (6,921)
Gain on deemed disposal of interest FEELHEHE AR
in associates HEmEF 16(b) 3,175,642 -
Share of profits less losses of associates FE(EH & A m BRI e 16(b) 1,349,289 480,185
Share of profits less losses of FEAE FE R B AT
jointly controlled entities REE 17(0) (915) =
Profit before taxation BR 75 Al & A 4,842,628 1,183,564
Income tax Ia 9 (84,043) (208,967)
Profit after taxation MrAi1& 2 F 4,758,585 974,597
Attributable to: BN
Equity shareholders of the Company ZIN/NE] ) S 4,757,641 1,014,832
Minority interests DEIRAS ERRERS 944 (40,235)
Profit for the year IREE R 4,758,585 974,597
Earnings per share BRET 13
~ Basic — &R HK$2.9893% 7T HK$0.63978 7T
- Diluted —#E HK$2.9843% 7T HK$0.63778 7T

The notes on pages 68 to 158 form part of these financial statements. Details
of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to
the profit for the year are set out in note 11.

TSR FE68E 158 A Z MItE BRI ISR E A — =0

72 o MFARFIRR 2 MRS
BN

B RIER I
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=R

For the year ended 31 December 2009 HZE —ZENFE+-_A=+—HILFE

2009 2008
—EBNF T N\F
Note HK$’000 HKS'000
FtEE BT T BT
Profit for the year KEEZER 4,758,585 974,597
Other comprehensive income fortheyear  ANEEHMEE IR 12
(after tax and reclassification (BB EDEARR) !
adjustments):
Net movement in investment revaluation HBHEHERS 2B &M
reserve of available-for-sale securities A ) 3,655,911 (4,327,895)
Share of investment revaluation reserve and FrGE & A RIR &
exchanges reserve of associates Sk R E R 56,569 (62,352)
Exchange rate adjustments fE R 433 24,271
3,712,913 (4,365,976)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEZHEINREATE 8,471,498 (3,391,379)
Attributable to: BB
Equity shareholders of the Company PiN/NE |32 8,250,188 (2,897,586)
Minority interests DR RS 221,310 (493,793)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEZHEINREATE 8,471,498 (3,391,379)
The notes on pages 68 to 158 form part of these financial statements. HIE P FE 68 B2 M st AR 7 s 1) — &P



Consolidated Balance Sheets

FeBEERER

As at 31 December 2009 K7§§ﬂ¢+fﬂ =+—H

Group Company
5B AN
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EThE “TTNF —ETHhE —TEN\F
t=A=t-A tZA=+-8 +=A=+-8 +=A=1+-H
Note HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE BETT BT BT BT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Fixed assets ETEE 14 420,738 277541 293 700
Investments in subsidiaries Mﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ 15(a) - - 2,700,412 1,388,684
Amounts due from subsidiaries Al NG 15(b) - 2,604,357 3,015,220
Investments in associates NS § 16(a) 8,737,541 4888791 1,784,192 1784,192
Investments in jointly controlled entities HEEHE ﬁﬁ 17(a) 84,266 - 78 -
Available-for-sale securities BHEES 18 8,938,617 4,082,180 5,450,600 2687314
Financial assets designated at fair value BE ABBERARE
through profit or loss ATEENSREE 19 344,530 196,503 - =
Advances to customers ZEEXR 21 771,596 226,880 - =
Intangible assets B EAE 20 1,250 6,191 - -
19,298,538 9,678,086 12,539,932 8,876,110
Current assets RBEE
Advances to customers ZEEXR 21 969,494 434,048 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries eI B A m 15(b) - - 949,742 841,750
Amounts due from associates NG 16(d) 749,770 = 749,770 =
Amounts due from jointly controlled entities  FEURFE R %']EI%:?K 17(d) 1,197 -
Debtors, deposits and prepayments R « e RIBAR b)) 708,325 428,87 6,780 1,004,940
Trading securities RH5EH 23 487,415 96,784 - =
Cash and cash equivalents BeKREEEY 24 2,094,510 4418671 205 164
5,010,711 5,377,790 1,706,497 1,846,854
Current liabilities TEBRE
Creditors, deposits received and EIER - BEkizE R
accrued charges BiRER 25 (829,796) (275,061) (1,938) (1.918)
Trading securities R 5B 23 (29,057) (421,052) - =
Amounts due to subsidiaries ERB AR 15(0) - = (2,295,071) (2,045901)
Amounts due to associates NG 16(d) (438) (438) (438) (438)
Amount due to ultimate holding company ER AR TZW\ (63) (63) - =
Provision for taxation TIEEE 27(a) (536,999) (533,117) - =
(1,396,353) (1,229.731) (2,297,447) (2,048,257)
Net current assets/(liabilities) FRBEE/ (BF) 3,614,358 4148059 (590,950) (201,403)
Total assets less current liabilities BREERRBER 22,912,896 13,826,145 11,948,982 8,674,707
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China Everbright Limited ! FEXAEBRERAR

Consolidated Balance Sheets

MeBERBR

As at 31 December 2009 A-—ZZTNF+-F=+—H

Group Company
b VAN
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EThE “TTN\F “EThE —TENF
+=A=t-B +=A=t-HB +=B=+t—-B t-A=1+—H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE BETT BT BT BT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank loans FITER 4) (397,145) - - -
Notes payable S 26 (114,115) (75,959) - -
Deferred tax liabilities EXEHBEE 27(b) (542,460) (250,298) (62,735) (21256)
(1,053,720) (326,257) (62,735) (21,256)
NET ASSETS FEE 21,859,176 13,499,888 11,886,247 8,653,451
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRAREE
Share capital A 28 1,592,264 1,591,012 1,592,264 1,591,012
Reserves =4 29 19,392,913 11,608,081 10,293,983 7,062,439
Total equity attributable to shareholders B A1 FR RS
of the Company 20,985,177 13,199,093 11,886,247 8653451
Minority interests DB RES 873,999 300,795 - -
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 21,859,176 13,499,888 11,886,247 8653451

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March

2010 and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Tang Shuangning
Ee=
Director

EF

The notes on pages 68 to 158 form part of these financial statements.

RIE—ZEF=A_ThHEAKESSIERKE

TS AL TEFREREE

Chen Shuang
PR 3%

Director

EZ
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
A RETEE

For the year ended 31 December 2009 HZE —ZENFE+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to the shareholders of the Company
EEREATRR

Option  Investment Capital

premium  revaluation redemption Minority
Share Share reserve reserve reserve  Goodwill Capital  Exchange  Retained interests Total
capital  premium aRE RE EA  reserve  reserve  reserve  eamnings Total HE equity

By BEER ERERE EfEE  RORRE  HERR  ERGR  ERBR  RERY fit  BREm  Eaer
Note  HKS000  HKSO0D  HKSOO  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSOO  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO0D
W A¥Tr  RETr  EETr  EFTr A%t A%t RMTn BETh BT BBt A% T A¥n

Asat 1 January 2008 R-EE\F—f-H 1584704 5692367 14451 5,796,646 2984 (924,395) 109,714 287880 3794621 16358972 1138612 17497584
Share options forfeited AR E T - - (50) - - - - - 50 - - -
Sharesissued under mE Tz RME

share option scheme 6,308 25863 (9516) - - - - - - 22,655 - 22,655
Netinvestment by minority ~ JEHEFRE

shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (34404)  (344024)
Equity settled share-based ~ DARRA% 12

transactions FAz5 1,160 - - - - - - 1,160 - 1,160
Dividends paid Bfifke Il - = - - - - - - (286108)  (286,108) - (286,108
Total comprehensiveincome V& 2%

forthe year - - - (4210,687) - - - 298269 1014832 (2897586  (493793)  (3391379)

Asat31 December2008and =55 /\F
1January 2009 tZA=t-ARk
“ETENE-F-H 1591012 5718230 6,045 1585959 2984 (924,395) 109,714 586,149 4523395 13,199,093 300795 13499888

Shares issued under MBIz

share option scheme 1252 6,239 (2,008) - - - - - - 5483 - 5483
Netinvestmentbyminority ~ DEREFRE

shareholders - - - - - - - - - - 351,894 351,894
Dividends paid EfffRE Il - - - - - - - - (46958T)  (469587) - (469597)
Total comprehensiveincome 2V 2%

forthe year - - - 3474300 - - - 18246 4757641 8,250,188 310 8471498

Asat 31 December 2009 R-SENE

t-A=t-H 1592264 5724469 4037 5,060,260 2,984 (924,395) 109,714 604395 8811449 20,985,177 873999 21,859,176
The notes on pages 68 to 158 form part of these financial statements. HEHN L8 E 158 H 2 It R A B EH — 50
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China Everbright Limited ! FREDRE KH

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

,\\/\ EE\/ //|L, %

For the year ended 31 December 2009 HZE —ZENFE+-_A=+—HILFE

2009 2008
—EENF —ETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B = BT T BT T
NET CASH (OUTFLOW)/INFLOW FROM REFPEEZRS
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R, RN FRE 39 (1,784,815) 1,541,645
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REE
Purchase of fixed assets HEETEEE (62,823) (14,913)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets HERBTEEEMSRIEA 23 7,304
Decrease/ (increase) in deposits pledged BRI 2 7
A (HEm) 513,144 (191,945)
Purchase of available-for-sale securities EERMIHERS (746,731) (577,760)
Purchase of financial assets designated BEETEABABRN
at fair value through profit or loss REAFEBENSREE (177,268) -
Investment in associates SN AR E (17,021) =
Investment in jointly controlled entities HEEGIEEIRE (85,181) -
Net cash paid on acquisition of subsidiaries E%)\W%’A AR S5 - 613)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries I E B A RS 5IR - 25
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale A 8 & 55 5 PTS RE
securities 104,952 1,879,303
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERTEARIBIEZRIA
designated at fair value through REEATFEENEREE
profit or loss Ff8 508 - 208,449
Bank interest received BUERITHE 9,022 50,490
Dividends from investments in securities BRBEHFIRERE 204,336 38,169
NET CASH (OUTFLOW)/INFLOW FROM REFHELEZRE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (R, RN FHE (257,547) 1,398,509
NET CASH (OUTFLOW)/INFLOW BEFORE MEAMRESCRE) RAFHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (2,042,362) 2,940,154
The notes on pages 68 to 158 form part of these financial statements. HIEHN L8 E 158 H 2 st B B S #)— 30



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

,\\/\ IE\/ //|L, %

For the year ended 31 December 2009 HZE —ZENFE+-_A=+—HILFE

2009 2008
—EENF —ETT)N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mo5E BT T ST I
FINANCING ACTIVITIES LB EED
Issue of ordinary shares BT EEARER D 5,483 22,655
Issue of shares in subsidiaries to BB AR 2R T
minority shareholders DERER 302,509 76,761
Redemption of shares by minority >S5 5 BB [B1 A% ()
shareholders (92) (328,225)
Proceeds from bank loans BASRITER 397,145 =
Dividends paid to minority shareholders /)E%HXEJ_""Q SRR - (133,012)
Loans from minority shareholders DEFTREK - 62,909
Dividends paid BERRE (469,587) (286,108)
Issue of notes BITRE - 49,999
NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM MELTHEEZ2ES
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RN (Rl FE 235,458 (535,021)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH iﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ#ﬂlz
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W), IR EE (1,806,904) 2,405,133
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERRLEEY
Beginning of year FHEERR 3,846,756 1,446,953
Exchange rate adjustments [ 3R #K (4,113) (5,330)
End of year FRERR 2,035,739 3,846,756
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH RERRLEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EBREE D AT
Bank balances and cash — general accounts IRITAEBRNRIRE ——RERP 2,094,510 4418671
Deposits pledged R{EEIR 275k (58,771) (571,915)
End of year FERERR 24 2,035,739 3,846,756
Cash flow from operating activities include: KEEBMES CBERERE
Interest received on advances to customers AR FEWEE A E
and others FEAM 128,619 86,965

The notes on pages 68 to 158 form part of these financial statements.

S8R Z HRE R AR 3R & H— &8
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China Everbright Limited ! FEXAEBRERAR

Notes to the Financial Statements

A 75 R R B =

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

China Everbright Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in Hong
Kong with its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The directors of the Company consider China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong,
to be the ultimate holding company of the Company and Honorich
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
to be the immediate holding company of the Company. Neither of
them provide financial statements for public use.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Company, through its subsidiaries and associates, is principally
engaged in investment activities and the provision of financial services.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(HKFRSs), which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 3
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.
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RERYRIRE S BIRE Z 75 -

FTESHER
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS MRt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2009 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group's interest in
associates.

The measurement basis used in preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below:

- investment properties (note 2(h));

= financial instruments classified as trading, financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss or available—
for-sale securities (note 2(f)); and

- derivative financial instruments (note 2(q)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 41(a).

2.
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China Everbright Limited ! FEXAEBRERAR

Notes to the Financial Statements

A 75 R R B =

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Subsidiaries and minority interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account. An investment
in a subsidiary is consolidated from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising from
intragroup transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealized gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.

Minority interests represent the portion of the net assets of
subsidiaries attributable to interests that are not owned by
the Group, whether directly or indirectly through subsidiaries.
Minority interests are presented in the consolidated balance
sheet within equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Minority interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
minority interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minority’s
interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the excess, and any further
losses applicable to the minority, are charged against the Group's
interest except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation to, and is able to, make additional investment to cover
the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the
Group's interest is allocated all such profit until the minority’s
share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has been
recovered.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(m)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

2.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS MRt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Associates and jointly controlled entities

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates under a
contractual arrangement between the Group or the Company
and other parties, where the contractual arrangement establishes
that the Group or the Company and one or more of the other
parties share joint control over economic activity of the entity.

An investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale. Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost and
adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the Group's
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment (notes 2(e) and 2 (m)). The Group's share of
the post acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, whereas the Group's share of post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income
is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate or the jointly controlled entity, the Group's interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group's interest in the investee is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the
jointly controlled entity.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint controlled
entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.
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China Everbright Limited ! FEXAEBRERAR

Notes to the Financial Statements

A 75 R R B =

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Associates and jointly controlled entities (continued)

(e)

In the Company's balance sheet, investments in associates and
jointly controlled entities are stated at cost less impairment losses
(see note 2(m)), unless it is classified as held for sale or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination or an investment in an associate or a jointly
controlled entity over the Group’s interest in the net fair value
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each
cash-generating units, or groups of cash generating units, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination
and is tested annually for impairment (see note 2(m)). In respect
of associates or jointly controlled entities, the carrying amount
of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the interest
in the associate or jointly controlled entity and the investment
as a whole is tested for impairment whenever there is objective
evidence of impairment (note 2 (m)).

Any excess of the Group'’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of a business combination or an investment in an
associate or a jointly controlled entity is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

On disposal of a cash generating unit, an associate or a jointly
controlled entity during the year, any attributable amount of
purchased goodwill is included in the calculation of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill on acquisitions that occurred prior to 1 January 2001
was eliminated against goodwill reserves. Such goodwill is
released from goodwill reserves to retained earnings when all
or part of the business to which the goodwill is related to is
disposed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS MRt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group's and the Company'’s policies for investments in debt
and equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities, are as follows:

Trading debt and equity securities are acquired or incurred
principally for the purpose of trading, or are part of a portfolio of
identified debt and equity securities that are managed together
and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking.

Investments in debt and equity securities are designated at fair
value through profit or loss upon initial recognition when these
financial instruments are managed, evaluated and reported
internally on a fair value basis, or the designation eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would
otherwise arise.

Debt and equity securities under this category are carried at fair
value and are not generally allowed to be reclassified into or out
of this category while held or issued. Changes in the fair value are
included in the income statement in the period in which they
arise. Upon disposal or repurchase, the difference between the
net sale proceeds or the net payment and the carrying value is
included in the income statement.

Other investments in debt and equity securities are classified
as available-for-sale securities and are initially recognised at
fair value plus attributable transaction costs. At each balance
sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain
or loss being recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the investment revaluation
reserve, except for impairment losses (see note 2(m)) and, in the
case of monetary items such as debt securities, foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised directly in profit or loss.
Where these investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or
loss. When these investments are derecognised or impaired, the
cumulative gain or loss previously is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
and/or the Company commits to purchase/sell the investments
or they expire.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A 75 R R B =

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(continued)

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at
initial recognition is the transaction price, i.e. the fair value of
the consideration given or received, unless the fair value of that
instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without
modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observable markets.
When transaction price provides the best evidence of fair
value at initial recognition, the financial instrument is initially
measured at the transaction price and any difference between
this price and the value initially obtained from a valuation model
is subsequently recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate
basis over the life of the instrument but not later than when the
valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or the
transaction is closed out.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair
value. At each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, except where the derivatives qualify
for cash flow hedge accounting or hedge the net investmentin a
foreign operation, in which case recognition of any resultant gain
or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 2(l)) to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land
held for a currently undetermined future use.

Investment properties are stated in the balance sheet at fair
value. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or
from the retirement or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in note 2(t)(iii).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating
lease to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the
interest is classified and accounted for as an investment property
on a property-by-property basis. Any such property interest
which has been classified as an investment property is accounted
for as if it were held under a finance lease (see note 2(l)), and
the same accounting policies are applied to that interest as are
applied to other investment properties leased under finance
leases. Lease payments are accounted for as described in note 2(1).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS MRt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

1)

Other property and equipment

The following items of property and equipment are stated in
the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(m)):

- interest in leasehold land held for own use;

- buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold
land, where the fair value could be measured separately
from the fair value of the leasehold land at the inception of
the lease (see note 2(1)); and

- other items of equipment comprising leasehold
improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment, and
motor vehicles.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of
items of property and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

- Interest in leasehold land held for own use is depreciated
over the unexpired term of lease

= Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over
the shorter of unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of

purchase
- Leasehold improvements 5 years
- Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A 75 R R B =

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets - trading rights
Trading rights are stated at cost upon initial recognition and they

(k)

)

are deemed to have indefinite lives and are not amortised but

are tested for impairment annually.

Leased assets

(i)

(if)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as being held under finance
leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as
operating leases, except for property held under operating
leases that would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property is classified as investment property on
a property-by-property basis and, if classified as investment
property, is accounted for as if held under a finance lease
(see note 2(h)).

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is classified as an
investment property.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS MRt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Impairment of assets

0]

Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and
other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other
current and non-current receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-for-
sale securities are reviewed at each balance sheet date
to determine whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. If any such evidence exists, any impairment
loss is determined and recognised as follows:

For unquoted equity securities and current
receivables that are carried at cost, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset where the effect of discounting is material.
Impairment losses for current receivables are
reversed if in a subsequent period the amount of the
impairment loss decreases. Impairment losses for
equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate
(i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of these assets).

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an
impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying
amount exceeding that which would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A 75 R R B =

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and
other receivables (continued)

- For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative
loss that had been recognised in the investment
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. The
amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised
in profit or loss is the difference between the
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment
and amortisation) and current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that asset previously recognised
in profit or loss.

- Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in
respect of available-for-sale equity securities are
not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent
increase in the fair value of such assets is recognised
directly in the investment revaluation reserve.

- Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale
debt securities are reversed if the subsequent
increase in fair value can be objectively related to
an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised. Reversals of impairment losses in such
circumstances are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS MRt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Impairment of assets (continued)

(if)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired or, except in the case
of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may have decreased:

Property and equipment;

- Pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as being
held under an operating lease;

- Intangible assets;

- Investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities (except for those classified as
held for sale or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale); and

Goodwiill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible assets
that are not yet available for use and intangible assets
that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any indication
of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the assets. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Impairment of assets (continued)

(n)

(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)
= Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable.

- Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

Accounts receivable and other receivables

Accounts receivable and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost less
impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts (see note 2(m)),
except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to
related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables
are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful
debts (see note 2(m)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS R R MRt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Accounts payable and other payables

Accounts payable and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amount of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in an option premium reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using the binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options,
the total estimated fair value of the share options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Employee benefits (continued)

(r)

(i) Share-based payments (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior year is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the
year of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the option premium reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of share options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the option premium reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
option premium reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is transferred to the share premium account) or
the option expires (when it is released directly to retained
profits).

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when,
the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movement in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS R R MRt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purpose and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets
also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss
or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A H5 R R B =

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

= in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

- the same taxable entity; or

= different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Dividend and interest income received by the Company or the
Group may be subject to withholding tax imposed in the country
of origin. Dividend and interest income is recorded gross of such
taxes and the corresponding withholding tax is recognised as tax
expense.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS MRt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(t)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, and it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in
profit or loss as follows:

(i) Brokerage commission and service income
Brokerage commission and service income is recognised
on a trade date basis when the relevant transactions are
executed and related services are provided.

(i) Sale of trading securities
Gains or losses on sale of trading securities are recognised
on a trade date basis when the relevant transactions are
executed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. FESHBE®W
(t) Revenue recognition (continued) (t) WARRE)

China Everbright Limited ! FEXAREBRERAR

(i) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

(iv)  Dividend income
Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.
Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

(v)  Interestincome
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance
sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss, except those arising from foreign currency borrowings
used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS MRt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

(v)

(w)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance
sheet items, including goodwill arising on consolidation
January 2005,
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign

of foreign operations acquired on or after 1

exchange rates at the balance sheet date. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.
Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign operation acquired
before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate

that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are
capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale.

Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

() the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the
Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(i) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in
which the Group is a venturer;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A H5 R R B =

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Related parties (continued)

(x)

(y)

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Group's parent, or a close family member
of such an individual, or is an entity under the control, joint
control or significant influence of such individuals; or

(v)  the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i)
or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals.

Close family members of an individual are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by that
individual in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Segregated accounts
Segregated accounts maintained by the subsidiaries of the
Company to hold clients’ monies are not recognised as an asset
in the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS MRt

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants has issued one
new Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), a number of
amendments to HKFRSs and new Interpretations that are first effective
for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company. Of
these, the following developments are relevant to the Group’s financial
statements:

HKFRS 8, Operating segments

HKAS 1 (revised 2007), Presentation of financial statements
Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
improving disclosures about financial instruments
Improvements to HKFRSs (2008)

Amendments to HKAS 27, Consolidated and separate financial

statements — cost of an investment in a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity or associate

There have been no material impacts on the Group's financial
statements for the periods presented as a result of these changes
in accounting policy. For financial statements presentation, these
developments have resulted in:

an additional consolidated statement of comprehensive income:
corresponding amounts have been restated to conform to the
new presentation. This change in presentation has no effect on
reported profit or loss, total income and expense or net assets for
any period presented;

amendments to the consolidated statement of changes in equity
which is focused on presentation of transactions with equity
shareholders;

revised reporting segment classification for segment information
disclosure. The 2008 comparative figures have been restated
accordingly (Note 40); and

expanded disclosures about the fair value measurement of
the Group’s financial instruments, categorising these fair value
measurements into a three-level fair value hierarchy according to
the extent to which they are based on observable market data.
The Group has taken advantage of the transitional provisions set
out in the amendments to HKFRS 7, under which comparative
information for the newly required disclosures about the fair
value measurements of financial instruments has not been
provided.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is
not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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OPERATING INCOME AND OTHER NET INCOME 4. EFEREREMFRA
Operating income and other net income recognised during the year RE AR 2 & S as BB A A LAT
are as follows:
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Operating income =G
Brokerage commission and service income a2 A BEARFUA 225,030 168,802
Interest income on financial assets not at fair value  3EFB@E AR A FBEH
through profit or loss SEEEN WA
— bank deposits —RITIFK 8,452 48,305
— advances to customers —RPEXR 127,393 68,415
— unlisted debt securities —JE L EERE S 16,713 =
- others —HAth 1,226 18,550
Dividend income AR S A
— listed investments — FhiRE 25,847 33,877
— unlisted investments —JEEHIRE 178,489 4,269
Gross rental income from investment properties R BIZ &R S BT 1,544 1,136
584,694 343,354
Other net income HAFWA
Net realised gain/(loss) on trading securities HEZSHAZER
Flas (BX)
— equity securities —REESH (76,792) (339,036)
— debt securities —EERS 1,464 151
— derivatives —PTET A (58,939) 315,336
(134,267) (23,549)
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on trading securities RoHEIAEBR
Flas(BX)
— equity securities —RHHEH (62,179) (77,050)
— debt securities —EREES (1,621) =
— derivatives —PTET AR 201,106 (275443)
Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities & L iH & 5 2 FUzs 45,486 1,590,357
Realised loss on financial assets designated EE ABBRERARRATEE
at fair value through profit or loss NEmEECEBREBX - (4,880)
Unrealised loss on financial assets designated EEARAEEARRAFEE
at fair value through profit or loss MEeMEE L AERIBLR (29,254) (252,515)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of fixed assets HERBRTEERE (Bk) s (149) 2,220
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAFKE - 25
Unrealised (loss)/gain on notes payable ENEZEAER
(B%), MWz (38,156) 16,827
Exchange gain/(loss), net b W F U Es(1825) 140 (966)
Reversal of impairment on interests in THE T Hbm (B e
leasehold land 83,388 =
Net surplus on revaluation of investment properties % & ¥ % & (i F1%(E 9,380 6,001
Recovery of doubtful debts previously provided for 4Bl LA A 4E & 2 B R BF 6,010 2,298
Others HAib 5,917 14,246
85,801 997,571
Turnover represents the aggregate gross sale proceeds from disposal of ERERHER GBS AHESRE &
trading securities, brokerage commission and service income, interest A ERBEKA - FEWA - BREKA
income, dividend income and gross rental income from investment RIREREYHER S ERA o

properties.
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STAFF COSTS 5. BEIEH
2009 2008
—EEAF ZEENF
HK$’000 HKS'000
BET T BT
Salaries and allowances N T & &R 139,621 201,216
Share-based payments ARt (B4 - 1,160
Staff welfare and insurance B Tia kiR 6,414 5,098
Staff training and recruitment B T 53| R iR EE 989 1,596
Pension costs — mandatory provident fund B —BES R
and defined contribution plans TEREHSRETE 1,658 1,675
148,682 210,745
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 6. = ZF
Profit from operations is stated after charging the following: LERNE R THIIER -
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Operating lease rentals in respect of T REELEHERS
rented premises 10,154 8,644
Auditors' remuneration ZEEN B < 5,180 5,642
Impairment loss on advances to customers EPEFREERKX 120 6,500
Impairment loss on debtors FEUBR ROR B R 1,040 5,076
Impairment loss on goodwill EERE 4,941 =
FINANCE COSTS 7. HRER
2009 2008
—EETAE =T N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Interest on bank loans |ITERZFE 17,200 6,921
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8. DIRECTORS' AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 8. EEZNkmmMecHAHB AER
EMOLUMENTS i
(a) Directors’ emoluments: (a) EEMS
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the RIBEBCRRUEODE —B ST
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: Flic EEMEHT ¢
Year ended 31 December 2009 BE—ZEZhNF+-A=1T—HLEFE
Salaries,
allowances Share-based  Retirement
and benefit payments scheme 2009
Directors’ inkind Discretionary (Note 1) contributions Total
fee ¥& EBER bonuses  LUR{ME BINGTE  ZBEAE
EzHe ENFlE BERA (1) #H% fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR BETT BETR BETR BETR BT
Bxecutive directors HiTEE
Tang Shuangning EEE - 70 - - - 70
Zang Qutao Hils - 95 - - - 95
Chen Shuang Bk - 1,385 4,500 - - 5,885
Tang Chi Chun, Richard By - 1,460 2,100 - 12 3,572
Non-executive director FiiTEE
Wang Weimin THR - 75 - - - 75
Independent Non-executive directors BUHHTEE
Ng Ming Wah, Charles REE 100 155 - - - 255
Seto Gin Chung, John AR 100 135 - - - 235
Lin Zhijun NEE 100 135 - - - 235
300 3,510 6,600 - 12 10,422
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8.

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' 8. EBENKZeaMevcABAER
EMOLUMENTS (continued) <% ()
(a) Directors’ emoluments: (continued) (@) EEME: (&)
Year ended 31 December 2008 EZ=EEN\F+_A=1T—RIFE
Salaries,
allowances Share-based Retirement
and benefit payments scheme 2008
Directors’ inkind  Discretionary (Note 1) contributions Total
fee e R bonuses  LARR(AER RIGHE  —ETN\F
EEe ENila BfEiea (&1) % CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
BETTL BETT BETT BT BETTT BETTT
Executive directors HITEE
Tang Shuangning FEE - 95 - - - 95
Zang Qiutao s - 105 - - - 105
Chen Shuang 3% = 1,385 4300 - - 5,685
Xu Haoming (Note 2) mER (72) - 35 - - - 35
Tang Chi Chun, Richard e - 1460 1,000 100 12 2572
Non-executive director FiiTEE
Wang Weimin (Note 3) TER (#3) - 40 - - - 40
Independent Non-executive directors BUHHTEE
Ng Ming Wah, Charles REFZ 100 174 - - - 274
Seto Gin Chung, John AR 100 166 - - - 266
Lin Zhijun T 100 166 - - - 266
Tung Iring (Note 4) 8% (H4) 55 9% - - - 145
355 3716 5300 100 12 9483
Notes: B
(1) The above emoluments include the value of share options granted M ALERME 2ERIEARA R A RARE
to certain directors under the Company’s share option scheme as R TRESERAREBE(ER
estimated at the date of grant. Details of the share option scheme are RHEBZE) - FHRKRESE
disclosed in note 31 and in the directors’ report. BRI BEREM TN RESTS®
HEN o
(2)  Mr. Xu Haoming resigned as executive director of the Company on 19 Q)  ®RIEFESEER2008F6 A 19 BE A
June 2008. TTEERT -
(3)  Mr. Wang Weimin appointed as non-executive director of the B) EHEREER2008F6HIORKEE
Company on 19 June 2008. RIFITEEBTS -
(4 Madam Tung Iring resigned as independent non-executive director of @ BZELZTR2008F7 18 B LB

the Company on 18 July 2008.

SOFITE SRS -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A 75 R R B =

8. DIRECTORS' AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 8. EZEk&ZxmME&chB&AEH

EMOLUMENTS (continued) B ()

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments (b) REMEZEBAR
2009 2008
—sEnF —ET)\F
HK$'000 HKS'000
BET T BT
Salaries and other emoluments e K E A R E 6,554 5177
Discretionary bonus I IEFEAL 12,050 45,165
Share-based payments AR (E 1~ - 225
Retirement scheme contributions RIRGTEIHETR 87 85
18,691 50,652
2009 2008
—senF —EE0\%
Number of directors FEAH 2 1
Number of employees EE AR 3 4
5 5

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

S AERIIT

Number of individuals

A
2009 2008
—EEhEF —EEN\F
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 552,000,001 7T E B 852,500,0007T 1 =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$ 3,500,000 753,000,001 70 275 %53,500,0007T 1 -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 783,500,001 7 2 745%4,000,0007T 2 -
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 754,000,001 7T E 7 #54,500,0007T - 1
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 745,500,001 7 2 75 6,000,0007T 1 1
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 757,500,001 7T 2 75 #8,000,0007T - 1
HK$11,500,001 to HK$12,000,000 Y5 #511,500,001 70 2 75 #12,000,0007T - 1
HK$21,000,001 to HK$21,500,000 75 521,000,001 7T 2 745 %5 21,500,0007C - 1
5 5

During the year, no emoluments were paid to the five highest
paid individuals (including directors and employees) as an
inducement to join the Group or as compensation for loss of

office (2008: Nil).

RAFEE - AEBEWES IS F&
SHENABAL(BIEEERES)
LA R 5| E hn A sk VE BB 18 2K B0 RS (&
ZETENF  E) o
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RIS MRt

INCOME TAX

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2008:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year. Taxation for
overseas subsidiaries is calculated at the appropriate current rates of
taxation in the relevant countries.

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income statement

IR
BRMEH IR ATE 2 Gt EREAFIZ
16.5% ( T N\F : 165%) 1EFI B L -
EINMB AR ZHE AR
2 RITHEHE -

REFERERAHIBARIAT

represents:

2009 2008
—EENE 2T N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Company and subsidiaries AT RHEA A
Current taxation & RIS
— Hong Kong profits tax —BABFEH 17,716 180,245
— Overseas taxation —BHNEIE 31,434 22,277
— (Oven)/under provision in respect of — A EEEFESH (@),
Hong Kong profits tax in prior years TR ZEHEE (54) 460
Deferred taxation ERER I
— Deferred taxation relating to the origination — R A L A f B
and reversal of temporary differences F | B iR E R IR 34,947 5,985
84,043 208,967
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at MIEE R ER A AN - BRI R E
applicable tax rate: ZEEMAT
2009 2008
—EENE ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Profit before taxation A5 A 22 7 4,842,628 1,183,564
Calculated at the rates applicable to profits in LB A AR R E
the tax jurisdictions concerned FriSTiRsT8 2 18 616,063 232,943
Tax effect of income not subject to taxation fRIERT 2 WA (575,006) (182,371)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AR 2 T
taxation purpose 42,165 84,784
Tax effect of utilisation of previously FR AR AR B R 2 B8
unrecognised losses (1,867) (576)
Tax effect of tax losses and other deductible ARHER 2 R 18 N EAD A] F0 0, BT A
temporary differences not recognised ZENTB T ERARERE
b 2,742 73,727
(Over)/under provision in respect of prior years HE(EEE), TR EEH (54) 460
Taxation charge HIEER 84,043 208,967
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Notes to the Financial Statements

10. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS 10.
Net profit for the year of approximately HK$933,613,000 (2008:
approximately HK$404,439,000) has been dealt with in the financial

A 75 R R B =

statements of the Company.

AR ER AL & T
REERARRAGB R EZFRBRNGAE
#5033613000 L ( T NF : 45K

404,439,0007C 2 F B F|) E R AN A Bl 2 B 1%
WRNERIE ©

11. DIVIDENDS 1. KB
(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the () BEREAFERTFERLARARRE
Company attributable to the year ZRE
2009 2008
—BBNE —FENF
HK$'000 HKS'000
BT T BT
— Interim dividend declared and paid of BEAMERE TR R RS
HK$0.175 (2008: HK$0.08) per share — BB ¥0.1757T
—ZZT)\F : B¥0087T) 278,608 127,190
— Final dividend proposed after the —REEREERIRER
balance sheet date of HK$0.2 REARR S - BIRE®027T
(2008: HK$ 0.12) per share (ZZEZN\F : B¥0127T) 318,463 190,979
597,071 318,169

(b)

The directors proposed a final dividend of HK$S0.2 per share for
the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: HK$0.12 per share). The
proposed dividends are not reflected as dividend payable in the

financial statements.

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (b)
Company attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the year

EXeREnEE_—_STAE T+ A
=+—HIEFERERBBREEFRE
#0220 (Z T )\F « BH#0127T) ©
EENRE T T REA IS REK ARE
RS °

RAFEHERIN  BER
L -BMBEELETFEARIARR
el 3=\

2009 2008
—BENEF T N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
— Final dividend in respect of the —RAFERERIA
previous financial year, approved and BERN L —UBEEL
paid during the year, of HK$0.12 REARRE - BARARE0.127T
per share (2008: HK$0.10) (ZZEZEN\F : B¥0.107T) 190,979 158,918
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12. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(@) Tax effects relating to each component of other

(b)

comprehensive income

12.

H 2 W

(a) BEAM2ERENBIER

2009 2008
b3 3 ZEEN\E
Before Tax Net of Before Tax Net of
taxamount expense  taxamount faxamount income  tax amount
BAadHE WEXE  RH#ELE il ale  RiEes
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
BETT BETT BETT BT BT BETTT
Net movernent in investment revaluation it $HEE S 2R EE L
reserve of available-for-sale securities R E 3,913,126 (257,215) 3,655,911 (4982,603) 654,708 (4327.895)
Share of investment revaluation reserve BB A THRE
and exchanges reserve of associates  EfEHERER Rl 56,569 - 56,569 (62352) - (62352)
Exchange rate adjustments (B R 433 - 433 24271 24271
3,970,128 (257,215) 3,712,913 (5,020,684) 654,708 (4365976)

Reclassification adjustments relating to

components of the other comprehensive income

(b) BREHEMEEWHNDEAE

2009 2008
—EENF T N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Available-for-sale securities: BIREEES
Changes in fair value recognised AEEEHERAFERNES
during the year 3,703,018 (2,488,156)
Reclassification adjustments for amounts HIAIBRANFHESHE
transferred to profit or loss:
— gains on disposal — HERFlk (47,107) (1,877,307)
— impairment losses —REEX - 37,568
Net movement in the investment revaluation ZN4E &7 E fth 2 E 5 AT
reserve during the year recognised R E BEREFE
in other comprehensive income 3,655,911 (4,327,895)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

A 75 R R B =

13. BAREF|

Basic earnings per share (@) BRERZF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BREARRFZRZARAFRREGR
attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$4,757,641,000 FE#4,757,641,0007C( ZFE )\ F
(2008: HK$1,014,832,000) and the weighted average number 75#51,014,832,0007T ) M A F R B BE1T
1,591,755,527 shares (2008: 1,589,144,384 shares) in issue during A% 7 2 hntee -39 IR #81,591,755,527 B
the year, calculated as follows: —ETT)\F 1 1,589,144384 %) » &F
BT
2009 2008
—EENF T N\F
Issued shares at 1 January R— A — BB &R 1,591,011,712 1,584,704,212
Effect of share options exercised TR 2 o2 743,815 4,440,172
Weighted average number of shares RI-—A=+—HRHZ
at 31 December VIl -EBE] 1,591,755,527 1,589,144,384
Diluted earnings per share (b) BREHERF

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of
HK$4,757,641,000 (2008: HK$1,014,832,000) and the weighted
average number 1,594,373,315 shares (2008: 1,593,740,950
shares), calculated as follows:

BREERFRIZAAFRREGR
FAHE4,757,641,00070( Z T\ F ¢
75#1,014,832,0007T ) RASTHEETT (R AR
IRHEmE £ B B EHEE M RMD 2 M
T R% 81,594,373 315 (=TT )\
4 :1,593,740,950%) » TELT :

2009 2008
—EENF —EENEF
Weighted average number of shares R+=-—A=+—HKHZ
at 31 December IR 15 A% 25 1,591,755,527 1,589,144,384
Effect of deemed issue of shares under RIEARNT] 2 B HERTE
the Company's share option scheme for BRREEL N5
nil consideration MmEEITRR D 2 * 28 2,617,788 4,596,566
Weighted average number of shares (diluted) R+ —=H=+—HKHZ
at 31 December JIEF1/R 2 (#5%) 1,594,373,315 1,593,740,950
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14. FIXED ASSETS 14. BEEE

(a) Group (@ %
Interestsin ~ Buildings Furniture,
leasehold held for fixtures,
land held for own use equipment
own use under carried and motor
operating leases at cost Leasehold vehicles
NEEHE #{EEA  Investment improvements HE
BERRZ EEN  properties HE £E -%B Total
RELH A58 RENE MEHEE RAE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT BT
Cost or valuation: BASE :
At 1 January 2008 W_EENE—F—H 302528 39957 15,660 19518 47880 425,543
Additions NE - - - 10,323 5397 15,720
Disposals HeE (4407) (756) (100) (1,750) (2692) (9,705)
Surplus on revaluation BEEE - - 6,001 - - 6,001
Reclassification DR (14841) (2286) 13,139 - = (3988)
At 31 December 2008 R=EZ\&+-A=1-H 283,280 36915 34,700 28091 50,585 433571
Representing: #HARMT
Cost AR 283,280 36915 - 28091 50,585 398871
Professional valuation BEHE - - 34,700 - - 34700
283,280 36915 34,700 28091 50,585 433571
At 1 January 2009 RZZTnE—F—H 283,280 36,915 34,700 28,091 50,585 433,571
Additions NE 36,791 15,072 - 6,219 4741 62,823
Disposals e - - - (8,426) (15,739) (24,165)
Surplus on revaluation EfhiEE - - 9,380 - = 9,380
At 31 December 2009 R-EENF+-A=1—H 320,071 51,987 44,080 25,884 39,587 481,609
Representing: AT
Cost BR 320,071 51,987 - 25,884 39,587 437,529
Professional valuation B2E(EE - - 44,080 - - 44,080
320,071 51,987 44,080 25,884 39,587 481,609
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14. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 14. EEEE#®)
(@) Group (continued) (@) H£E(E)
Interestsin ~ Buildings Furniture,
leasehold held for fixtures,
land held for own use equipment
own use under carried and motor
operating leases at cost Leasehold vehicles
NEEHE #fEEA  Investment improvements HE
BEERZ EENX  properties HE HE %6 Total
HELt RAGIE  REWE NEEE RAE &t

HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A%t ARTR A%t ARTR A%t BRTR

Accumulated amortisation, it

depreciation and RERAE

impairment:
At 1 January 2008 RZZEZE\F—A—H 101,701 4288 - 11,063 37211 154,263
Charge for the year TEERR 2476 798 - 3,365 3737 10376
Written back on disposal Y F ] ¢ (177) (44) - (1,750) (2650) 4621)
Reclassification ENAE (3473) (515) - - - (3988)
At31 December 2008 RZZZ\F+=RA=T-H 100527 4507 - 12678 38298 156,030
At 1 January 2009 W_EENE—F—H 100,527 4,527 - 12,678 38,298 156,030
Charge for the year REEETE 2,434 835 - 4,519 4,434 12,222
Written back on disposal B ] B - - - (8,276) (15,717) (23,993)
Reversal of impairment loss FERXEE (83,388) - - - - (83,388)
At 31 December 2009 RZZEENET-A=1—H 19,573 5,362 - 8,921 27,015 60,871
Net book value: BRESE
At 31 December 2009 RZZEENET-A=1—H 300,498 46,625 44,080 16,963 12,572 420,738

At 31 December 2008 R-EE\&+-A=1—H 182,753 32388 34700 15413 12287 277541
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14. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 14, EEEE @)
(b) Company (b) A7
Furniture,

Leasehold fixtures and

improvements equipment Motor
HE HRE vehicles Total
MEEE KRERRE RE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT BT BT

Cost: B

At 1 January 2008 RZZEENF—-H—H 95 2,036 2,035 4,166

Addition NE - - - -
=

At 31 December 2008 RZZEN\F+ZA=1+—H 95 2,036 2,035 4,166 ﬁ
i
i

At 1 January 2009 RZZZENF—H—H 95 2,036 2,035 4,166 ||

Addition NE - 8 - 8 B
g

At 31 December 2009 R-EThE+=-A=+—8H 95 2,044 2,035 4174 8
£
9]

Accumulated depreciation: RiHE =

At 1 January 2008 RZZZENF—H—H 68 1,977 957 3,002 g

Charge for the year REFFHR 19 38 407 464 <

At 31 December 2008 RZZEZEN\F+_A=1+—H 87 2015 1364 3466

At 1 January 2009 RZBZNF—HFA—H 87 2,015 1,364 3,466

Charge for the year REETR 8 22 385 415

At 31 December 2009 R-ZBENFE+_A=1+—H 95 2,037 1,749 3,881

Net book value: IREHE :

At 31 December 2009 NZZBZENE+=_A=1+—H - 7 286 293

At 31 December 2008 RZEZNF+=-_A=1+—H 8 21 671 700
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14. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(c)

(d)

The Group's interests in leasehold land and buildings and
investment properties situated in Hong Kong and Mainland
China were appraised as at 31 December 2009 by an
independent professional valuer, Messrs. S.H. Ng & Co. Limited,
who have among their staff Fellows of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and category
of property being valued. These properties were appraised on an
open market basis and investment properties are carried in the
balance sheet at market value.

As at 31 December 2009, had the Group’s interests in
leasehold land and buildings been carried at fair value, their
carrying amount would have been HK$ 433,720,000 (2008:
HK$345,878,000).

Investment properties of HK$44,080,000 (2008: HKS$34,700,000)
of the Group are rented out under operating leases, of which
HK$8,100,000 (2008: HKS$6,480,000) are rented to the ultimate
holding company.

All properties held under operating leases that would otherwise

14. BEEEE®)

(c)

AREERBERTEAEZHE T
REERKREMFEHBEBNELER
AHEEIR TR EMITIR_TTNEF
T-A=t—HZEESERH - - EER
EFBHEMBEee L EREYHAR
EMENFRERERFLHER - &
LYEAUARFHTEER - REYE
REEBBERATEAR -

R-ZBEAE+=-_A=+—08 K
SEHEELHEEENEBERA
FEMER - A HIREEEQBE
43372000070 ( ZZEZE/)\F : 45K
345,878,0007T) °

REBEE LS %44,080,0007L (=
T\ ¢ 4978 134,700,0007T ) Z IR E
YWEERESEAOMEL - EP4B5
#58,100,0007C( Z B Z/)\F : 45K
6,480,0007T) B T AR A A o

PIEREHEOMEN S REMENTE

meet the definition of investment property are classified as EEDEREEME -
investment property.
The analysis of net book value of properties is as follows: (d) EREEFEITAT :
Group
£8
2009 2008
—EENF ZETN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Held in Hong Kong nE#
—onlong lease —ARBIFELFEE 293,924 211,490
— on medium-term lease — AR BAFR AR5 A 36,830 29,250
330,754 240,740
Held outside Hong Kong REBUNMEE
- on medium-term lease — AR ERFE 403 H 60,449 9,101
60,449 9,101
391,203 249,841
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNTS DUE

FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

Investments in subsidiaries

15. MBRRIRE N ENEB AR/
PR (FEASH) BR X

(a) MEBARRE

2009 2008
—EBBNF T N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
BT T BETT
Investments, at cost: ®E - HEKAE
Unlisted shares JE ETHRR D 2,922,241 1,610,870
Less: impairment loss R REER (221,829) (222,186)
2,700,412 1,388,684
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries AEER=_ZTNEF+=A=+—H
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the BEETHEEWBLA
Group.
Percentage of
Particulars  equity interest
of issued held by
Place of share capital  the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation Class of shares BRT AAFFE  Principal activities
HWERLARER b gy RAEE EXEZASNL EEER
Ally Point Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000 100%'  Investment holding
ELARAA &R LRR 7 %1000007C RERR
CEL Venture Capital (Shenzhen) Limited The PRC Not applicable HK$500,000,000 100%  Provision of investment
KAREREIERE RN EBRAR i TER 71500,00000070 advisory services and
investment
Rt EBRRERRE
CEL Management Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100%  Provision of management
KABERERRBERAF &b LRk BT services
RALETRARE
CEL (Secretaries) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100%  Provision of secretarial
KAER(WE)BRAR Bk LR BT services
REHER
China Everbright Assets Management Hong Kong Ordinary HKS5,000,000 100%'  Provision of asset
Limited BE Lidk 7B 50000007 management services

PERABEEEARAA

RHEBEEERE

ZEENFR

o
w

Annual Report 2009




B RIZERBRA A

=}
X

China Everbright Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

15.
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNTS DUE
FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

15. B RRIE M E R R
FEAs (e ) BRR (4)
(a) MBARKREE

Percentage of
Particulars  equity interest
of issued held by
Place of share capital  the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation Class of shares BRfT AAFFE  Principal activities
WEAREH bR B8R RAEE EXEZAL EEXRE
China Everbright Bullion Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 100%'  Provision of bullion trading
Limited BE LiEk 75 51,0007T services
HEXKEXREARAA RUEBER IR
China Everbright Capital Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000,000 100%'  Provision of corporate
RE ARERRAR % LER 75#10,000,0007 finance and investment
advisory services
REPERER
RARRAIRS
China Everbright Dragon Fund Limited Cayman Islands Non-participating USS5 100%'  Investment
R A ERERBRAR FEHSE shares SETL ®E
E2EER
Participating US$54867
redeemable 5486770
preference shares
B2 EETRED
Bk
China Everbright Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000,000 100%'  Money lending
PEXABBERAT &R LAk 71100000007 BHER
China Everbright Financial Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100%'  Investment holding
Limited i Lak #1007 REER
RERASRIERERAR
Non-voting HK$200,000,000
deferred shares 75 85200,000,00070
ERFEELR
China Everbright Financial Investments Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1,000,000 100%'  Investment
Limited Bl Lak 71510000007 &3

PERARBREABRAA
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNTS DUE  15.
FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

By B R Rl E Ko BRI B B &Y
PR, (AT BR AR ()

(a) Investments in subsidiaries (continued) (@) MEARRE®E
Percentage of
Particulars  equity interest
of issued held by
Place of share capital  the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation Class of shares BRfT KAFFHE  Principal activities
WELTEE gt R &5 RAimE EXB#EIL IEXR
China Everbright Forex & Futures (HK) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$35,000,000 100%'  Provision of futures
Limited B LER 758£35,0000007T brokerage and leveraged
PEAANE - BR(TA)ARAT freign excharge
trading services
PRt RiEes ﬁ
SNES 5 i
i
i
China Everbright Network Payment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$263 68.19%'  Project investment I
PERARE I NBRAT o
o
o
China Everbright Industrial Investment Cayman lslands Ordinary US$10,000 100%  Investment %
Holdings Limited REHE Liak 10000 ®E g
P AEERAERERAT s
=
c
China Everbright Investment Management ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 100%  Provision of investment <
Limited i LEk 751510000007 management services
PERARRREEEBRAA RHREERRE
China Everbright Wealth Management Hong Kong Ordinary HK$500,000 100%  Provision of wealth
Limited B LR 78855000007 management services
PEXAMEERARAA RUHEER
China Everbright Research Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS5,500,000 100%'  Investment research
PERAERTRARAA &R LAk 7EH55000007C REWE
China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$150,000,000 100%'  Provision of securities
B REH (BB ERAR % Liak 75 #150,0000007C brokerage services and
margin financing
T {/\D_L%i«(f‘aﬁ&i%&
FREE
China Special Opportunities Fund, LP. Cayman lslands Limited Partnership Not applicable 50%'  Investment
REHE BRa% TER RE
Everbright ALAM (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS755 67.55%'  Fund management
(formerly ALAM (Hong Kong) Limited) % LiEk FBHE755TT HEEER

(RIFEALAM (Hong Kong) Limited)
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNTS DUE

A 75 R R B =

FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

—

5. B R RIIE K B~ AAY

e (R BRR ()
(a) MBRATREH)

Percentage of
Particulars  equity interest
of issued held by
Place of share capital  the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation Class of shares BRfT AAFFE  Principal activities
WELTEH gk R &R RAmfE EFR#EIE IEXR
Everbright ALAM Investment Management ~ Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 66.67%'  Fund management
REHE BBk 1,000%7T EoERE
Everbright ALAM Real Estate Partners Cayman lslands Ordinary US§11,000 66.67%'  Fund management
REHE LRk 110007 EoERE
Everbright ALAM Services and Consulting Cayman Islands Ordinary US§755 67.55%'  Fund management
Limited (formerly ALAM Services and FEHSE LRk 75557 HEER
Consulting Limited)
(BIFEALAM Services and Consulting
Limited)
Everbright New Industries Capital The PRC Not applicable RMB200,000,000 70%  Projectinvestment
Company Limited e TER AR200,00000070 BARE
RAHEREIFREBRAA
Everbright San Shan Capital Management The PRC Not applicable RMB30,000,000 51%  Asset management
Company Limited e TER AR¥3000000070 Rt EEERE
ARZILERREERARAR
Fortunecrest Investment Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary USS1 100%'  Project investment
EBRRARES LER Ee BARE
Goalfield Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary USS1 100%'  Investment
EERBRES LEk Ee RE
Hairich Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100%'  Project investment
&R LRk 100007 BRRE
Janco Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100%  Project investment
ERERARAA ) ERR AT BARE
Solidpole Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100%  Investment holding
[ERERAR &R LEk AET REER
SeaBright Asset Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 65%'  Asset management
KABEEEEEARAA &R TER 75 1,0000007C REBEEERE
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNTS DUE
FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

15. MBRRIRE N ENEB AR/
PR (FERH BR A ()

KREEREIRARAT

(a) Investments in subsidiaries (continued) (@ MBARREE)
Percentage of
Particulars  equity interest
of issued held by
Place of share capital  the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation Class of shares BRfT KAFFHE  Principal activities
WEARER s R ER RAEE EXEZALN EEXRE
Seabright China Special Opportunities (1) British Virgin Islands Non-participating USS5 7890%'  Investment
Limited EREMREE shares SETL R
E2EER
Participating Us$415 il
redeemable 415ETT ﬁ,,
preference shares ﬂ*
F2EENED
B i
g
5
Trycom Management Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary USS1 100%  Investment holding v
R TS S AL o IR0 2
EEEMREHS ERR B RERR g
o
©
Wealthlink Pacific Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary USs1 100%  Investment é
ABAARES o £ B =
Well Logic Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100%'  Property investment
BRRERRAA &k ERR BT WERE
ATHEREANERAR The PRC Not applicable RMB10,000,000 100%  Provision of consultancy
i 0 ili AR 1000000070 services and investment
AR
FmESHRRESAERAR The PRC Not applicable RMB25462,500 100%'  Property investment
t TER ARE25462,5007C WERE
MITEERRERRER AR The PRC Not applicable RMB20,000,000 61%  Property investment
F i AR 200000007 WERE
Everbright Venture Capital Jiangyin The PRC Not applicable RMB218,000,000 50%'  Venture capital
Company Limited i TER AR®2180000007C EIFIRE
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15.

(a)

A H5 R R B =

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNTS DUE 15, MiYB A A% & K EHHTE A 5/
FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES (continued) FEWL (FE) BR R ()
Investments in subsidiaries (continued) (@) KMIBARIKRE(E)
Percentage of
Particulars  equity interest
of issued held by
Place of share capital  the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation Class of shares BRfT AAFFME  Principal activities
HWEARER Fialip i 3R RAmnE EABRESL FEEH
KAEREEREEE(R) The PRC Not applicable RMB25,300,000 100%'  Project investment
ARRA(ARERERER el TER AR #25,3000007C BARE
REERBRAR))
KRERCTE ) BEBRAA The PRC Not applicable US$100000000 100%  Investment
hE PER 100000000% 7 %a
BENAERREERAERAR The PRC Not applicable RMB100,000,000 100%'  Project investment
el ER A5 %100,000,0007C BRRE
(1) Subsidiaries held indirectly. ©) HEHE 2B AR

(b)

(c)

Amounts due from subsidiaries
Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and
have no fixed terms of repayment except as disclosed below.

As at 31 December, 2009, the Company has six non-interest
bearing subordinated loans totalling HK$949,742,000 out of
which HK$99,742,000 is repayable in 2010 and HK$850,000,000
is repayable on demand (2008: six non-interest bearing
subordinated loans totalling HK$940,871,000 out of which
HK$99,121,000 is repayable in 2010, HK$591,750,000 is repayable
in 2009 and HKS$250,000,000 is repayable on demand). It is the
Company’s intention not to demand repayment from those
subsidiaries within one year other than subordinated loans that
are governed by specific agreements.

Amounts due to subsidiaries
Amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

(b)

(c)

FE WL B 1B X B R IR

B T AT IR - R B A R FRY
EIEW  BAGEREBEMEEAR
B

RZEZARE+_HA=+—H "
RRABIBARETGTFEREEX
H 78 949,742,000 7T ¢ H AR B
99742000 TN — T — T F 5|5 -

7 ¥ 850,000,000 7T /&8 B B 38 K
(ZEBENF : NEfFERBEE
IR ¥ 940,871,0007T © E A %
99,121,0007C IR = — = F F| 8 -
ﬁ%mwwmmﬁ_77ﬂ¢ﬂ%&
785 #5250,000,000 7T B BN EFE R © ) ©
AARWESZREAMERRE—
FAEENIE - MEEEFRRIBRIERA
R BEEIAT

FEA B I8 X B FRIE
PR A R RS SR - BIAS
/u,\ ’ &#\B\E\.E1E}<§E/HH °
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS DUE 16, B =R RIIRE MEW ~(ER)

The Group's investment in the shares listed in Mainland China,
classified under investments in associates, has a lock-up period

which ends in August 2012.

REEDBEABERRPIENTER
WwEMBRNEERE—_FT——FN\

ﬂ o

FROM/(TO) ASSOCIATES rd=l/N E
(a) Investments in associates (a) HEATRE
Group Company
£H YNl
2009 2008 2009 2008
—BRhAE —TT\F ZBEAF TTN\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT T AT
Investments, at cost: BE - REAE
Shares listed in Mainland China REIA M E TR 1,782,992 - 1,784,192 -
Unlisted shares in F i
- Hong Kong —&58 40,458 40,458 40,390 40390 .
- Outside Hong Kong — BB LIME R 18,489 1,784,460 683 1,784,875 %
Share of post-acquisition reserves — JE{RULBE & (&R 7,743,942 3,912,213 - -
i
9,585,881 5,737,131 1,825,265 1,825,265 109
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 2
Less: o ?j
Provision for impairment BEKARELERE S
charged against %
investment costs (165,548) (165,548) (41,073) (41,073) é
Goodwill on acquisition B R B (682,792) (682,792) - = =
Carrying value, net AREE - 8,737,541 4,888,791 1,784,192 1,784,192
Market value of listed shares AR B A3 _E TR AR B
in Mainland China mi%E 32,964,028 - 32,964,028 -
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A H5 R R B =

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS DUE
FROM/(TO) ASSOCIATES (continued)

(b) As at 31 December 2009, particulars of principal associate of the

Group are as follows:

16.

4

Bra A AR E REW(ER)

i N RISRIE ()

(b) $%IEA_2§$%¢+:H =+—
CAREEZFEREANTERN

T:

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of held by
incorporation/ the Company directly
Name of associate operation Principal activities AR BEEZS
BENTR BB R i 2 FEEWR EXEZEIL
Everbright Securities Company The PRC Securities operations 33.33%
Limited (“Everbright Securities”) s BHE
FHRAFRDBR A F([ S ARFZ )
For the year ended 31 December 2009, Everbright Securities BE-_TZNF+-_A=1+—8 "%

has recorded an after tax profit attributable to shareholders of
RMB3.26 billion (according to HKFRSs) and the Group's share of
profit, under equity accounting method, amounted to HK$1,349
million.

On 18 August 2009, Everbright Securities’ shares were
successfully listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange through an
initial public offering of 520 million new shares at an issue price
of RMB21.08 per share. After the new share issue, the Group's
shareholding in Everbright Securities has been diluted from
39.31% to 33.33%. As a result of the share dilution, the Group has
recorded a gain on deemed disposal of HK$3.18 billion.

RiEESRBF BN E A RRRARE
B ARE3261E T (IRE BB % 3R
HER]) - REBEEREFEASEE

= e AN J)

{5 B 7 A5 134918 7T

RZZEZHRFENATNAR - XKL
HAFIE A R 21.08L 175218 5T
Iz - EXR EBFESFR SN
IRETIE - AEBE K RILFHFR
LE B FR39.31% #8558 2 33.33% © AR
R - AL EE L SSHEE38E
TZIFEELERF -
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS DUE RN Ta{xéf&%ﬂﬁ(/ FEfT)

FROM/(TO) ASSOCIATES (continued) Hit &N B RA (50)

(c) Supplementary financial information of principal (c) IE%%"TZ%?‘E%%E%}
associates
Supplementary financial information in respect of the principal FERE N A AN B ER E R
associate extracted from its financial statements after necessary BECE N T2 Mk - WEHRER

adjustments to conform to the Group's accounting policies and BUARE AR 2 @5tBEE REBH
prepared under HKFRSs is as follows: B E 2R

Everbright Securities

S KFE S
2009 2008
—EENF T N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
Consolidated income statement HEBEER AR¥T T AR®ETIT
i
Turnover = 7,280,947 4,826,115 Efw
i
Profit before taxation Fr A&7 4,413,172 1437234 [RER
Current taxation REEZHIA (1,073,358) (244715 o
Minority interests L ERFHE RS (76,890) (85452) &
Profit attributable to shareholders R R E(E 2 A 3,262,924 1,107,067 °{_‘U
=y
g
Consolidated balance sheet SHEEEEER =
Total assets REE 27,578,250 12,527,054
Total liabilities =R (4,348,118) (1,408,535)
23,230,132 11,118,519
Minority interests VYRR ER (172,517) (155,890)
Net assets REE 23,057,615 10,962,629
(d) Amounts due from/(to) associates (d) FEU(FER)BE QATRE
Amounts due from/(to) associates are unsecured, interest free FEUL (PR ) Bt N B FIE ) A R

and have no fixed terms of repayment.

- R REEEEER

Hi o
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 17. HEREHZEHIE 821K E K E I K [F
AND AMOUNT DUE FROM JOINTLY CONTROLLED 22 B RE SR
ENTITIES
(a) Investments in jointly controlled entities (a) HEZHERRE
Group Company
£ AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZAFE ZETN\F CZBEAEF —ZTIN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T AT
Share of net assets [EIFEE 84,266 - 78 =
(b) As at 31 December 2009, particulars of principal b) XEER=-"FFILFE+=A

jointly controlled entities are as follows:

=t—H FEHEFEZHER

ERmE

Particulars of

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of issued and held by
Name of incorporation/ Principal paid up capital the Company
jointly controlled entities operation activities BERITR RA T ATE
HEZEFERERE i, B FEHEW EHMERAEE EXEREDL
Everbright Macquarie Cayman Islands Fund management US$20,000 50.1%
Infrastructure Limited FEES Ao TR 20,0007
Everbright Guolian Capital The PRC Venture capital and RMB150,000,000 50.0%*
Company Limited A investment advisory A R#150,000,0007T

KRB RIRKERR AR

* Held indirectly

RIEKRE MR EBERE

* A
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
AND AMOUNT DUE FROM JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (continued)

(c) Summary financial information of jointly

A2 HI B BIRE MW AR

pas
PR B RS FE ()

() HEEHEENHSEMBER-

controlled entities - Group’s effective interest: REEEEFIE
2009 2008
—sEnF —2ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Current assets MENE B 85,211 =
Current liabilities i N=KE (945) =
Net assets HEE 84,266 =
Income 1 ON 30 =
Expenses gy (945) =
Loss for the year NEEEE (915) =

(d) Amount due from jointly controlled entities
Amount due from jointly controlled entities are unsecured,
interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

(d) EUHEREHERRE
FEUCH FIFE 6 B AD EIER - &
EREREEERL -

T fER

Annual Report 2009 ﬁ =
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18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES EHIEEES
Group Company
£E AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EEAE  —ET)N\F ZBEAF ZTN\F
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ABETT BETT BT
At fair value: NS
Listed equity securities: FHREES
Listed in Hong Kong RESET 331,136 87,539 - =
Listed in Mainland China R BRI T 1,765,741 931,683 - -
Unlisted equity securities JE LR E RS 6,676,643 3,062,958 5,450,600 2687314
Unlisted debt securities I FTEEES 165,097 = - =
8,938,617 4,082,180 5,450,600 2,687,314
Group Company
&8 AF
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEERE ZET)N\F CZEBEAE —ZT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETT BT BT T
Fair value of individually impaired EERIRER EEEE
available-for-sale equity securities: REES
Listed in Hong Kong RES LT 53,742 77,855 - =
Unlisted equity securities JEETREES 367,716 231,725 114,115 75,959
421,458 309,580 114,115 75,959

As at 31 December 2009, the Group's and the Company's available-for-
sale equity securities were individually determined to be impaired on

the basis of a material decline in their fair value below cost and adverse

changes in the market in which these investees operated which

indicated that the cost of the Group's investment in them may not be

recovered. Impairment losses on these investments were recognised in

profit or loss in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(m)(i).

Realised gains on disposal of certain available-for-sale securities are

subject to the payment of an incentive project bonus to an investment

team (see note 35(b)).

R-ZBFAF+-_A=1t—H ~5ERK
Z]KL\ ANEHRHEREFESERERHE
E’J’Ai1ﬁ§;§%ﬁﬁé%$ﬁﬁ{”ﬁﬁi@ : JTIF)T
BREAREMSEENBEATLE  °%
B B B R A AT B AR EUAE - E%&ﬁﬁ
EEBRIEMEE2(m) ()R 51 BA IR 1B 28
KPR ©

BOEREEESLERHETIRKE -
eHAETERBESS TREBK (2N
#¥35(b)) °
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18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES (continued) 18. EHHIEEFESF®)
The Group held the following principal available-for-sale security as at RZBEZNF+ZA=+—0  x&EEF
31 December 2009: ENEIRBEHEEESFWT
Effective equity
interest held by
Place of the Group
Company name incorporation Principal activities rXEEEERFSE
ATE BB i ith 2h FEEK BEXRERE D
China Everbright Bank Company Limited The PRC Banking operations 5.26%
(“Everbright Bank’)® s RITHRE
R B RERTTAR D AR A BI([ S RERTT )0
()  At31 December 2009, the carrying value of interests in Everbright 0 RIZEZEAF+A=+—RH K& _
Bank exceeded 10% of total assets of the Group. EXRRBTHERAESNAEEEE %
EEHI10% ° By
i
I
115
19. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE 19 B ABEBERUAKRRAFE "o
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS EMSREE g
2
2009 2008 %
—gehE L -
HK$’000 HK$'000 <
BT T BT T
At fair value: BATE -
Hong Kong listed equity securities BB LTREZS 92,662 46,111
Overseas unlisted equity securities FINIE F TR E A 178,405 144,120
Overseas unlisted convertible preference shares G 9NE_E T AI #1825 IR 4,527 6,272
Hong Kong unlisted debt securities BB L THEREE S 10,807 -
Overseas unlisted debt securities BHNE LT EEES 58,129 -
344,530 196,503
Realised gains on disposal of certain financial assets designated at fair HolEERABABRUREAFEENS
value through profit or loss are subject to the payment of an incentive MEELERNIERWE - FRIEFER

project bonus to an investment team (see note 35(b)). BERE 4 TR E BB (2KI7E35(0)) °
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

In 2009, the Group purchased certain unlisted financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss at a purchase price which
was below the fair value at inception that would be determined at that
date using a valuation technique. According to the Group’s accounting
policy, the difference yet to be recognised in profit or loss at the

20.

A H5 R R B =

EBENEHEE @)

19. EERBBERARBAIFE

E_ZTNE  AEEBENETEES
BEBRBEARRAFEENFELTEHE
E - HBEERERERAMGEDAMTE
MfEE - RIEASENSFEER
MOEFIRFREREREAERNE

HER

beginning and the end of the year is as follows: RELA -
HK$’000
BT T
At 1 January 2009 RZZEZNF—A—H -
Addition =90 324,439
At 31 December 2009 R-ZEZNE+-—A=+—H 324,439
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BIVEE
Goodwill Trading rights Total
BE AR a&f
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
Cost: B BT T BB BT
At 1 January 2008 RZZEZN\F—HA—H 13,950 1,250 15,200
Addition 0 4,941 = 4,941
At 31 December 2008, NZBEENFE+_A=+—0
1 January 2009 and “EENEF-A—HEK
31 December 2009 —EENF+_A=F+—H 18,891 1,250 20,141
Accumulated amortisation and R EHERREEBX
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2008, RZZTENF—H—A8
31 December 2008 and —EENF+-A=+—"HRK
1 January 2009 —ZETNF—H—H 13,950 = 13,950
Impairment losses VERIEREES 4,941 = 4,941
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZAF+=-_A=1+—H 18,891 - 18,891
Net book value: BRTEFE :
At 31 December 2009 R-_EZNF+_A=+—H = 1,250 1,250
At 31 December 2008 R-ZZEN\F+-_A=+—H 4,941 1,250 6,191
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21. ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 21. BB
2009 2008
—EENE ZEENF
HK$’000 HKS'000
BT T BT
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Term loans to customers BHIRPEK
~ secured —HEM 680,820 226,880
— unsecured — AR 90,776 =
771,596 226,880
Current assets MENEE o
Term loans to customers BHRPER %
— secured —FBHEA - 117322 B
Amounts due from margin clients FREPER 973,427 326,549 W
17
973,427 443,871 g
Less: impairment loss W REER (3,933) (9,823) ﬂoj
969,494 434,048 Q(_CU
=y
g
Certain term loans to customers are secured by leasehold land in BN EHEFERUTFBEAMBEE TME <
Mainland China. Amounts due from margin clients are secured by BH - FEREPEBERAFEEFPFEZ L
listed securities of margin clients held as collateral. An ageing analysis is MREHEEA - KEEROREIITHAT
as follows:
2009 2008
—EENE ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Repayable on demand I 973,427 414,196
Over 3 months to 1 year —EAAREE—F - 29,675
1 to 5 years —ZE s 771,596 226,380

1,745,023 670,751




China Everbright Limited ! FEXAEBRERAR

Notes to the Financial Statements

A 75 R R B =

22. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS R EWERK « He MFENK
Group Company
£E ]
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EEhE —TITN\F CZEEhEFE —TI)\F
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
BT T BT BT T BT
Accounts receivable, net FEUBR TN - SRE 615,663 371,287 - -
Deposits, prepayments and Ze  BERR
other receivables H A e U BR X 92,662 57,000 6,780 4,940
Dividend receivable from an subsidiary B —F{B A R4 T A
e 2 - - - 1,000,000
708,325 428,287 6,780 1,004,940
Details of the ageing analysis on accounts receivable are as follows: USRS BRER DATIO TS
2009 2008
HK$’000 HKS'000
Within 1 month —@ATR 613,482 369,211
Within 1 to 2 months —Z=—{@A 282 540
Within 2 to 3 months “Z=={@A 1,042 264
Within 3 to 6 months =F~EA 34 749
Over 6 months ~E A A E 6,179 5,599
621,019 376,363
Less: impairment loss B REER (5,356) (5,076)
615,663 371,287

Accounts receivable mainly comprise amounts due from brokerage

clients, investment banking clients, brokers and clearing houses. These

receivables, except for investment banking receivables which are due

on issuance of invoice, are normally due two days after trade day. The

extension of credit requires management’s approval on a case-by-case

basis.

EURERERZRRB ZBEXBTER &

BIRTTEP

RicHPREE

PREVERK -

BRICE RIT I WR /5 3 iR BB AN &5 4 3%
S EAb YR —RAER SRR AEIH -

JERE R TR EREEFIHE -
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23. TRADING SECURITIES 23. R85
2009 2008
—EEAF T N\F
HK$’000 HKS'000
Current Assets REEE BT T BT T
At fair value: RAFE :
Equity securities: BREZEF :
~ listed in Hong Kong —&BB L™ 470,870 63,084
Debt securities: BEEES
— unlisted —3k LT 16,545 33,700
487,415 96,784
Current Liabilities REBEE
At fair value: BAFE
Equity securities: REF
— listed in Hong Kong —&BEm (30) (189,739)
Derivatives: PTETHR :
— listed in Hong Kong —&& L™ - (1,780)
— equity options — BR R Ehh (29,027) (229,533)
(29,057) (421,052)
24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24, e MRSEED
Group Company
£ YNC|
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EEAE ZETN\F ZBEAMFE ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BET T BT BET T BT
Cash on hand, savings and
current accounts e BRERGERER 1,031,315 1,152,543 205 164
Fixed deposits with banks RITE T 1,063,195 3,266,128 - -
2,094,510 4,418,671 205 164
Less: Deposits pledged R BERIR 2 7 (58,771) (571,915) - =
2,035,739 3,846,756 205 164

—BENEH

O
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25.

26.

CREDITORS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND ACCRUED  25.
CHARGES

FNEER - ElRe LIBREH

ENEREIZRRNELEBES « &2

Group Company
£H AT

2009 2008 2009 2008

“BRAE —TT\F ZBEAMF CTTN\HF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT BT T AT

Accounts payable JERTBRER 468,475 195,066 - -
Other creditors, deposits received H MR - BEdiEe

and accrued charges RIERE A 361,321 79,995 1,938 1918

829,796 275,061 1,938 1,918

Accounts payable are all due within one month and comprise
principally amounts due to brokerage clients, brokers and clearing

B RERERSK - YE—BAZA
2H -

houses.
NOTES PAYABLE 26. ENZEE
2009 2008
—EBNEF ZEEN\F
HK$’000 HKS'000
BT T BT
Unlisted notes issued by the Group, at fair value:  ZN&EBFTE1T 2 3E LT
ERERE - RATE
Face value Zm|E 147,540 147,540
Less: unrealised gain W RERWES (33,425) (71,581)
114,115 75,959

As at 31 December 2009, the Group has issued two floating rate notes
with a face value totalling RMB144,950,000 (2008: RMB144,950,000)
to two independent third parties. The carrying amount of the notes
as at 31 December 2009 was HKS$114,115,000 (2008: HKS75,959,000).
Under the terms of the notes, the Group will pay the subscribers all the
realised proceeds and investment income received from available-for-
sale securities held by the Group throughout the life of the notes. Both
notes will mature in 2011.

R-ZBEZAF+_A=+—0H K&
AT TMEEEEEAEAR
#& 144950000 L (Z T T )\ F : B
144,950,0007T ) 2 )% B E2IE T MAL T B E
=% ZZBR_ZFTNF+_RA=+—
HE BRI E A8 114,115,000 ( ZFZ )\
& B¥759590007T) © RIEZEEEZ
B AEBKeREEERNEREESE
HHEI B BRBRAREERES T
ZBRBEEE  cZEEBER_Z—FR
FHR -
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27. INCOME TAX'IN THE BALANCE SHEET

27. REEBEBERORELERE

(a) Current taxation in the balance sheet represents: (@) REESBRANEEREBH :
2009 2008
—eBnE —TE)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year AN [Z & & F 1555 4 17,716 161,260
Provision for PRC Tax for the year ARFEE B ST E 15,548 22277
Provisional profits tax paid TEMEBEBRISH (32,893) (50,696)
371 132,841
Balance of profits tax provision relating to  LAfE 4 E EB S RS 5 s
prior years 536,628 400,276 .
"
536,999 533,117 E,
i
(b) Deferred taxation (b) EELEHIA ”
() The Group 0  AEE o
The movements on the deferred tax assets/(liabilities) EREEEBBRTIELER §
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as BEE/(AR)EHHT : §_
follows: &
s
=
Fair value <
adjustment for Withholding
available-for-sale Accelerated tax taxon
securities depreciation associate's profit
BHEERS Taxlosses NEFE BELTN Total
ATERE BEEX 458 RFEHR it
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
ZZENE TR\ ZEBAE CET)\E ZEEAE —ET)\E CRBME EE)\E ZEEAE EE)F
HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$000
BT AETn  B¥Tn BT B%Tn  BNTn  BETn BETn BETn A%
At 1 January »-A—-H (229,107) (898,970 98 = (33) (51)  (21,256) - (250,298) (899021
Credited/charged)to ~ REFABERZ
oroftorlos 2% /1) M 6512 (18%%) 9 B @49) Q%) Besw)  (5989)
Credited/(charged) 0~ FEERZ
fesenve i/ (GtiR) (257,215) 654708 - - - - - - (257215) 654708
Setoffoftax WEHH - (18%84) - 18984 - - - - -
At 31 December RTZA=1-A (486,311)  (229,107) 6,610 % (24) (33)  (62,735) (21256)  (542,460)  (250298)
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET (continued)

(b) Deferred taxation (continued)

27. REEABRKRNMBZEE @)
(b) EZEBIE(4)

() The Group (continued) 0  AEEGE)
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note BB TE2(N 2 EFTEER « AN&
2(r), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets, in B AREERERREELEE
respect of tax losses of approximately HK$1,536 million 153618 T (ZFZF/\F : 498
(2008: HK$ 1,465 million), as it is not probable that future BE1465BTT) IERIBELETRIEE
taxable profits against which the tax losses can be utilised E REAZREBAERT —Er
will be available in the relevant entities. The tax losses do B HE R R B AR B B I LAVE B 18
not expire under current tax legislation. HiHz A o
(i)~ The Company (i) A A]
The movements on the deferred tax liabilities recognised ERAINEEBBERTHIELE
in the Company’s balance sheet are as follows: BMIBEEZFHAT
Withholding tax on associate’s profit B N al M TR RS
2009 2008
—EENE ZEEN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At 1 January n—H—H (21,256) =
Charged to profit or loss REFEEmKRETIR (41,479) (21,256)
At 31 December B+=—A=+—H (62,735) (21,256)
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. B&AK
2009 2008
—EENF T N\F
HK$’000 HKS'000
BT T BT
Authorised: JEERRA -
Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each BB 007t 2 F ik 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEZTREHERA
At 1 January R—A—H 1,591,012 1,584,704
Shares issued under share option scheme 1TP RN 1,252 6,308
At 31 December n+=—_HA=+—H 1,592,264 1,591,012
Shareholders are entitled to receive dividends as declared and are IR B REWERE AR E RRARRA A2 &
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares SREBER—E2RERE - FTERD

rank equally with regard to the Company's residual assets. HARRZFREEBRERZDZHE
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 28. IR

(a) Capital Management (a) EAXER
The Group's primary objectives in capital management are AEEEAEENEHERRE 2K
maximising shareholder return, matching of business funding REHRZEA  BEEBEST
needs and maintaining the Group's ability to continue as a going NREFREBRFELR - BERE
concern. Management regularly, or as changes in circumstances EHEEREAZE RO REEEE
warrant, reviews and manages its capital structure so as to ANZEHE - DAERFIRER B3R - B R E
maintain a proper balance amongst shareholder returns, RERZAREE T o
leveraging and funding requirement.
Net-assets/debt for capital management is defined as liabilities FEE/BREMEEAEENTEER
generated from operations (includes creditors, other payables KREEFNEE(BREEMNER - H
and trading securities liabilities), note payable, interest bearing MENRIBERR GFEFEE) « BN
loans and unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and cash ZE  EENENER KRR
equivalents. Adjusted capital represents total equity less FERE - RERERRSEEY - &
unaccrued proposed dividends. The net-assets-to-adjusted R 2 BN BRERSRRER AT IR
capital ratio at 31 December 2009 and 2008 was as follows: BRE - RZBEZNF+T_A=+— &
AR=ZFT\FENFEAECHEELS &
HEMT "
2009 2008 I
—ETAF “ZZN\F I8
Note HK$'000 HKS'000 el
k=3 BT BEFT S
5
Current liabilities nEEE §
Creditors, deposits received and FERTBRERN - B UiRE T
accrued charges RiaRER 25 829,796 275061 £
Trading securities R 55855 23 29,057 421052 =
858,853 696,113
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Bank loans RITER 397,145 -
Notes payable NS 26 114,115 75,959
Total debt BEAR 1,370,113 772,072
Add: Proposed dividends m o #ZEARE 318,463 190,979
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W R MNEEEEY (2,035,739) (3,846,756)
Net assets for capital
management FEELMEELRER (347,163) (2,883,705)
Total equity g 21,859,176 13,499,888
Less: Proposed dividends o EERE (318,463) (190,979)
Adjusted capital BARKNER 21,540,713 13,308,909
Net-assets-to-adjusted FEEKSHBEERLE
capital ratio (1.6%) (21.7%)
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(a)

Capital Management (continued)

As at 31 December 2009, the Group's liquidity has softened
significantly but still remains at a without net debt position. This is
mainly attributable to the increase in advances to customers, the
addition of exposures to trading securities investments plus the
new additions of available-for-sale securities and financial assets
designated as fair value through profit or loss. The Group has
planned, and is also seeking, investment opportunities to utilise
the surplus capital for to enhance shareholder returns.

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements. Certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject
to regulatory imposed capital and liquid capital requirements
(see also note 37(b)), these subsidiaries have complied with
those requirements at all time during both the current and prior
financial years.

28. AN (&)

(a)

BEXREE®E)
RZZFThF+—A=+—H K&
BRBETBERNLD - BORIEEF
BRI - RBESROERRER
BFEFER BN ZBFRE
WA SR BRI E R SRR E AR
BERSUARRATFEENEREE -
AEECATETNRESR - Wik
BESEERAMEANEE - ORI
FESRREE -

RABBBEETINIERRE ° A
RAETHBARABTEEERTE
THEARRRBEARE (F2EW
FE37(b)) » R F M B A A M R
FEA—ENRERRE -
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consolidated statement of changes in equity.

N

29. RESERVES 29. f#&f
The Company QT
Retained
Option  Investment Capital profits/
premium  revaluation redemption  Accumulated
Share reserve reserve Capital reserve losses
premium ARE  REER rseve  EAEE  RERA/ Total
BEEE  EERE fifs  EXGRH R ZiEE it
Notes HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
(i3 BEfn  BEfr BT BBt BBt A%t BETR
Asat 1 January 2008 “E3\5-F-PHE 5692367 a5 2137n (95%) 2984 28858 80483
Shae options forfeited JUBRILE TAME - (50) . - ; 50 _
Shares issued under share RETRLARE
option scheme 25863 (9516) - - - - 16347
Equity settled share-based MRS ZRARS
transactions = 1,160 = = = = 1,160
Implied interestonnon-nterest —~ ERHBAAN SEER
bearing subordinated loans LEREHE
tosubsidaries - - - (1.241) - - (1.241)
Dividends paid EfifkE 11 - - - - - (286,108) (286,108)
Total comprehensive income MEERENG
for the year = = (10999 = = 404439 (6925%5)
Asat 31 December 2008 and R-EE\E+-A=+-AR
1 January 2009 “EENE-B-H 5718230 6,045 1038778 (30837) 2984 321239 7062439
Shares issued under share WE TR BE
option scheme 6239 (2008) - - - - 4031
Dividends paid EfifkE 11 - - - - - (469587) (469587
Total comprehensive income MEERENG
for the year = = 2763287 = = 933613 3,696,900
s at 31 December 2009 RIEEAFT-A=1-H 5724469 4037 3800065 (30837) 2984 9165 10293983
The movement in the Group's reserves has been disclosed in the REBZFEEHENGEERE R

ZEENFR

N
w
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30. NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Share premium and capital redemption reserve
The application of the share premium and the capital redemption
reserve is governed by Sections 48B and 49H respectively of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Option premium reserve

The option premium reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted to employees of the Group recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share based payments in
note 2(q)(ii).

Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of available-for sale securities held at
the balance sheet date and is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies in note 2(f).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations as well as the effective portion of any
foreign exchange differences arising from hedges of the net
investment in these foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2(u).

Goodwill reserve

The goodwill reserve comprises goodwill on acquisitions that
occurred prior to 1 January 2001. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2(e).

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises specific allocation of amount
transferred from retained earnings due to regulatory
requirements. It also includes the share of statutory reserve of
associates.

(vii) Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company,
as calculated under Section 79B of the Companies Ordinance
was HK$791,265,000 (2008: HK$327,239,000).

. EmZIEE B %

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii) A

BAHEE R EAREE FE

B BRENECFEEZERT
RAEFBCREERNEI 4 N\BiE &
Y+ FUHE ©

BIRERE RS

RIS (E TJWJF AR B &
FTBOR (B EE2(g) (1) RAEEER T
BEZRBENEEXMEHE MR
TTERBHENAFE -

REEM#E
RESHHEREREHEESFNE
EAERZATEZRNFEE - &
EREETBURR M 2N

bE 5 &
EHRERSMBEEEREGINE
A p et Eard i Rt Y SE Ayl
FBINEGFARE 2 B E R ZEFEED
7 o ARG 5T RIED SIFAMH
FE2(u) °

BB
BERBEER_ET—F—H—H
AIWRBPIELE 2 AR - LR EERE
SRR TR

ARt
BEAXFREREEEEE ZBRARE
BMBENE 2 - WRETERE
DMEBERRIRE B R 2 i ©

a2 B e
RZZEZNF+ZHA=+—H &K
N AR QD A GBI 5 79B 1K 5T E 7Y
ASETREZZFFERBE
791265000 7C (ZEFE N\ F : B
327,239,0007T) °
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31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on 24
May 2002 whereby the Directors of the Company are authorised, at
their discretion, to grant to employees of the Group, including directors
of any company in the Group, to take up options and subscribe for the
shares of the Company. Upon the first anniversary, 25% of the options

3. BREEERS
AARBREER -_EE-FRA-+N
B®y T —ERBESBAAEEZES
BEAEEETIANATZES  BH2
RRAE A SRR AN 2 7 2 IR o 4% M SRR
H125% I8N E —BEB AN - FIBMRR

will vest and the rest will vest in three equal installments on each L ZHRTEBFFEE P ER

subsequent semi-anniversary. Each option gives the holder the right to —RBRERTHEARERAR A 2 —RE
subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company. AR -
(i) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during (i) REATFER LRI 2 B RIEMS

the years are as follows, and all options are settled by physical

T - A RIREARRE DRI

delivery of shares: 3 -
Exercise No.of
Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period price options granted
R EH AR 1758 TEE RREHE
03/05/05 04/05/05-03/11/07 04/05/06-03/05/10 2.850 15,900,000
05/05/05 06/05/05-05/11/07 06/05/06-05/05/10 3.000 1,520,000
04/07/05 05/07/05-04/01/08 05/07/06-04/07/10 3.135 820,000
27/09/05 28/09/05-27/03/08 28/09/06-27/09/10 3.100 800,000
10/04/06 11/04/06-10/10/08 11/04/07-10/04/11 4.800 6,200,000
25,240,000

Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before

the option is vested.

Annual Report 2009 E —ETAFR
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31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

3. BEEERZF(®)

(i) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share (ii) RAEZEHE REMEFEE 21T

options are as follows:

EEwmT
2009 2008
—2BNF —TTNF
Weighted Weighted
average average

Number of exercise price
share options HIREF35

Number of  exercise price
share options AET

AREZE TEE REHE 1718

HK$ HKS

BT BT

Outstanding at 1 January N—PB— B 4,134,000 3.765 10,491,500 3.667
Exercise during the year NERTTE (1,252,500) 4.381 (6,307,500) 3.593
Lapsed during the year RERKK N/A (50,000) 4.800
Outstanding at 31 December Nt+-A=+—B#% 2,881,500 3.498 4,134,000 3.765
Exercisable at 31 December Rt+=A=+—H7{7F 2,881,500 3.498 4,134,000 3.765

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
share options exercised during the year was HK$15.005 (2008:
HK$16.079).

The options outstanding at 31 December 2009 had exercise
prices ranging from HK$2.850 to HK$4.800 (2008: HK$2.850 to
HK$4.800) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of
0.681 years (2008: 1.801 years).

RERITE Z RBIEE Z IR IRE A
¥ 1500570 ( —FZ)\4F : B8160797T) °

RZZTZANEFE+_A=+—BHEHBZRE
¥ 2 1T {E (B B 12,850 T 27 ¥ 4.800 7T
F(ZZZNF : B 28507T 2B % 4.800
TC) REMEFEHFHRE L F 06815
—EZT)\F : 18014F) °



Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS R R MRt

31.

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(iii)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services
received is measured based on a binominal option pricing
model. The contractual life of the share options and expectations
of early exercise are incorporated into the model. The expected
volatility is based on the historical volatility. Expected dividends
are based on historical dividends as well as expectation on future
period performance. Changes in subjective input assumptions
could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. The
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services rendered. There were no
market conditions associated with the share option grants. The
Company has not granted any share options in 2008 and 2009.

32. MATURITY PROFILE
As at 31 December 2009

3. BRIEEERZF(#)

(iii)

RAREZ A FERRERR
BEGRAE MBS RGH A HERE
BT RN FEE - BERE
mfhEt AP ERS CRSEEERRA)
AtH - BB SN FHNER 252
RITRABAZER - BEIKER
BELRESE - FRRETDREE
SLRE MIEHIARK Z RARRET -
THBABRKNEDAEEATERN
FEMER

RARERIR TR S IRFIRME - & iF
IR MAGERE T BETREGH
DFE - MISRIFER TR &
BE - R_ZTTNER_FTNF
TZA=1t—HBLLFE  ARAFLE
R -

32. HARR AT

R-BEAF+T=-A=1+—H

1year or 5 years or
3months lessbutover lessbutover
Repayable orless 3 months 1year After
on demand 3f@A 3fALE 1550 E 5years Total
BB FUT £33 B56 SENE @5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRTT BEBTT BRI BRI BRI BT
Assets BE
— Advances to customers —RPEX 969,494 - - 771,596 - 1,741,090
- Debt securities: —ERES -
- Trading securities -R5EH - - - 16,545 - 16,545
~ Available-for-sale securities —BHREEES - - - 165,097 - 165,097
- Financial assets designated atfair ~ —15E ABBIEENR
value through profit or loss BATEENSREE - - - 68,936 - 68,936
- Fixed deposits —EHER - 1,063,195 - - - 1,063,195
969,494 1,063,195 - 1,022,174 - 3,054,863
Liabilities &
- Bank loans —RITEH - - - (397,145) = (397,145)
~ Notes payable ~EREE - - - (114,115) - (114,115)
- - - (511,260) - (511,260)

Annual Report 2009 E —ETAFR
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32. MATURITY PROFILE (continued)

33.

As at 31 December 2008

32.

HARR 54T (1)

RZZBEZENF+=-_A=1+—H

1 year or 5 years or
3months  lessbutover  less but over
Repayable orless 3 months 1year After
on demand 3R 3MEAME 1E 5 years Total
S Ee o FUT EIF 5 SEELAF ft
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
BT BT BETT BETT BT BT
Assets BE
— Advances to customers —BBER 404373 - 29675 226,880 - 660,928
- Debt securities —fEEE - - - - 33700 33700
~ Fixed deposits —EH; - 3,266,128 = = - 366,128
404,373 3,266,128 29,675 226,880 33,700 3,960,756
Liabilities b=l
- Notes payable N ES - - - (75959) - (75959)
SEGREGATED ACCOUNTS NOT REFLECTED ON 33. "R REEBBER 255
BALANCE SHEET R
2009 2008
—EBENEF =T N\F
HK$’000 HKS'000
BT T ST
Bank balances — segregated accounts RITHEBR— SRR 819,338 716,164
Receivable from clearing house and FEM4EE P I B P kIR
futures brokers 39,154 253,113
Amounts held on behalf of clients REFEIE (858,492) (969,277)
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34,

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

()

34, BEEATLRS

The following transactions were entered into with related parties @ AEERFREFHEEATIRZNA

during the year: T
2009 2008
“EEAF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Management fee received from: WH ERE :
— a subsidiary of jointly controlled HENEHIEEFEZ

company —%WJE/A 1,197 -

Rental expense paid to a wholly-owned MNAEEFE 22 EMB AR

subsidiary of CE Holdings (i) =) 5,400 4926
Remuneration for key management =EEEAEME
personnel (including the Company’s (BREKRARES)
directors) which is included in “staff cost”: EREE [EITEA]
— short-term employee benefits — 52 HR{E B Fizs 19,569 19,303
~ retirement scheme contributions — RIRET SR 87 87
— Share-based payments — AR EAS - 288
()  On 29 December 2008, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the i) RZEENF+Z_A=+N
CE Holdings renewed a tenancy agreement with the Group H  BRERAGZZENE
in relation to the leasing of office premises to the Group for AR EAEEEH T —EH
the period from 31 December 2008 to 30 December 2010. B AEERE F’JE%HFH —I8
The rental expense amounted to HK$5,400,000 for the year. WAYE  HHBZTN\EF
+-_A=+—HE-_Z—ZF

+=—A=+8H " $¢F£Z%ﬂ$
> A5 400,0007T ©

ZEENFR

w
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 34.
(b) Except as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,
included in the balance sheets are the following balances with
related parties:

BEBALTRS @
b)) BTREMEBERE AEAEEX
HMBRBEATERKBIE

Group Company
55 AT
2008 2009 2008
—TEN\F ZBBAE _"ETNF
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BETR BT

2009
—2ENF
HK$’000
BT T
Amount due from an associate JEMS & A BRI
(included in debtors, deposits ( a?ﬁﬁ@%ﬂ&ﬁ%%ﬂ >
and prepayment) (i) e RBERNFA) () 46,994

102,393 - =

(i) Amount due from an associate arises in the ordinary course
of securities brokerage business, and is unsecured, interest
bearing and repayable upon demand.

() REYBERABRFREDELSR
Eﬁ%%@%ﬂ%ﬁﬁZEﬁﬁ%?&
CRAREER - 5HE A

E’\Kiﬁﬂ%
35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35. ABE
(a) Corporate guarantee (@) QFER
2009 2008
—EENE ZETN\F
HK$’000 HKS'000
BT T BT T
Guarantee given to financial institutions BB ARRRITEE
in respect of banking facilities M) & BB IR L IEIR
granted to subsidiaries 567,145 170,000

The Group's subsidiaries have utilised HK$397,145,000 out of
these banking facilities as at 31 December 2009 (31 December
2008: HKSnil). As at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008,
the Company also issued corporate guarantees to certain
financial institutions for trading facilities granted to a subsidiary
which engages in leveraged foreign exchange trading and
other subsidiaries which carry out derivatives transactions.
The guarantee amounts vary depending on the volume of
transactions effected with the financial institutions.

RZZBEZNF+TZA=1+—8  &&H
ZHBARGA LRTEEDRE 2 &
KA 7S B 3971 %omnrh_?iﬂ\iﬁt:
A=+—8: ﬁ) RZZBEZTNF+H
=t+—BERZEENF+ZA=+—8"
PNV F'ﬁ,,\ﬁﬁl\t AN
AREMBETETABE 2B A TN
RSEE M HEEREER - ZERE
EeREReRERELE R FBEMEE -
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35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

Incentive payment

According to an Incentive Agreement dated and announced
on 25 May 2007, the Group is obligated to pay an incentive
project bonus to an investment team (of which all the individual
members are employees of the Group) upon the realisation
of each project, whether in whole or in part, under SeaBright
China Special Opportunities (I) Limited (of which the Group has
a 78.9% equity interest). The amount of the incentive project
bonus payable under the agreement is equal to 15% of the profit
realised from the disposal of those investments plus the related
amount of advisor fee income received less certain attributable
project expenses and the investment team's operating expenses.
The incentive project bonus is recognised on the realisation of
the relevant project. As at 31 December 2009, the accumulated
unrealised gain associated with the relevant projects amounted
to HKS1,772 million (31 December 2008: HK$902 million). If all
relevant projects were disposed of on 31 December 2009 at their
fair value, the amount of incentive project bonus payable to the
investment team would be approximately HK$202 million (31
December 2008: HKS 109 million).

36. COMMITMENTS

(a)

Capital commitment
As at 31 December 2009, the Group has capital commitments as
follows:

35. SABE®E)

(b)

HERIE
BER-_ZEZTLFRA-_+HBE]
B WHRERBAMZ BB
7K & E & #7SeaBright China Special
Opportunities (1) Limited(ANEB#45
78.9% SOF Z fh# ) IR B 2 2 #B sk &P
PEIRF B E W AGE S NIE B BE
ReETREBK(FAEKBEHER
AEEET)  MBEESEESR
ZIBEBERFRSWE=15% - NE
FEEMBWA - WIBRIERETEE 2 &
HEREREBRREBKEEER -
BEHABReEEEBEELERS®
WHER - RZEENFTA=1—
H:H@EEE 2 AERATEEE
REB172BT(ZTENEF B
902187T) - PABMHEABEENR T
TNFE+ZA=+—HUAFEHD
B BHEINREEEERK 2IHER A
B REE LEBIL(ZEEN
F : B¥I109ETT) °

36, AHE

(a)

BEAEE
RZZBZNFE+=-—A=+—H ' &%
BREREENT :

2009 2008

—EETAE —EENF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Contracted but not provided for BB LBRFR 578,997 815
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36. COMMITMENTS (continued)

36. EIE@)
(b) Operating lease commitments (b)
Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2009
amounted to approximately HK$9,183,000 (2008: HKS$18,367,000)
of which HKS$8,006,000 (2008: HK$9,312,000) is payable in the
next twelve months. The Group had future aggregate minimum

lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as

follows:

REHERE
RZTZAF+—_A=+—"H8 &
& B AE B EE 4 = 4 % 9,183,000
T (ZZFZTNF : 897%5%18367,000
Jo) + E AR %97 #8006,0007T (= F
T)\FE : #4)78%9,312,0007T) B AR K
ToEAREZ N ZEESEE - A%
BRI A 2 ST E - KRR
Xtz SERENFBTENAT

2009 2008
—BERhEF —ETNEF

Properties Others Properties Others

FE Hith BE Hth

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T BT T BT

Not later than one year —FERNF|H 8,006 - 9279 33
Later than one year and —FAEERSF

not later than five years 1,177 - 9,048 7

9,183 - 18,327 40

(c) Future operating lease arrangement () ARRLEHERH

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had future aggregate

minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases

for investment properties as follows:

R-ZETZNE+—_A=+—H ' &%
ERBETAI NI EELCER
4 - PAARRATIER 2 &R TR E /IR B
AR

2009 2008

—BEBAEF —EENEFE

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Not later than one year —ERE|HR 1,186 1,046
Later than one year and —FUEEREF

not later than five years 455 1172

1,641 2,218
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36. COMMITMENTS (continued) 36.
(d) Off-balance sheet financial instruments
The fair values and the contractual or notional amounts of the
Group's trading equity derivatives outstanding at 31 December
2009 are detailed as follows:

AYE(E)

(d) EESBERIEHTIA
N=TTh&E+=A=+—0 K&
EATAZITETAAN Y ATER
ANKEHSENT -

Contractual/

Fair value liabilities notional amounts
AFEEE B/ E5LHE

2009 2008 2009 2008

ZBEENE —ETN\F ZBBEAF _—TINF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT AT BETT BETT

Equity options MR = HARE (29,027) (229,533) 80,046 674,675

Hang Seng Index futures BEEEHNE - (1,573) - 66,850
Hang Seng China Enterprises BEPBEGEEHEHE

Index futures - (207) - 15,587

(29,027) (231,313) 80,046 757,112

The financial instruments become favourable (assets) or
unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market
prices of the underlying instruments relative to their terms.

Notional amounts of these financial instruments provide a basis
for comparison with instruments recognised on the balance
sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amount of future cash
flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and,
therefore, are not a representation of the Group's exposure to the
credit or price risks.

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 37.

Risk management is of fundamental importance to the business
operation of the Group. The major types of risk inherent in the Group's
business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk and equity price risk. The Group's risk management objective is to
maximise shareholders’ value and to reduce volatility in earnings while
maintaining risk exposures with acceptable limits.

SRTAAREMEETLAZTSE
KB MEFEN(EE)KAF(E

&) e

ZETRMTAZARTBEIMEREE
REERBERERNT AL ZE
B ANMEDN—EBRIS MREER SR
BZeRIRETAZRRATE-
At - I AREAREAEE 2 EE
KERER -

TRTIA
RRERENEEEFERNERMN - XK
EEXBHEIENERREEEERR R
BESAR - FXER - SMNERBRMKE
Rk - AEBMERERE B REFMRR
EBESAMEEBLDRMNKE - RRHER
Rt I P AR ZA o

Annual Report 2009 ﬁ —ETAFR



China Everbright Limited E FEXAREBRERAR

Notes to the Financial Statements

A H5 R R B =

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group's work in the area of risk management is led by the

Risk Management Group and execution is carried out by the Risk

Management and Compliance Department. This functional structure

can assess, identify and document the Group's risk profile and to ensure

that the business units focus, control and systematically avoid potential

risks in various areas of business. On 1

January 2009, the Group set up

a new position of Chief Risk Officer to oversee risk management and

internal controls of the Group. The following is a brief description of

the Group's approach in managing these risks.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to advances to
customers, trade and other receivables, debt investments and
unlisted derivative financial instruments.

In general, for advances to customers, the Group requires
collateral from customers before advances are granted. The
amount of advance permitted depends on the quality and value
of collateral provided by the customer. Any subsequent change
in value as well as quality, of collateral is closely monitored in
order to determine whether any corrective action is required.

Trade and other receivables mainly arise from the Group's
brokerage business and investment activities. Receivables from
securities brokerage customers, brokers and counterparties
are normally due two days after trade date while deposits with
brokers/counterparties are repayable on demand. The Group has
established procedures in the selection of brokers/counterparties
with sound credit ratings and/or reputation.

Investments in debt instruments and unlisted derivative financial
instruments are also governed by whether the issuers and the
trade counterparties respectively have sound credit ratings.

37.

TR TEm®
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HERRBIEREEZA R AR SR
W EEE  FER BRI EERHAER : I
BeEfl - B RS AEE 2 RS -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has well defined policies in place on the setting and
approval of trading, credit and investment position limits in
order to manage its credit risk exposure and concentration. As
at the balance sheet date, the Group does not have a significant
concentration of credit risk other than the provision of advances
to customers which are secured by residential leasehold land in
the Mainland of RMB600 million (31 December 2008: RMB200
million).

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account
of any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset, including derivative financial instruments,
on the balance sheet date deducting any impairment allowance.
Except for the corporate guarantees set out in note 35(a), the
Group does not provide any other guarantees which would
expose the Group or the Company to credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk in respect of the corporate guarantee
at the balance sheet date amounted to HKS567million (31
December 2008: HKS 170 million).

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from advances to customers are set
out in note 21.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly assess current and expected
liquidity requirements and to ensure that it maintains reserves
of cash, readily realisable marketable securities and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

For subsidiaries with statutory liquidity requirements, the
Group monitors closely their liquidity position. To ensure strict
compliance, the Group maintains adequate cash reserves to
prepare for immediate fund injection if required. If there is a
medium-to-long term operational need, the management would
also consider adjusting those subsidiaries’ capital structure.
Subsidiaries with external equity stakeholders are generally
responsible for their own liquidity management.

37.
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(a)

(b)
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities

on the balance sheet date of the Group’s and the Company’s

non-derivative financial liabilities which are based on contractual

undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed

using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current

at the balance date) and the earliest date the Group and the

. 2R T A
(b) REBEELRM(E)

TR AKERARRNEREAE
REERBRAERSHZIHBEOF
SR DTREBAOKRERRSR
(BREAGHME - F8
HEMEBFRAENFEL)
RAEEMAR B ZRFAFELH

Bl% 4

Company can be required to pay: HESH :
The Group RNEE
2009 2008
RE ET)E
Total Morethan  More than Total Morethan ~ Morethan
contractual Within 1year 2year contractual Within 1 year 2 year
undiscounted ~ 1Tyearor butlessthan butless than undiscounted Tyearor  butlessthan  butlessthan
Carrying  cashflow  ondemand 2years 5years Camying ~ cashfow  ondemand 2years 5 years
amount  SHRER  -Fhd BB BERE ot SUARE  ERY BE-F BERE
BOE RERAE ERERN BINEE EOREE  BEE REREE DTERN EORME  EINEE
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS000
BRI EMTn ERTR ERTn EMTn Mt BEfn BT BMTn TR
Credltors, depositsreceved  ETRRE - EMiike
and accrued charges REREE 829,796 829,796 829,796 - - 25061 275061 275061 = =
Trading securities ReEA 29,057 29,057 29,057 - - 40052 40052 41052 - -
Amountduetoassocates  EREEAFZE 138 438 138 - - 43 43 43 - -
Amount due to ulimate ERRAARAT
holding company L3R 63 63 63 - - 63 63 63 - -
Bank loans £ 97,145 442387 2146 21446 399,495 - - - - -
Notes payable ERZE 1415 114115 - 405 - 75959 75959 - - 75959
1370614 1,415,856 880,800 135,561 399,495 7573 712573 69,614 = 75959
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. Rt TE @)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REBESREMR(E)
The Company RAF
2009 2008
ZEENE ZE3)\E
Total Morethan  More than Total Morethan ~ Morethan
contractual Within 1year 2year contractual Within 1 year 2 year
undiscounted ~ Tyearor butlessthan but less than undiscounted Tyearor  butlessthan bt lessthan
Carrying  cashflow  ondemand 2years 5years Camying ~ cashfow  ondemand 2years 5 years
amount  SRARR  -Fag  BB-F O BERE oo SNAER ERR BEF BERA
BEE HERAE EXRRH BINRF EOREE BEE ReREE DEXN EORME EINDE
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK9000 HKS 000 HKY000 HKY000 HKS000
AMTr  BTn B¥Tn A¥Tn ARTR BBTr BRTn B%TR RETR MR
Creditors depostsreceived — ERERT - BiRd
and accrued charges RERER 1938 1938 1,938 - - 1918 1918 1918 - -
Amountsduetosubsidiaries  EERHMBATEE 225071 2205071 2295071 - - 205900 2045901 2045901 - -
Amounts duetoassociates  E[IEEAFIZE 138 438 38 - - 438 433 433 - -
2297441 2297447 2,297,441 - - 2048257 2048257 2048257 = =
Financia quarantees issued: ~ SRIER :
Maximum amount RRERE
quaranteed (note 35(3) (Biz33() 567,145 567,145 567,145 - - 170000 170000 170000 - -
Interest rate risk (c) FIEmb

(c)

The Group monitors its interest rate exposure regularly to ensure
that the underlying risk is monitored within an acceptable range.
Most of the Group's interest-bearing assets and liabilities are on a
floating rate basis with maturity of one to three years.

The Group’s interest rate positions arise from treasury
and operating activities. Interest rate risk arises in treasury
management, customer financing and investment portfolios.
Interest rate risk primarily results from the timing differences
in the repricing of interest-bearing assets, liabilities and
commitments. It also relates to positions from non-interest
bearing liabilities including shareholders’ funds and current
accounts, as well as from certain fixed rate loans. Interest rate risk
is managed by the Treasury Department under the delegated
authority of the Board of Directors. The instruments used to
manage interest rate risk include time deposits and interest rate
linked derivatives, if necessary.

AEEHNERR RBELEFELE
A REGR B B R R AR Il AT R K
F2A e REEAMOELENBNE
EREEEIENZHNEX - mEIH
BR—FE=F-

AEENNEFRIRE AERERZ
BEEY - MEERAREFEEE
BFRMEMKEAS - MXERTE
ERHEREE  RENMAEERER
MFEME - TRESABERESR
B HhBRRRESMERKRS &
ETERER - MEXERAFEEE
BREFTEREEE - BENRER
BT ABEA RERAAN RSS2 0T
ATAMTER) -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

37. €@ T )

Interest rate risk (continued) () FIEREMR(E)
In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest- FARBFNWACREERTERREA
bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their & TREREEENFARZER
effective interest rate at the balance sheet date as well as a FZ& o BRI RE N BURE DT -
sensitivity analysis of interest rate changes. Assuming that a RN B R A = R B 0 FF 45 B A
general increase/decrease of 0.5% in interest rates had occurred & FF05%, TBR05% » A& EHIBR
at the balance date on the Group's interest rate exposure, TeBF - (RE R RE= B
the Group's profit after tax and retained earnings, as well as & 107 ¥ 14,362,000 7T A 7
equity, would have an estimated increase of HK$14,362,000/ 6,929,0007T( ZFE )\ F : FIZE L
decrease of HK$6,929,000 (2008: profit after tax and retained 0.5%,” T #0.5% * KT8 ZF RIREE
earnings increase of HK$24,007,000/decrease of HK$ 13,494,000 B R | T+ % 24,007,000 7T, 7 A 75
for increase of 0.5%/decrease of 0.5% in interest rates). Other #513,494,0007T) © 4R E ez A B M AR
components of consolidated equity would have approximately RE D & EERE EF T B
decreased by HK$996,000/increased by HK$1,050,000 in response D #5996,0007T, = FH# 51,050,000
to the increase/decrease in interest rates. 7 ©
The Group's interest-bearing assets and liabilities are substantially AEETEEEKAERESNERE
at floating interest rate basis. B
2009 2008
—EEZhE T\
Effective Effective
interest rate % HK$'000 interest rate % HK$'000
BERAE% BETT  ERAE AT

Assets BE
Advances to customers REER 8.4% 1,560,121 7.4% 618,542
Bank balances and cash RITHERRIRE 0.2% 2,047,258 0.4% 4,381,803
Debt securities EEES 10.1% 165,097 - -
Total interest-bearing assets EEFENEERT 3,773,788 5,000,345
Liabilities &
Bank loans RITER 5.4% 397,145 - -
Total interest-bearing EXFENEBERAE

liabilities

397,145 -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The above increase or decrease in interest rate represent the
management’s assessment of a reasonable change in interest
rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date. It
also assumes that all other variable remains constant. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2008.

Foreign currency risk

The Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk primarily stems
from holdings of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies, leveraged foreign exchange trading and
net investment in foreign subsidiaries and associates. As most of
the Group's monetary assets and liabilities and net investment
in foreign subsidiaries and associates are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, United States dollars or Renminbi, the management
does not consider there to be any significant currency risk. The
Group has a policy not to maintain a significant net position on
leveraged foreign exchange trading and the underlying exposure
is monitored on a continuing basis.

Overall, management monitors the Group's foreign currency
exposure closely and would consider hedging significant
currency exposure should the need arise.

37.

SR T H )
(o) FZREPBR%E)
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d) Foreign currency risk (continued)
At the balance sheet date, the Group's exposure to currency

2T A

(d) SMEmRER (%)
TERJIASEREERERACDHE

risk arising from recognised assets and liabilities denominated REERBBEZEXRR  BHEE

in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to RBEMNFHEREEEFEERNIIEE
which they relate is tabled below: BEHEAR

2009
“E2EBhE —ETNEF

In USD In RMB In USD In RMB

Y AR EJT ARE

HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T BT AT

Fixed assets IEEF - 416 = 744

Investments in associates REE QR 2IRE - 8,720,521 = 4,888,790

Available-for-sale securities EEEEZA 7,363 7,715,127 - 3,743,352

Financial assets designated B RBRERIARME

at fair value through RTEENSREE

profit or loss 40,255 142,764 - 150,391
Advances to customers REER 74,648 - 151,896 -
Amount due from associates JIE Wi Bt 81\ B ZUE - 749,770 - -
Debtors, deposits and FEURER R Hzi&iﬁﬁ%(

prepayments 193,136 1,248 218,875
Trading securities (current assets) R H#EH (RBEE) - 16,545 = -
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIREZEY 977,068 21,168 1,285,062 205,980
Creditors, deposits received and BB - BEdES

accrued charges KERER (125,790) (230) (104,605) (210)
Trading securities R5EF(RBAR)

(current liabilities) (29,027) - (229,533) -
Provision for tax THIBYEE - (164) _ _
Note payable ENERE - (114,115) - (75,958)
Deferred tax EETA - (435,062) - (226,548)
Net exposure arising from REEHAEER

recognised assets and liabilities B EME R 1,137,653 16,817,988 1,321,695 8,686,541
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. R T HE )
(d) Foreign currency risk (continued) (d) SMERR(E)
An analysis of the estimated change in the Group’s profit after TRAMAEEREEABERAR
tax (and retained profits) and other components of consolidated SEEEAERMNEXTHIIRSIEA]
equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign e BN - ARERTIEARN (R
exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at REB BT LA R AR S s E Ath 48 BK 2B
the balance sheet date is presented in the following table. D IBFTEE
2009 2008
ZEENE ZZT)\F
Effecton Effect on

Increase/ profit after Effect on Increase/ profit after Effect on

(decrease) taxand other (decrease) taxand other

inforeign retained  components in foreign retained components

exchange earnings of equity exchange eamings of equity

rates HRHE  HERHM fates BT SHER A

ExLt#/  BARRE amse  EXth/  BARRE )

(T%) bk 7 (M) Bilmzg LB

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

BT BT BETT BT

United States Dollars, USD e 1% 11,303 74 1% 13217 -
(1%) (11,303) (74) (1%) (13.217) -

Renminbi, RMB AR 5% 19,096 821,803 5% 2683 431,644
(5%) (19,096) (821,803) (5%) (2683) (431,644)

(e)

The above analysis assumes the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the balance sheet date and had been
applied to each of the Group entities’ exposure to currency risk in
existence at that date while all other variables remain constant.
The stated changes also represent management'’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates until the
next annual balance sheet date. The Hong Kong dollar and the
United States dollar peg is assumed to stay materially unaffected
by any fluctuation of the United States dollar against other
currencies. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2008.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from
equity investments classified as trading securities (see note 23),
available-for-sale securities (see note 18) and financial assets
designated as fair value through profit or loss (see note 19).
Other than unlisted securities held for medium-to-long term
investment purposes, all of these investments are listed.

(e)

ERAMERREXEHNEERER
B#4e  YVEEARAKRESEEN
B A ERSNERER - PTA B AR
BRRGRBIE - LREJNES TS
EEEREE M EEFEERER
B B & 32 Al BE A P R FROFT o
R R TR TEREETY
Hitt BRI M B AR E -
DTRR-TT N\ FHREEET

IREEE

OB ARZESF(RME23) - Eif
HER(RHME18) ME A@liE
SARBRAFEENEREE(RW
HIOHBERIREME - NEBZAA
XEBEZHNER - FRFEIET R
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. @RI A
(e) Equity price risk (continued) (e) BRERMR(E)

B RERERAR

~
X

China Everbright Limited

The Group's listed investments, other than interests in
Everbright Securities (note 16) which is listed in the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, are mainly listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Decisions to
buy or sell trading securities rest with assigned investment
team professionals and each investment portfolio is governed
by specific investment and risk management guideline.
Independent daily monitoring of each portfolio against the
corresponding guideline is carried out by the Risk Management
and Compliance Department. Listed investments held in the
available-for-sale securities and financial assets designated as fair
value through profit or loss portfolio have been chosen based on
their medium-to-long term growth potential and are monitored
regularly for performance against expectations.

The performance of the Group’s unquoted investments is
assessed, based on the limited information available to the
Group, periodically against performance of listed entities of
comparable size and nature of businesses.

The following table shows the approximate changes in the
Group's profit after tax (and retained earnings) in response to
reasonable change in the value of the relevant listed and unlisted
equity. The analysis is performed on the same basis as in 2008:

BR B8RS T2 XRIEHFRE
SMEEEETE)  AREZ EHIRETE
EBEB AR I MARYESFR S
£ - BEERBEHFHIREHIETEN
EXREEBEL - SEKEARY
EEENRENEREEESIEE -
R EE M ERAEH Y& EREH
BEANAMEEMNIESIETEYE
R eREHEESMERBBRE
SUARBRAFEENSREEREH
BRAZLETRE - HIRBEEHRIE
RENE - WERERHAKIFMA
HIZ BT -

AEEFEBEBLUMRRLITERN LT
NAZRBIELE - WIRIBAEE AT
BHARER  EHBHEF ETRE
MRIBETTAE -

TRINAREENTR L BN (RRE
&) FAAR LT RIELMERRER
EHMHRNTE - HMER_FTF
J\EAER LT

2009 2008
ZERNF =S
Effect on Effecton
profit after Effect on profit after Effect on
Increase/ taxand other Increase/ taxand other
(decrease) retained  components (decrease) retained components
in equity earnings of equity inequity earnings of equity
value HRb% HERH value HRTE HEREM
EELR/  BRRRE ) BELH/  BFRRE el
(FH) Brlns e LEE (T%)  RIMFE a7
10% 51,380 157,282 10% (5,965) 77,186
Listed equity investments IRERE (10%) (51,380) (157,282) (10%) 1,065 (77,286)
5% 7,205 328,976 5% 7520 150,239
Unlisted equity investments FETRERE (5%) (7,205) (328,976) (5%) (18946) (138813)
Derivative instruments HTETE 10% 7973 - 10% 37,050 -
(10%) (8,047) - (10%) (37,050) -
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38. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

Estimation of fair values

Fair value estimates are generally subjective in nature, and are
made as of a specific point in time based on the characteristics of
the financial instruments and relevant market information. Where
available, the most suitable measure for fair value is the quoted
market price. In the absence of an organised secondary market,
for most financial instruments, and in particular for unlisted
equity and debt instruments and derivatives where direct market
prices are not available, the fair value of such instruments are
calculated on the basis of well-established valuation techniques
using current market parameters. In particular, the fair value is a
theoretical value applicable at a given reporting date, and hence
can only be used as an indicator of value realisable in a future
sale.

The Group compares valuations derived from models with
quoted prices of similar financial instruments, and public
information available in order to further validate and calibrate
the models. These techniques involve uncertainties and are
significantly affected by the assumptions used and judgments
made regarding risk characteristics of various financial
instruments, discount rates, estimates of future cash flows,
future expected loss experiences and other factors. Changes
in assumptions could significantly affect these estimates and
the resulting fair values. Derived fair value estimates cannot
necessarily be substantiated by comparison to independent
markets and, in many cases, could not be realised in an
immediate sale of the instruments. The following methods and
significant assumptions have been applied in determining the
fair values of financial instruments:

() The fair value of unquoted equity investments is estimated
using an appropriate combination of (1) discount cash flow
method to devolve the future value of the business into
a present market value, (2) deducing from prices recently
paid for similar assets and the financial indicators of the
transacted assets such as net book value and net operating
profit, and (3) applying, if possible, price/earnings ratios
and EV/EBITDA ratios for similar listed companies adjusted
to reflect the specific circumstances of the investments.
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38. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Estimation of fair values (continued)

(i)

the fair value of derivatives is estimated either using broker
quotes or by discounting future cash flows. Future cash
flows are estimated based on management’s best estimate
of the amount it would receive or pay to terminate the
contract at the balance sheet date taking into account
current market conditions. The discount rate used is a
market rate for a similar instrument at the balance sheet
date. The fair value of an option contract is determined by
applying the Black-Scholes option valuation model. Inputs
are based on market related data at the balance sheet date.

(b) Fair value
All financial instruments are stated at fair value or carried at

amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2009 and 2008.

Fair values of financial instruments are categorised into three

levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: fair values measured using quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial
instruments;

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in active
markets for similar financial instruments, or using valuation
techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable market data; and

Level 3: fair values measured using valuation techniques
in which any significant input is not based on observable
market data.
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38. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  38. &R TEH R FEE®)

(b) Fair value (continued) (b) DFEE®E)
The Group The Company
r5E NG
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 3 Total
g £ E=4 CH EE fit
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS1000 HKS'000 HKS1000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BB BETT
ASSETS E
Available-for-sale securities EHEE 5 331136 - 8607481 8938617 5,450,600 5450600
Financial assets designated KT BRBER
atfair value through NRBATEE
profit or loss MeREE 9,662 - 251,868 344530 - - e
Trading securities RHEH 487415 - - 487415 - - %
[
iy
911213 - 8859349 9,770,562 5,450,600 5450600 1]
147
LIABILITIES B 2
Trading securiies R5ES (30) (29027) - (29057) - - 8
Notes payable EREE - - (114115) (114115) - - g
&=
©
(30) (29027) (114115) (143172) - - §
<C
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38. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  38. &Rt TERI R FEE#)

ol EL S RIRRARRA

China Everbright Limited

(b) Fair value (continued) (b) DFEE®E
The movement during the year in the balance of Level 3 financial FANESR T ERANFENEEN
instruments is as follows: T 3

Group Company
F5E A7

Financial

assets

designated

at fair value

through
Available- profit or loss Available-
forsale EEABEBER Notes for-sale
securities  J\RBAFEE payable securities
REEERS HergE EARE RHEERS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETRT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2009 RZZZNF-A-AR 3,994,640 150391 (75,959) 2687314
Purchases BA 731,071 177,268 = -
Net unrealised gains or losses recognised REERETERNAER 3,889,981 - - 2,763,286

in other comprehensive income FRFHER
Net unrealised gains o loss recognised RESRTERNAER (7,530) (75,791) (38,156) -
in profit or loss FEFNER

Sales e (681) - _ _
At 31 December 2009 RZEFNETZA=1-H 8607481 251868 (114115) 5450600
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39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 39. #raHemEMaE

STATEMENT
(@  Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash (outflow)/inflow @ BEATAFELEER 2R RE)
from operating activities: SRANFRERR
2009 2008
—EERE ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETT
Profit before taxation R AT E A 4,842,628 1,183,564
Interest income on bank deposits RITIE A2 WA (8,452) (48,305)
Interest income on unlisted debt securities IE ETEEESFSWA (16,713) -
Interest expenses B3 H 17,200 6,921
Dividend income A% U (204,336) (38,146)
Share of profits less losses of jointly FEAG HERIEHIE B A A RSB
controlled entities 915 -
Gain on deemed disposal of interest FEEHEBE NIRRT
in associates (3,175,642) -
Share of profits less losses of associates FE(EE = A 77;’ FEEE (1,349,289) (480,185)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses FTEREHE 12,222 10,376
Staff share option amortisation RRR R - 1,160
Realised loss on financial assets designated EEABBERARBAFEE
at fair value through profit or loss MERMEECEREE - 4,830
Unrealised loss on financial assets designated EEABBERURBEATER
at fair value through profit or loss MEmEESHEENRERER 29,254 252,515
Unrealised loss/(gain) on notes payable ENERAABRERER (W) 38,156 (16,827)
Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERBHEERF O F e
securities (45,486) (1,590,357)
Net surplus on revaluation of REYFELFEE
investment properties (9,380) (6,001)
Reversal of impairment on interests in THE It B B
leasehold land (83,388)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of fixed assets HEBRTEEZER (W) 149 (2,220)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries S B A Es - (25)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale BHEER S ZRERK
securities 21,186 260,091
Impairment on goodwill EHERE 4,941 -
Cash inflow/(outflow) before working LEESBHRRETA CRl)
capital changes 73,965 (462,559)
(Increase)/decrease in advances EREH0Em), WP
to customers (1,080,162) 939,530
(Increase)/decrease in debtors, deposits FEUTERSR » e RIEM K
and prepayments (gm) R (226,142) 917,061
Increase in amount due from jointly e R I E B8 SRIB 5 1N
controlled entities (1,197) =
(Increase)/decrease in trading securities RSFEFEM), RS (782,626) 839,809
Increase/(decrease) in creditors, deposits JESTBRER - EH&ZH?%&
received and accrued charges TBIEB A jJu / CRiA) 293,099 (544,833)
Increase in amount due to ultimate JE 1 R 42 FRIFIE N
holding company - 63
Hong Kong profits tax paid BERNBEANEH (14,240) (97,066)
Overseas profits tax paid BRSNS (30,967) (43,439)
Interest paid BFLE (16,545) (6921)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from RN EE 7
operating activities (GRA),/ AR (1,784,815) 1,541,645

—BENEH
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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40. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages and conducts the majority of its business activities
by business units. On the first-time adoption of “HKFRS 8, Operating
Segments” and in a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has identified the following reportable
segments:

Brokerage — brokerage services in securities, futures, bullion and
leveraged foreign exchange trading, and margin financing to
margin customers.

Investment Banking — provision of corporate advisory, placing
and underwriting services.

Asset Management — management of absolute return funds
with key focus on secondary market trading. Investment return
on the Group's own capital seeded into those funds is included
herewith.

Asset Investment — asset class specific long term investment
in projects and equities, also targeting the management of
investment funds focusing on real estate, infrastructure and
resources assets.

Direct Investment — investment in unlisted equity securities and/
or equity derivatives with an ultimate objective of capital gain on
investee’s equity listing or, in some circumstances, prior to listing.
It also includes specific project financing to external parties.

Strategic Investment — the Group's treasury management
operations, and medium and long term investments which are
carried out under senior management’s directions.

All other segments — which do not meet the threshold to be
reportable and include the Group’s investment in properties
and certain financial assets and liabilities created from corporate
investments.

The reportable segments formerly adopted by the Group are according
to services nature and investment tenor while the revised classification
is according to internal information used by the senior management.
The prior period comparative figures have been adjusted in order to
conform to the new segment categorisation.

40.
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40. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results are measured in accordance with HKFRS as profit/(loss)

DEE N (&

A E Y ’D’\%}%Eﬁ&&%ﬁgﬂlﬁrﬁﬁf

40.

before taxation less minority interests’ share of profit/(loss).

Inter-segment transactions are priced by reference to normal

ﬂ/()&ﬂé)ﬂz BRI RF(EBE)

{E5T= ©

PBWzENRHRELE - REAERER

commercial rates and/or cost recovery basis. Revenues of all other i Uy [ @] B 2 ) L FfﬁuTE H it 52U A
segments mainly include gross rental income, inter-segment service TEOEYEESBINA - ST EE R

income and investment gain/(loss) from notes payable and certain
corporate available-for-sale securities.

(a) Business segments

T AR 2 ) R B 2 IR
HIHEFFHRE RS (BE) -

(a) ¥HoHHE
For the year ended 31 December 2009 EoEENEt-f=+—0 &
i1
Reportable
Investment Asset Asset Direct  Strategic  segments Al other
Brokerage  Banking Management Investment Investment Investment total  segments Eliminations Total
L5 RERfT  HERR  ERRE  EBRE  RWAE OHINEE  RMoY  AEs At
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 .
BETT  BMTR  BETR  BMTR ANMTR BMTR AMTR BT BefR ATR W
=
REVENUE BA 4
Qperating income from extemal KB SNBZF i
customers L 25592 4701 28174 40633 84676 160,177 581953 2374 - 584,69
Othernetincome flomextemal - KESNSRF Ie
ustomers R 15,091 01 S (384)  (3631)  (10807) 29371 56430 - B0 g
Interseqment revenue RREEMA 168 1,960 - - 4539 - 6,667 /) (7,409) - g
Totaloperatingincomeand ~~ EEUEREMF §-
other netincome v 240,851 45,052 80,345 36,789 65,584 149,370 617,991 59913 (7409) 670495 E=
©
=y
RESULTS AND RERGRABRE £
RECONCILIATION OF <
SEGMENT RESULTS
Seqment resufs before RADHREERR
minority interests ViEL 85,376 21,562 52,072 4168 10,780 147,020 320,978 55,166 - 376,144
Unallocated head officeand ~ RAFHPEER
CorpOrate expenses (57,532)
Ganondeemeddisposalof ~ FEELERENT]
interestin associates byl 3,175,642
Share of proftsless lossesof — FEIEBEAT
asodiates BilaEs 1,349,289
Share of proffsless lossesof (B RIEHEE
jontycontolledentitis B FIHEIE 915)
Profit before taxation BHEIRA 4,842,628
Less: Minorty nteress i OFhRER - - 190 (3,185) 552 - (2483) 1499
Seqment results S 85376 21562 52,262 93 1332 147020 318535 56,665
Interestincome FERA 58,526 5211 16,827 15 66,409 6,796 153,784 - - 153,784
Interest expenses s 5306 - 146 - 11,728 2 17,200 - - 17,200
Depreciation and MEREHER(H)
amortisation (Note) 80 - - 366 1,353 - 1,799 2,754 - 4,553
Impairmentloss on it sERRRRRR
avalable-forsale securities - - - 13,426 7,760 - 21,186 - - 21,186
Impaiment loss on goodwill ~ ERE - - - 4,941 - - 4,941 - - 4,941
Note: Certain depreciation and amortisation expenses are included in T EMRITEREEERARREEASENAR L

unallocated head office and corporate expenses.

REERAA -
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40. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

40. DEERE)

(a) Business segments (continued) (@) ¥EBDHEGE)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 BE-ZTT)\F+-A=+—HItF
I3
Reportable
Investment Asset Asset Direct Strategic ~~ segments Allother
Brokerage Banking ~ Management  Investment  Investment  Investment fofl  seqments Eiminations Total
W%k RERM  AEER  ERRE ERRE  RMRE SUSBEE  And  AEER fit
HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK§000 HKS000
BT #Tn R8T BB BT BT BT BETn BT BBTx
(Restated) ~ (Restated) ~ (Restated)  (Restated) ~ (Restated) ~ (Restated)  (Restated) ~ (Restated) ~ (Restated)  (Restated)
(&) (=) (&) (&F)  (&R)  (BR) (&) (&) (&F) (&%)
REVENUE BA
Operating incore from RESDRF
external customers =0 201439 21616 40,600 9239 15278 53975 342147 1207 - 3433%4
Othernet incore from RESDRR
external customers e 11910 100 (264555) (16) 431207 768498 963604 397 - 97571
Inter-seqment revenue LRI 181 3650 - - 4538 - 8369 6,555 (14924) -
Totel operating income EElE R
and other netincome el 213530 25366 (23955) 923 45103 838933 1314120 4179 (14924) 1340925
RESULTS AND FERFRABRA
RECONCILIATION OF
SEGMENT RESULTS
Seqment esults before AR SRR ERE
minority interests VeSS 74801 2514 (291751) (9682) 21070 835,562 892604 (38110) - 854494
Unlocated head offceand —~ RAEHLEER
comorate expenses (151,115)
Share of profits less osses =N
of associates BflFEE 480,185
Profit before taxation BRERA 1183564
Less: Minorty nterests i OehRER - - 34985 529 (182) - 33999 136
Seqment results ik 74891 24 (256766) (438) 2978 855 931603 (36874)
Interest income G0N 71236 12 390 2 6514 47436 135270 - - 135270
Interest expenses Hes 5343 - 636 - 207 735 6921 - - 6921
Depreciation and HERERER()
amortisation (Note) 9 3 - il 895 - 1079 3057 - 4136
Impaimentloss BREETANERE
on available-for-sale securities - - 4940 - 134685 - 184127 75964 - 260091
Note: Certain depreciation and amortisation expenses are included in i BOMERBEHERAEERSRANARIR

unallocated head office and corporate expenses.

EERAA -
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40. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 40. DEER @)
(a) Business segments (continued) (@) ¥EKpHEE)
Other Information Hitp g
As at 31 December 2009 RZZEZNF+_A=+—H
Reportable
Investment Asset Asset Direct  Strategic  segments Al other
Brokerage  Banking Management Investment Investment Investment total  segments Eliminations Total
fo%k  RERG  EEER  EERE  EBRE  RERE ONIREE  EMAH  ABES ait
HK$'000 HKS$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BbTn  EMTn BN EBTn BMTn B%Tn EBTn BMTn BBfn ERTn
Segment assets HHEE 1,505,735 17672 1475479 440571 4110643 6572235 14123335 1,264,106 (5,380) 15,382,061
Ivesments nassociates  BAAFRE 8,737,541
Investments n jointy ARBHEERE
controlled entities 84,266
Unallocated head officeand ~ RAREIRAR
comporate assets (EEE 105,381
Totalasee's e 24,309,249
Seqment liablties AHaE 466,870 2,931 6,028 113717 425,215 29,057 941,478 380,494 (5380) 1,316,592
Provision fortaxation TEEE 536,999
Defere ax ilies BhEaE 542,460
Unallocated head officeand ~ KARHRFR
corporate liabltes BREE 54022
Totllabilties L 2,450,073
Adaltions to non-curtent KEEREN
seqment assets FidniaE
during the year - - - 38 105 - 143 - - 143

—BENEH
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40. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 40. DEPEF ()

(a) Business segments (continued) (@) ¥EBDHEGE)
Other Information Hip g

B RIZERBRA A

o
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China Everbright Limited

As at 31 December 2008

R_EENF+_A=+—H

Reportable
Investment Asset Asset Direct Strategic ~~ segments All other
Brokerage Banking ~ Management  Investment  Investment  Investment tofal  seqments  Eiminations Total
X% REBGM  BEER  ERRE ERRE  RWMRE SW2EEE  A4AY  ARHEE fit
HKY000 HKS000. HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000. HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000
BT #Tn R8T BB BT BT MEfn BT BT BBTx
(Restated) ~ (Restated) ~ (Restated) ~ (Restated) ~ (Restated) ~ (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)
(&) (&) (@) (&) &) &) &) @) (&) (&)
Seqment assets APEE 1201079 06 8B4 363 175130 5636 93548 371360 (3587) 10098271
Ivestmentsinassocates  BARTRE 4888791
Unallocated head officeand ~ AABEIAFR
COrporate assets PEEE 68814
Totalasee's e 15085876
Segment ibltes APak 200608 - 80% 10372 BE8 44T 658 8529 6587) 734783
Provision for taxation fEEE 533,17
Defered taablies BiREAR 250288
Unallocated head officeand ~ AABEIRFR
coporateliablies f%8f 3779
Totalliabiles L 1555988
Adaltions to non-curtent REEREN
Seqment assets FianiaE
during the year - - - 5776 2504 - 8280 - - 8280
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40. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 40. DEBER ()
(b) Geographical segments (b) HESDIE

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the group's revenue from external customers and (i)
the group’s fixed assets, intangible assets, goodwill, interests in
associates and jointly controlled entities (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the services were provided. The geographical
location of the specified non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the asset. For intangible assets, goodwill,
interests in associates and jointly controlled entities, the
geographical location are based on the location of operations.

For the year ended
31 December 2009
BECRRAETZAST-ALEE
China
Hong Kong Mainland Total
i PERE aif
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRTR  ARTR RETR

TREIEBOARBRBEINAEP
ZWAR(WAREEZ BEEE - B
BE BE BAEBEQFMERE
HHRAENERNE(EEFRBE
EDER 2 ER - BF AR
BRI MR - FEIRBE
FE PR 4t 1 4% 8 B B PR P e 3 B 8
o BVEE BEREABERT
M 2h B e A5 AR B B B8 M s i 75
FREHERE] 7 o

For the year ended
31 December 2008
BE-TE\F+-A=t-HALEE

China
Hong Kong Mainland Total
# v At
HKS'000 HK000 HK$'000

AR ARTTL AR

Segment revenue DEHA
Operating income e 468,496 116,198 584,694 316,181 7173 343,354
Other net income AtFRA 86,513 (712) 85,801 567,783 429788 997,571
555,009 115,486 670,495 883 964 45691 1,340925
As at 31 December 2009 As at 31 December 2008
R-EBAE+=A=1+-A RZZEN\FTZA=1-H
China China

Hong Kong Mainland Total Hong Kong Mainland Total
BA B &it Bk Rl CH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

BETL BB AETR

AETT BRI BRI

Specified non-current assets EBEERHEE 410,183 8,833,612 9,243,795

265310 4907213 5172523
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41.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of these accounts and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses for the years presented. Changes in assumptions may
have a significant impact on the accounts in the periods where
the assumptions are changed. The application of assumptions and
estimates means that any selection of different assumptions would
cause the Group's reporting to differ. The Group believes that the
assumptions that have been made are appropriate and that the
accounts therefore present the financial position and results fairly,
in all material respects. Management has discussed with the Audit
Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Group's
significant accounting policies and estimates and the application of
these policies and estimates.

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i) Advances to customers

Advances to customers are reviewed periodically to
assess whether impairment losses exist. The Group
makes judgement as to whether there is any objective
evidence that an advance is impaired, i.e. whether there is
a decrease in estimated future cash flows. If management
has determined, based on their judgement, that objective
evidence for impairment exists, expected future cash
flows are estimated based on historical loss experience
for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. Historical
loss experience is adjusted on the basis of the current
observable data. Management reviews the methodology
and assumptions used in estimating future cash flows
regularly to reduce any difference between loss estimates
and actual loss experience.

41.
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41.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i) Unlisted investments

The fair value of unlisted available-for-sale securities and
other non-trading securities are significantly affected by
the combination of valuation methodologies employed,
the parameters used and, if required, the underlying
sample chosen. The valuation methodologies and the
source of parameters adopted by the Group are discussed
in note 38(a)(i).

(iii) ~ Tax provision
The Group's taxation provision is based on management’s
assessment of the estimated assessable profits for the year
taking into consideration tax legislations in Hong Kong and
the relevant overseas jurisdictions.

42. BANKING FACILITIES AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS

43,

Aggregate banking facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2009
amounted to approximately HK$567 million (2008: approximately
HKS$170 million). The group has utilised approximately HK$397 million
(2008: None) of these facilities, which were unsecured at balance sheet
date.

Pursuant to an agreement entered into by a subsidiary with its prime
broker, all assets deposited are secured against liabilities due to the
prime broker. As at 31 December 2009, assets deposited with the
prime broker included HK$129,375,000 (2008: HK$69,039,000) and
HK$175,653,000 (2008: HK$58,336,000) which form part of the Group's
trading securities and accounts receivable respectively. The relevant
liabilities to the prime broker were HK$6,729,000 (2008: HK$7,051,000).

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

As a result of the application of HKAS 1 (revised) 2007, Presentation
of financial statements, and HKFRS 8, Operating segments, certain
comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to current year's
presentation and to provide comparative amounts in respect of items
disclosed for the first time in 2009. Further details of these changes are
stated in note 3.

41.

42.

43.
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China Everbright Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
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44, POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW  44.
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

45.

DECEMBER 2009

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments, new standards and interpretations
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2009 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements.

EAMERBEE _ZETNF
FoA=+- AR KL
MZAEE] ~ FTER| RZEZ A
N

e =

EU SRR M B AT 0 BB AN
Z\\@A\ﬁﬁTﬁEf aT ° %ﬂ? ﬂl%ﬁ%% ;

Eﬂfﬁﬂ—fﬂ :—f—— Eti&vﬂiﬂiixﬁl :
Bt 7R i R e A UL AR IE -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

HE AR
DB B
HKFRS 3 (Revised), Business combinations ISR BB SRS 2ERI 357 1 July 2009
EE=Gi —EENFEA—H
Amendments to HKAS 27, Consolidated and KSR BB B S 2R S 2755 - 1 July 2009
separate financial statements bRE BB SRR —ZEENF+A—H
Amendments to HKAS 39, Financial instruments: LASET BB I SR E %R ZE 3055 1 July 2009
Recognition and measurement TRT A : EREE —EThEFLH—H
~ Eligible hedged items BEHRMIER

HK(FRIC) 17, Distributions of non-cash assets 5 (RREBREED] 1 July 2009
to owners ZREZETY) REF 17K —EThFEH—H

HRSEENMTHAA
Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 “ETNFERN T B B E LR 1 July 2009 or

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments, new standards and new interpretations
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant

1 January 2010
—TRNFLA A
—E-—TF—-H—H

AEBE LA AL FER - FEEMH 2
BEAERRYELNTE - ZSMGEHE
AR EIER] - IREMM AR &
BRGNP BARARBEEATE °

impact on the Company’s results of operations and financial position.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements on page 61 to 158 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2010.

45, WIS AL AE
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Financial Summary
B 154 22

For the year ended 31 December 2009 HZE —ZTNF+_-_A=+—HILFE

RESULTS E
For the years ended
BETSEHZEE
31.12.2005 31.12.2006 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2009
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT BEFIT BT BT BETT
Turnover EER 2,002,683 2,796,909 4,584,025 4,143,448 3,825,422
Revenue (restated) Wi (&5) 253,938 390,739 730,844 343,354 584,694
Operating profit after finance cost BB 311,315 472,098 1632419 703,379 318,612
B ER
Gain on deemed disposal of interest FEE HER S AT
in an associates R BT 583 = 924,503 = 3,175,642
Share of profits less losses of associates NI N R 26,467 538,194 2,906,226 480,185 1,349,289 i
Share of profits less losses of jointly FE(G SRR E 4}51;;
controlled entities BFREE - _ _ _ (915) }IB(T
v 159
Profit before taxation IR 338,365 1,010,292 5,463,148 1,183,564 4,842,628
v (o))
Income tax 1A (33,865) (88,338) (197,724) (208,967) (84,043) S
o~
S
Profit after taxation BB EHN 304,500 921,954 5,265424 974,597 4,758,585 §
E
Attributable to: BER g
Equity shareholders of the Company Z/NET] S 295,746 878,976 5,005,592 1,014,832 4,757,641 <
Minority interests DER RS 8,754 42978 259,832 (40,235) 944
304,500 921,954 5,265424 974,597 4,758,585
Eaming per share (HK$) TIREF (Bx) 0.19 0.56 3.17 0.64 2,99
> = (==
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEKAE
As at
RT3 H
31.12.2005 31.12.2006 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2009
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BT BT BETT
Total assets BEE 5,940,441 8,367,377 20,286,199 15,055,876 24,309,249
Total liabilities FE=Y (1,048,503) (1,737,210) (2,788,615) (1,555,988) (2,450,073)
Minority interest DE R ERS (64,857) (254,847) (1,138,612) (300,795) (873,999)
Shareholders’ fund R 4,827,081 6,375,320 16,358,972 13199093 20,985,177




China Everbright Limited E FEXAEBRERAR

Particulars of Major Properties

TEYFEEM

As at 31 December 2009 A-—ZZTNF+-F=+—H

Location Site area/ Gross floor area Tenure Use
ik T BREEE FH 23
Hong Kong
BE
46th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, Gross floor area of 10,800 sq. ft. Government lease for Commercial
16 Harcourt Road 75 years from 23rd July 1980,
extended for another 75 years
E 238165 MBEEEE10800F AR BB TIF - # [GES
BRERP 4612 —NWN\EFLAZ+=RE "
AR thE
40th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, Gross floor area of 10,800 sq. ft. Government lease for Commercial
16 Harcourt Road 75 years from 23rd July 1980,
extended for another 75 years
BERBI65% B EEIEI0800F R BREH+TIE - i [GES
BREEP U012 —hWN\EFELAZ+=R "
ARt tRE
Flat A, 27/F, 1 Star Street, Wanchai Gross floor area of 655 sq. ft. Government lease for Residential
75 years from 22nd August 1928
extended for another 75 years
EFIER —5R27A R SEER655 T AR BAEA++ThE /A FE
—AZN\FNRAZTZHE
ARt TRE
Flat H, 6th Floor, Gross floor area of 1,096 sq. ft. Government lease from Residential
Tower 10, South Horizons, 28th January 1988 to
Ap Lei Chau 31st March 2040
BERRM HRREREE1,096F R B4 T=
Bats —hW\N\E—-AZ+/N\BZE
ETE6EHE “EMTE=A=1—H
Flat G, 40th Floor and the Roof Terrace, Gross floor area of 2,195 sq. ft. Government lease from Residentia
Tower 17, South Horizons, 28th January 1988 to
Ap Lei Chau 31st March 2040
BE AR BEEmE2195F AR BRHEAH T

Bl
£ LEORCEERE

AN E—A=+N\B=ZE
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Particulars of Major Properties

TEYFEEM

As at 31 December 2009 A-—ZZNF+-H=+—H

Location Site area/ Gross floor area Tenure Use
ik T BREEE FH Rz
Flat H, 22nd Floor, Gross floor area of 1,107 sq. ft. Government lease from Residential
Tower 21, South Horizons, 28th January 1988 to

Ap Lei Chau 31st March 2040

BERRM HRREEEAE1 107 F AR A 40 =%
Bats —hWNFE-AZ+\RBZE
FTERBHE —TMNEF=A=+—H

Car Parking Space Nos. 230 and Not applicable Government lease from Carpark
241 on Podium Level 1, Phase Il, 28th January 1988 to

Car Parking Space No. 9 on 31st March 2040

Podium Level 2, Phase Ill,

South Horizons,

Ap Lei Chau

BRI e S TER BTEAH FEf
FTEEE eaAWAVAN: Sy s Bty VAN Y

FE230 K241 R ENT —EMEF=A=1—H
REIRTERIEF R EEM

China Mainland

) K RE

8th Floor, Industrial Bank Building Gross floor area of 1,240.95 sg.m. Land use right for 50 years from Commercial
4013 Shennan Road Futian District, 27th December 2000

Shenzhen

A H R BB EEETE1,240.95F 5K TiERERTE [GES
REIRBA0135R M-ETEET_A-t+LRE
BIRITRESE

Unit 1300, Floor 13, Gross floor area of 1,474.42 sq.m. Land use right for 50 years from Commercial
EverBright World Center, 7th March 2004

28 Ping'anli West Street

Xicheng District, Beijing

It RER R IREEREIE 47402 7K THERERTF (G
T B AE285 M-_ZTTMNF=AtHE

KRB L13E 1300
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China Everbright Limited

Corporate Information
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Board of Directors

Tang Shuangning Chairman

Zang Qiutao Deputy Chairman
Chen Shuang Chief Executive Officer
Tang Chi Chun, Richard Chief Financial Officer

Wang Weimin#

Ng Ming Wah, Charles*
Seto Gin Chung, John*
Lin Zhijun*

# Non-executive Director
* Independent Non-executive Directors

Company Secretary
Chan Ming Kin

Registered Office
Room 4001, 40th Floor
Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

China Everbright Bank Company Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The Bank of East Asia, Limited

Bank of Communications Company, Limited

Legal Advisors
Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Walker
Grandall Legal Group (Shanghai) Office

Share Registrars
Tricor Secretaries Limited
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre
28 Queen'’s Road East
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Hong Kong

Auditors
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Website Address
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